Town of Reading
Meeting Posting with Agenda

”Byydérd - Committee - Commission - Council:

Select Board

Date: 2022-02-01 Time: 7:00 PM
Building: Location:
Address: Agenda:
Purpose: General Business

Meeting Called By: Jacquelyn LaVerde on behalf of Chair Karen Herrick

Notices and agendas are to be posted 48 hours in advance of the meetings excluding
Saturdays, Sundays and Legal Holidays. Please keep in mind the Town Clerk’s hours of
operation and make necessary arrangements to be sure your posting is made in an
adequate amount of time. A listing of topics that the chair reasonably anticipates will be
discussed at the meeting must be on the agenda.

All Meeting Postings must be submitted in typed format; handwritten notices will not be accepted.

Topics of Discussion:

This Meeting will be held remotely on Zoom. It will also
be streamed live on RCTV as usual.

Join Zoom Meeting
https://usObweb.zoom.us/j/88230552308

Meeting ID: 882 3055 2308

One tap mobile
+16465189805,,88230552308# US (New York)
+16465588656,,88230552308# US (New York)

Dial by your location
+1 646 518 9805 US (New York)
+1 646 558 8656 US (New York)
Meeting ID: 882 3055 2308
Find your local number: hitps://us06web.zoom.us/ulkbDxxrgEzo

7:00 | Overview of Meeting

7:05 SB Liaison & Town Manager Reports

7:15 Public Comment

Consent Agenda:
7:30 Vote to Appoint Town Accountant to a term July 2022
to June 2023

10

7:35 Town Accountant Quarterly Update

This Agenda has been prepared in advance and represents a listing of topics that the chair reasonably anticipates will be discussed
at the meeting. However the agenda does not necessarily include all matters which may be taken up at this meeting. 1

Page | 1




Town of Reading
Meeting Posting with Agenda

Review and Vote to Amend Select Board Policy

8:15 Section 1.3.3 Process for Evaluating the Town 53
) Manager and Section 6.2 Evaluation of the Town
Manager
Discuss /vote creation of Ad Hoc ARPA Advisory
8:30 . .
Committee and committee charge.
8:45 Discuss/vote to appoint ex-officio and staff members to | 59

the Ad Hoc ARPA Advisory Committee.

Discuss/vote to allocate approximately $80k of the
9:00 | local and county ARPA Grant funds to the purchase of
covid test Kkits.

Discuss recent land purchases and any other town-
9:10 | owned large buildable parcels (Oakland Road, 60
Symonds Way, other)

9:20 | Update on Lot #5 access to Town Forest

9:30 | Discuss/Vote on Overnight Parking Ban 98

9:50 Discuss Future Agendas

Approve Meeting Minutes 99

This Agenda has been prepared in advance and represents a listing of topics that the chair reasonably anticipates will be discussed
at the meeting. However the agenda does not necessarily include all matters which may be taken up at this meeting. 2

Page | 2




Office of the Town Manager 781-942-9043

16 Lowell Street townmanager@ci.reading.ma.us
Reading, MA 01867 www.readingma.gov/town-manager
To: Select Board

From: Robert W. LelLacheur, Jr. CFA
Date: January 26, 2022
RE: Agenda for February 1%, 2022 meeting

The meeting will begin at 7pm and be remote-only via Zoom. The Chair will give a meeting overview, to
be followed by Liaison and Town Manager Reports, and Public Comment.

Town Accountant Sharon Angstrom will be in to give her quarterly update to the Board. Please see your
packet for a lot of related information she has provided you in advance. The Board is also asked to vote

to reappoint Sharon to a term July 1, 2022 through June 30, 2023.

The Board will then discuss changes to Select Board policy Sections 1.3.3 and 6.2. Please see your packet
for more details.

The Board will then take up a discussion about ARPA, and material from Chair Herrick is in the meeting
packet. The Board will be asked to vote to use $80,000 of ARPA funding as discussed at your last meeting,

and as will be discussed by Sharon earlier in the meeting.

Board member Dockser will provide an update to the Board about access through Lot #5 from Meadow
Brook to the Town Forest.

Please see your packet for background material from a past subcommittee from the Board on Town-
owned land for the next agenda item.

The Board will conclude with a discussion of future agendas and approve meeting minutes.

The Board’s next meetings are February 15" and March 1%



9SEQ|9Y SSaUd {IDUNO) |_an3in)

JaJawp ueg

20T/97/1

epuewy pjol | :pmd fI9ANL e | ZZ0T/vT/T

JaquisW e WoJj uoisanD 9y fI9ANL e | ZZ0T/vT/T

Jaquiaw e woJ} COEm@J,O oY >®_mI epuewy NNON\MN\H

JaquisW e WoJj uoisanD 9y fI9ANL HBM|ZZ0T/€T/T

Ydd 2y [VINYO4]:9Y fI9ANL HBM|ZZ0T/€T/T

Ydd 2y [VINYO4]:9Y Aj12y euesr|zz0z/€T/1

S|eluaiew ued >®_mI 10} HHd:od >®_mI epuewy NNON\NN\H

S|ela1ew jues AsjeH Joj Hid fI9ANL HeM|Zz0T/Te/T

JaquisW e WoJj uoisanD 9y fI3ANL HeM|ZZ0T/TT/T

¢AojeH Buli4 oy fI3ANL HeM|ZZ0T/TT/T

¢hojeH Bunily fI3ANL HeM|ZZ0T/TT/T

pajij 1snf aney | Yyud MaN {I3ANL 1B | Z20T/0T/T

T800-ZZHdS dnmojjod {I3ANL 1B | Z20T/0T/T

8T Uer Joj ¥yd [I9ANL 38| 220Z/6T/T

Aepoi 81w gs 40} Aduadisw3 [12ANL eM | 2202/81/T

/%QN3ISTY,/:2H [I9ANL 38| T20Z/ET/T
mojaq Sunaaw 1T Aseniqad Joj aiepdn pieog

pasop sjuswiwio) dn mojjod aeqg {painbay odsay gs 3idol 19puU3S| POAIIIY 93EQ

asuodsay asuodsay §jeis




2022 DRAFI - SELECT BOARD AGENDAS 2022
Staff Estimated
1/27/2022 Responsibility | start time
W s M L e

Overview of Meeting Herrick 7:00
SB Liaison & Town Manager Reports Board 7:05
Public Comment Board 7:15
Vote to Appoint Town Accountant to a term

Consent Agenda |July 2022 to June 2023 Board 7:30
Town Accountant Quarterly Update Angstrom 7:35
Review and Vote to Amend Select Board Policy
Section 1.3.3 Process for Evaluating the Town
Manager and Section 6.2 Evaluation of the
Town Manager Board 8:15
Discuss /vote creation of Ad Hoc ARPA
Advisory Committee and committee charge. Board 8:30
Discuss/vote to appoint ex-officio and staff
members to the Ad Hoc ARPA Adyvisory
Committee. Board 8:45
Discuss/vote to allocate approximately $80k of
the local and county ARPA Grant funds to the
purchase of covid test Kkits. Board 9:00
Discuss recent land purchases and any other
town-owned large buildable parcels (Oakland
Road, Symonds Way, other) Board 9:10
Update on Lot #5 access to Town Forest Dockser 9:20
Discuss/Vote on Overnight Parking Ban Board 9:30
Discuss Future Agendas Board 9:50
Approve Meeting Minutes Board

February 15, 2022

Overview of Meeting Herrick 7:00
SB Liaison & Town Manager Reports Board 7:05
Public Comment Board 7:15
Public Hearing ?? |Amend Downtown Parking PTTTF
Discuss Winterfest Community Celebration - here
or March Ist Lisa Egan
Meadow Brook - Relocate All Alcohol Liquor
Public Hearing |License LeLacheur 8:00
Discuss Draft Changes to SB Policies: Article 6
Personnel Related Policies Donahue
Preview Warrant for Annual Town Meeting LeLacheur
Preview Water/Sewer Storm Water Rates LeLacheur
LeLacheur &
Town Manager Goals update Maltez
Discuss Town Manager Transition Board
Board's expressions of gratitude to Bob
LeLacheur Board
Discuss Future Agendas Board
Approve Meeting Minutes Board




2022 DRAFI - SELECT BOARD AGENDAS 2022
Staff Estimated

1/27/2022 Responsibility | start time

Vote to Approve Collective Bargaining
Agreements (Public Employees
Committee/Health Insurance; International
Association of Firefighters AFL-CIO, Local
1640; Public Works - AFSCME Council 93,
Local 1703; Reading Patrol Officers Association
- Mass Cop, Local 191A, AFL-CIO; Reading
Police Supervisory Officers Association - IBPO;
Reading Public Safety Dispatchers - Mass Cop,
Local 191A, AFL-CIO; Reading Facilities
Maintenance Workers and Town Custodians -
AFSCME Council 93, Local 1703; Public Works
Supervisory Union, AFSCME Council 93, Local
1703; DPW Engineers, AFSCME Council 93,
Executive Session |Local 1702, Sub local 038)

wewipee ... 0 s

Overview of Meeting Herrick 7:00
SB Liaison & Town Manager Reports Board 7:05
Public Comment Board 7:15
7:30
Approve Deborah Drive Driveway Request TBA
Vote to Close Warrant for Annual Town 8:00 by
Meeting Board Charter
Discuss Winterfest Community Celebration - here
or February 15th Lisa Egan
Kraunelis &

Update on New Town Website Wellman
Discuss Future Agendas Board
Approve Meeting Minutes Board

March 2, 2022 FINCOM Budget Meeting (School Budget) Wednesday

March 9, 2022 FINCOM Budget Meeting (Town Budget) Wednesday

March 16, 2022  |FINCOM Budget Meeting (Warrant Articles) Wednesday

wennnn pp., ... de

Overview of Meeting Herrick 7:00
SB Liaison & Town Manager Reports Board 7:05
Public Comment Board 7:15
7:30
March 23, 2022  |FINCOM Budget Meeting (Votes) Wednesday

April 5, 2022 Local Elections (Tuesday | |
A Y

a0 ede D



2022 DRAFT - SELECT BOARD AGENDAS 2022

Staff Estimated
1/27/2022 Responsibility | start time
Maltez, then
Select Board Vote to Reorganize New Chair 7:00
Town Board & Committee visits
Town Department visits
Liaison member visits
April 25, 2022 Annual Town Meeting I Monday
April 28, 2022 Annual Town Meeting I1 Thursday
May 2, 2022 Annual Town Meeting I11 Monday
Moy L ey
May 5, 2022 Annual Town Meeting IV Thursday
Moy ey
Discuss/Vote on FY23 Non-Union Classification
HEARING & Compensation Schedules
Discuss and Plan Juneteenth Holiday

| |VASCmeetings TBA
I
|| May31,2022 |

May 31, 2022

]
June 14, 2021

]
July 19, 2022

|
e
|
e
|
e
|
e
- |

oo .. BB i inviopvi

I
June 28, 2022

L
August 30, 2022

e
S T |
S |
B SR B R
B S B S Sa

Santaniello &
Board of
HEARING Tax Classification Assessors

s s




2022 DRAFT - SELECT BOARD AGENDAS 2022

Staff Estimated
1/27/2022 Responsibility | start time

e
- DT
e

Vote to Approve Licenses
Vote to Approve Liquor Licenses

December 7, 2002 Wednesday
Town Department FY24 budgets

December 13, 2022 Tuesday
Town Department FY24 budgets

December14,2022 |~~~ === [Wednesday

Town Department FY24 budgets (if needed)

Future Meetings - Agenda Items
Vote to Accept Gift for Sturgis Park from

Reading Girls Softball Sisson Spring '22

Discuss Early Sunday Hours at Recreational

Fields & Parks Rec Comm Spring '22

Discuss/Vote to adopt Birch Meadow Master

Plan (discuss with Town Counsel in advance) |Rec Comm Spring '22
Landry/

Public Safety Quarterly updates Dockser Spring 22

Vote to Approve Town Personnel Policy and SB

HEARING Policies: Article 6 Personnel Related Policies Board Spring '22
Discuss/Vote Changes to Overnight Parking
Ban Board
Air BnB update CPDC
Update on 186 Summer Ave / Review of Select
Board role (consult with Town Counsel) Town Counsel
Vote to Approve Resolution Clarifying Official
Town Website Haley/Bacci
Landry/
Public Safety Badge Pinning Ceremony Dockser

Discuss Police Department Policies with respect
to Police Reform Legislation & Department Landry/

Accreditation Dockser

Discuss and Approve Flag Policy Board

Discuss Tree Lawn Pesticide Policy BOH

Recurring Agenda Items

Close Warrant: Annual Town Meeting March 3/1/2022
Close Warrant: Subsequent Town Meeting September 9/27/2022
Appoint Town Accountant March Annual

HEARING Approve Classification & Compensation May Annual




2022 DRAFT - SELECT BOARD AGENDAS 2022
Staff Estimated
1/27/2022 Responsibility | start time
Appointments of Boards & Committees May/June Annual
HEARING Approve Tax Classification October Annual
HEARING Approve Licenses December Annual
Liaison: RCTV members Report Annual
Liaison: CAB (RMLD) member Report Annual
Liaison: MAPC member Report Annual
Liaison: Reading Housing Authority Report Annual
Liaison: Reading Ice Arena Report Annual
Town Accountant Report Qtrly
Economic Development Director Semi-ann

Parking/Traffic/Transportation Task Force

Town Board & Committee visits

Town Department visits

Review Select Board Goals

Review Town Manager Goals




PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT ADMINISTRATION COMMISSION

OPEB SUI \RY REPORT

Commonwealth, Cities, and Towns
December, 2021

10




Commission Members

Philip Y. Brown, Esq.
Chair

The Honorable Suzanne M. Bump
Auditor of the Commonwealth
Vice Chair

Kathleen M. Fallon
Practice Area Director, Public Consulting Group

Kate Fitzpatrick
Town Manager, Town of Needham

James M. Machado
Sergeant, Fall River Police Department

Richard MacKinnon, Jr.
President, Professional Firefighters of Massachusetts

Jennifer F. Sullivan
Investment Professional

John W. Parsons, Esq.
Executive Director

John Boorack
Actuary

James Lamenzo
Actuarial Consultant

Public Employee Retirement
Administration Commission

Five Middlesex Avenue
Suite 304
Somerville, MA 02145

Phone 617 666 4446
Fax 617 628 4002
TTY 617 591 8917
Web www.mass.gov/perac

11



OPEB SUMMARY REPORT | Commonwealth, Cities, and Towns

December 2021 report based on most recent actuarial valuations or disclosure provided. Dollars in thousands.

See report footnotes on page 11.

Entity Measurement Total Fiduciary Net | NetOPEB Funded Blended
Date OPEB Liability Position Liability Ratio | Discount Rate
Commonwealth 6/30/20 $22,105,511 $1,414,312 $20,691,199 6.4% 2.28%
Abington 6/30/20 $80,834 §274 $80,560 0.3% 2.75%
Acton 12/31/20 §22,947 $7,661 §15,286 33.4% 7.00%
Acushnet 6/30/19 §18,644 50 §18,644 0.0% 3.50%
Adams 6/30/20 $14,594 50 $14,594 0.0% 2.66%
Agawam 6/30/20 §206,123 $984 §205,139 0.5% 2.21%
Alford no plan
Amesbury 6/30/21 $117,339 50 $117,339 0.0% 3.75%
Amherst 6/30/20 §75,162 $7,308 $67,854 9.7% 7.30%
Andover 6/30/20 §132,109 §14,978 §117,131 11.3% 6.00%
Aquinnah 6/30/20 $4,190 $566 $3,624 13.5% 2.49%
Arlington 6/30/19 $208,494 §14,522 §193,972 7.0% 4.02%
Ashburnham 6/30/19 $4,825 $155 $4,670 3.2% 3.51%
Ashby no plan
Ashfield 6/30/20 §574 $13 $561 2.2% 3.25%
Ashland 6/30/21 $66,944 $4,772 $62,172 7.1% 4.00%
Athol 6/30/20 $16,960 $391 $16,570 2.3% 4.75%
Attleboro 6/30/19 §251,108 §565 $250,543 0.2% 3.51%
Auburn 6/30/19 $31,668 $4,711 $26,956 14.9% 7.50%
Avon 6/30/20 $17,125 §1,582 §$15,544 9.2% 6.25%
Ayer 6/30/20 §$13,018 $2,883 $10,135 22.1% 7.00%
Barnstable 6/30/19 §172,677 §4,782 $167,895 2.8% 3.50%
Barre 6/30/20 $3,812 $43 $3,769 1.1% 3.25%
Becket 6/30/19 $5,008 50 $5,008 0.0% 3.50%
Bedford 6/30/21 $64,116 §$13,604 $50,512 21.2% 6.80%
Belchertown 6/30/21 §54,198 $221 §53,977 0.4% 2.50%
Bellingham 6/30/20 §78,236 $571 §77,665 0.7% 2.75%
Belmont 6/30/19 $99,843 $4,476 §95,367 4.5% 6.50%
Berkley 6/30/21 §23,438 §794 §22,645 3.4% 2.09%
Berlin t
Bernardston 1
Beverly 6/30/20 $398,267 §1,133 $397,133 0.3% 2.21%
Billerica 6/30/20 $263,991 $5,257 $258,734 2.0% 7.00%
Blackstone 6/30/21 $6,773 §2,233 $4,540 33.0% 6.80%
Blandford t
Bolton 6/30/20 §2,701 $1,079 §$1,621 40.0% 5.00%
1 No information provided as of the date of this report.
Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission Page 10f 11




OPEB SUMMARY REPORT | Commonwealth, Cities, and Towns

December 2021 report based on most recent actuarial valuations or disclosure provided. Dollars in thousands.

See report footnotes on page 11.

Entity Measurement Total Fiduciary Net | NetOPEB Funded Blended
Date OPEB Liability Position Liability Ratio | Discount Rate
Boston 6/30/21 $3,058,539 $862,136 $2,196,403 28.2% 6.25%
Bourne 6/30/20 §137,358 §3,653 $133,705 2.7% 2.21%
Boxborough 6/30/20 $3,975 $849 $3,126 21.4% 7.00%
Boxford 6/30/20 $14,308 §3,035 §$11,274 21.2% 7.00%
Boylston 6/30/20 $7,062 $136 $6,926 1.9% 2.21%
Braintree 6/30/20 §155,340 §10,361 $144,979 6.7% 7.00%
Brewster 6/30/19 $18,271 $1,961 $16,310 10.7% 7.25%
Bridgewater 6/30/21 $44,736 $850 $43,885 1.9% 3.50%
Brimfield 6/30/20 $5,019 §77 $4,942 1.5% 3.75%
Brockton 6/30/20 $847,437 50 $847,437 0.0% 2.66%
Brookfield
Brookline 6/30/20 §285,411 $59,089 §226,322 20.7% 7.00%
Buckland 6/30/20 $1,137 $22 $1,114 2.0% 2.75%
Burlington 6/30/18 $105,997 §7,495 $98,502 7.1% 7.25%
Cambridge 6/30/19 §731,595 §$18,422 §713,172 2.5% 3.67%
Canton 6/30/21 §95,935 $9,066 $86,869 9.5% 6.25%
Carlisle 6/30/20 $20,321 50 $20,321 0.0% 2.66%
Carver 6/30/20 $38,546 §1,457 $37,089 3.8% 6.50%
Charlemont t
Charlton 6/30/19 §13,447 $895 §12,552 6.7% 3.68%
Chatham 6/30/19 §20,725 $1,023 §19,702 4.9% 7.00%
Chelmsford 6/30/21 $68,434 §17,251 §51,183 25.2% 6.75%
Chelsea 6/30/20 $162,920 $2,408 $160,512 1.5% 3.25%
Cheshire 6/30/20 §2,552 $4 §2,548 0.2% 3.25%
Chester
Chesterfield 6/30/20 §705 $34 $672 4.8% 3.00%
Chicopee 6/30/20 $287,682 $1,026 $286,655 0.4% 2.23%
Chilmark 6/30/19 $4,474 §$1,543 §2,931 34.5% 7.50%
Clarksburg no plan
Clinton 6/30/20 $100,761 $1,077 $99,685 1.1% 2.21%
Cohasset 6/30/20 $76,300 $3,901 §72,399 5.1% 2.28%
Colrain 6/30/20 $260 §272 -$12| 104.6% 6.75%
Concord 6/30/20 $59,898 §21,288 $38,609 35.5% 6.50%
Conway 6/30/20 $1,599 §54 §1,545 3.4% 3.25%
Cummington no plan
Dalton 6/30/20 $4,496 §2,528 $1,967 56.2% 6.75%
1 No information provided as of the date of this report.
Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission Page 2 of 11




OPEB SUMMARY REPORT | Commonwealth, Cities, and Towns

December 2021 report based on most recent actuarial valuations or disclosure provided. Dollars in thousands.

See report footnotes on page 11.

Entity Measurement Total Fiduciary Net | NetOPEB Funded Blended
Date OPEB Liability Position Liability Ratio | Discount Rate

Danvers (excluding Electric Light) 6/30/20 $217,825 $4,244 $213,581 1.9% 2.23%
Dartmouth 6/30/20 $69,103 $3,359 $65,744 4.9% 6.00%
Dedham 6/30/20 §77,336 $21,885 §55,451 28.3% 7.50%
Deerfield 6/30/20 §11,152 $85 §11,067 0.8% 3.75%
Dennis 6/30/18 $32,814 §784 $32,030 2.4% 3.87%
Dighton 6/30/20 $5,696 §1,274 §$4,421 22.4% 6.75%
Douglas 6/30/20 $26,398 $854 §25,544 3.2% 2.66%
Dover 6/30/20 §10,424 §5,737 $4,687 55.0% 6.25%
Dracut 6/30/20 $163,452 $631 $162,821 0.4% 2.21%
Dudley 6/30/20 §17,246 §$10 §17,236 0.1% 2.21%
Dunstable no plan

Duxbury 6/30/21 §45,439 $4,279 $41,160 9.4% 6.25%
East Bridgewater 6/30/21 $92,391 $134 $92,257 0.1% 2.25%
East Brookfield t

East Longmeadow 6/30/21 $66,887 $10,029 $56,859 15.0% 5.25%
Eastham 6/30/19 §31,114 §210 $30,904 0.7% 3.50%
Easthampton 6/30/21 $44,365 $1,768 $42,597 4.0% 4.75%
Easton 6/30/19 §116,779 $144 $116,636 0.1% 3.75%
Edgartown 6/30/20 $65,225 $2,571 $62,654 3.9% 2.23%
Egremont 6/30/20 §770 §$135 $635 17.5% 3.25%
Erving 6/30/20 $6,049 $4,499 $1,549 74.4% 6.75%
Essex 6/30/21 $4,349 $1,609 §2,740 37.0% 5.90%
Everett 6/30/20 $289,938 $7,383 $282,556 2.5% 3.75%
Fairhaven 6/30/20 §39,004 §1,031 §37,973 2.6% 6.75%
Fall River 6/30/19 $482,536 $101 $482,434 0.0% 3.75%
Falmouth 6/30/19 §152,961 §750 §152,211 0.5% 3.50%
Fitchburg 6/30/20 $185,769 $1,505 $184,264 0.8% 2.66%
Florida no plan

Foxborough 6/30/20 $38,607 $10,977 $27,630 28.4% 7.00%
Framingham 6/30/20 $414,780 $6,978 $407,802 1.7% 2.66%
Franklin 6/30/19 §74,262 $5,707 $68,555 7.7% 7.50%
Freetown 6/30/20 §13,398 $1,060 §12,338 7.9% 6.75%
Gardner 6/30/19 $113,240 §$70 $113,170 0.1% 3.50%
Georgetown 6/30/21 §55,782 §353 §55,430 0.6% 2.25%
Gill 6/30/21 $862 $90 $773 10.4% 5.25%
Gloucester 6/30/20 §213,995 $628 §213,367 0.3% 2.25%

1 No information provided as of the date of this report.
Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission Page 3 of 11




OPEB SUMMARY REPORT | Commonwealth, Cities, and Towns

December 2021 report based on most recent actuarial valuations or disclosure provided. Dollars in thousands.

See report footnotes on page 11.

Entity Measurement Total Fiduciary Net | NetOPEB Funded Blended
Date OPEB Liability Position Liability Ratio | Discount Rate

Goshen 6/30/20 $138 50 §$138 0.0% 3.00%
Gosnold no plan

Grafton 6/30/20 $83,415 $130 $83,286 0.2% 2.21%
Granby 6/30/20 $34,716 $680 $34,036 2.0% 2.75%
Granville

Great Barrington 6/30/20 §20,598 50 §20,598 0.0% 2.21%
Greenfield 6/30/19 $94,305 $1,309 $92,995 1.4% 3.51%
Groton 6/30/21 $9,648 §722 $8,926 7.5% 6.75%
Groveland 6/30/20 $5,268 $375 $4,893 7.1% 5.00%
Hadley 6/30/20 §8,402 §$1,813 $6,589 21.6% 6.50%
Halifax 6/30/21 $17,038 $503 $16,536 3.0% 4.00%
Hamilton 6/30/21 $4,893 §1,022 $3,871 20.9% 6.68%
Hampden 6/30/20 $2,861 50 $2,861 0.0% 2.21%
Hancock no plan

Hanover 6/30/20 $43,496 $3,475 $40,021 8.0% 4.75%
Hanson 6/30/21 §19,267 §203 $19,064 1.1% 3.00%
Hardwick no plan

Harvard 6/30/20 $47,240 §3,925 $43,314 8.3% 2.37%
Harwich 6/30/19 $42,322 $2,441 $39,881 5.8% 5.85%
Hatfield 6/30/21 §10,528 50 §10,528 0.0% 2.18%
Haverhill 6/30/20 $472,763 50 $472,763 0.0% 2.25%
Hawley no plan

Heath no plan

Hingham (excluding light plant) 6/30/20 §76,922 §15,299 $61,623 19.9% 7.00%
Hinsdale no plan

Holbrook 6/30/20 §56,317 §1,222 §55,096 2.2% 4.25%
Holden 6/30/21 §$12,716 $3,889 $8,827 30.6% 6.25%
Holland 6/30/20 $3,172 $179 §2,993 5.6% 2.34%
Holliston 6/30/20 $45,331 $15,469 §29,862 34.1% 7.00%
Holyoke 6/30/19 §224,326 50 §224,326 0.0% 3.50%
Hopedale 6/30/21 $54,881 50 $54,881 0.0% 2.25%
Hopkinton 6/30/20 §27,117 $3,018 $24,099 11.1% 6.75%
Hubbardston no plan

Hudson 6/30/19 $84,050 $51 $83,999 0.1% 2.79%
Hull 6/30/21 $48,025 $224 $47,801 0.5% 2.50%
Huntington no plan

1 No information provided as of the date of this report.
Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission Page 4 of 11




OPEB SUMMARY REPORT | Commonwealth, Cities, and Towns

December 2021 report based on most recent actuarial valuations or disclosure provided. Dollars in thousands.

See report footnotes on page 11.

Entity Measurement Total Fiduciary Net | NetOPEB Funded Blended
Date OPEB Liability Position Liability Ratio | Discount Rate

Ipswich 6/30/20 $30,262 $5,617 $24,645 18.6% 7.00%
Kingston 6/30/21 §53,461 §559 §52,902 1.0% 2.16%
Lakeville 6/30/20 $13,271 $1,516 $11,754 11.4% 6.75%
Lancaster 6/30/20 §2,582 §2,424 §159 93.8% 7.00%
Lanesborough 6/30/20 §15,684 $206 §$15,478 1.3% 2.21%
Lawrence 6/30/20 $590,976 $410 $590,566 0.1% 2.66%
Lee 6/30/20 $24,698 $486 §24,212 2.0% 4.00%
Leicester 6/30/20 $33,909 §$151 §33,758 0.4% 3.00%
Lenox 6/30/20 §22,334 $5,253 $17,081 23.5% 7.25%
Leominster 6/30/19 §172,181 §33,107 §139,074 19.2% 7.50%
Leverett t

Lexington 6/30/19 §137,586 §15,774 §121,812 11.5% 7.50%
Leyden no plan

Lincoln 6/30/20 §33,170 §10,540 §22,630 31.8% 7.00%
Littleton 6/30/19 $28,340 $12,089 $16,251 42.7% 7.50%
Longmeadow 6/30/20 §33,078 $3,259 §29,819 9.9% 5.57%
Lowell 6/30/20 $846,409 $10,608 $835,801 1.3% 2.44%
Ludlow 6/30/20 §90,352 $369 $89,983 0.4% 2.75%
Lunenburg 6/30/20 $56,141 $375 §55,766 0.7% 3.00%
Lynn 6/30/19 $561,091 50 $561,091 0.0% 3.75%
Lynnfield 6/30/20 $103,681 $1,452 $102,229 1.4% 2.45%
Malden 6/30/20 §266,298 50 $266,298 0.0% 2.75%
Manchester-by-the-Sea 6/30/21 $8,094 $3,259 $4,836 40.3% 7.50%
Mansfield 6/30/21 $111,924 §11,053 $100,871 9.9% 5.50%
Marblehead 6/30/21 $224,338 $5,721 $218,616 2.6% 2.18%
Marion 6/30/20 $11,477 §1,849 $9,628 16.1% 6.50%
Marlborough 6/30/20 $150,895 $12,771 $138,124 8.5% 4.75%
Marshfield 6/30/20 $104,067 $466 $103,601 0.4% 3.00%
Mashpee 6/30/18 §77,789 50 §77,789 0.0% 3.87%
Mattapoisett 6/30/20 §11,260 $3,406 §7,854 30.2% 6.75%
Maynard 6/30/20 $70,087 $1,360 $68,727 1.9% 2.24%
Medfield 6/30/21 §32,180 §5,674 $26,506 17.6% 7.10%
Medford 6/30/19 §251,022 $70 $250,952 0.0% 3.75%
Medway 6/30/20 §23,422 $1,299 §22,123 5.5% 6.50%
Melrose 6/30/21 $172,961 $1,024 $171,937 0.6% 2.20%
Mendon 6/30/20 §8,035 §$115 §7,920 1.4% 2.70%

1 No information provided as of the date of this report.
Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission Page 50f 11




OPEB SUMMARY REPORT | Commonwealth, Cities, and Towns

December 2021 report based on most recent actuarial valuations or disclosure provided. Dollars in thousands.

See report footnotes on page 11.

Entity Measurement Total Fiduciary Net | NetOPEB Funded Blended
Date OPEB Liability Position Liability Ratio | Discount Rate
Merrimac 6/30/20 $4,103 $1,798 $2,305 43.8% 6.75%
Methuen 6/30/21 $244,273 $566 $243,707 0.2% 2.50%
Middleborough 6/30/20 $109,049 $1,852 $107,197 1.7% 4.25%
Middlefield no plan
Middleton 6/30/20 §19,307 $1,369 $17,937 7.1% 4.75%
Milford 6/30/20 $93,121 $6,419 $86,701 6.9% 5.50%
Millbury 6/30/20 §53,790 $224 §53,566 0.4% 3.50%
Millis 6/30/21 §53,644 §222 §53,422 0.4% 2.50%
Millville 6/30/19 $571 50 $571 0.0% 2.79%
Milton 6/30/20 $172,830 $1,196 $171,634 0.7% 3.00%
Monson 6/30/20 $36,703 $373 $36,330 1.0% 2.75%
Montague 6/30/20 §15,934 §552 §15,382 3.5% 2.66%
Monterey t
Montgomery no plan
Mount Washington t
Nahant 6/30/20 $4,212 50 $4,212 0.0% 2.90%
Nantucket 6/30/19 $118,004 $3,130 $114,874 2.7% 4.00%
Natick 6/30/19 §195,123 50 $195,123 0.0% 3.50%
Needham 6/30/19 $109,487 $38,605 $70,882 353% 7.00%
New Ashford no plan
New Bedford 6/30/20 $622,946 §2,044 $620,903 0.3% 2.50%
New Braintree no plan
New Marlborough no plan
New Salem 6/30/19 $371 §194 $177 52.2% 6.75%
Newbury 6/30/20 $6,319 $369 $5,950 5.8% 6.00%
Newburyport 6/30/21 $96,642 $1,021 $95,621 1.1% 4.25%
Newton 6/30/19 $699,424 $11,817 $687,607 1.7% 3.50%
Norfolk 6/30/19 §26,373 50 §26,373 0.0% 3.00%
North Adams 6/30/19 $88,698 50 $88,698 0.0% 2.75%
North Andover 6/30/20 §131,210 $4,168 $127,042 3.2% 2.75%
North Attleborough 6/30/20 $145,096 $3,542 $141,554 2.4% 5.50%
North Brookfield 6/30/20 $19,265 50 $19,265 0.0% 2.21%
North Reading 6/30/20 $101,606 $1,893 $99,712 1.9% 2.21%
Northampton 6/30/21 §159,723 $3,260 $156,463 2.0% 3.25%
Northborough 6/30/20 $40,051 $3,735 $36,315 9.3% 6.25%
Northbridge 6/30/20 §70,503 §728 $69,774 1.0% 2.21%
1 No information provided as of the date of this report.
Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission Page 6 0f 11




OPEB SUMMARY REPORT | Commonwealth, Cities, and Towns

December 2021 report based on most recent actuarial valuations or disclosure provided. Dollars in thousands.

See report footnotes on page 11.

Entity Measurement Total Fiduciary Net | NetOPEB Funded Blended
Date OPEB Liability Position Liability Ratio | Discount Rate

Northfield 6/30/18 §764 $132 $633 17.2% 7.00%
Norton 6/30/20 $89,000 $623 $88,377 0.7% 3.25%
Norwell 6/30/20 $46,827 $3,973 $42,854 8.5% 7.50%
Norwood 6/30/19 §92,116 $2,780 $89,336 3.0% 7.00%
Oak Bluffs 6/30/20 $54,978 $327 $54,651 0.6% 2.21%
Oakham no plan

Orange 6/30/21 $34,674 50 $34,674 0.0% 2.25%
Orleans 6/30/18 $19,600 §$1,114 $18,486 5.7% 7.25%
Otis no plan

Oxford 6/30/21 $61,025 §5,666 §55,359 9.3% 2.21%
Palmer 6/30/20 $40,729 §77 $40,652 0.2% 3.50%
Paxton 6/30/20 $3,526 50 $3,526 0.0% 3.50%
Peabody 6/30/20 $282,744 $6,538 $276,206 2.3% 2.25%
Pelham 6/30/20 $4,879 $978 $3,901 20.0% 6.50%
Pembroke 6/30/21 §70,576 $1,333 $69,243 1.9% 5.75%
Pepperell 6/30/20 §13,168 §216 §12,952 1.6% 2.75%
Peru no plan

Petersham no plan

Phillipston no plan

Pittsfield 6/30/20 $419,645 $305 $419,340 0.1% 2.44%
Plainfield no plan

Plainville 6/30/21 §31,399 §557 $30,842 1.8% 3.50%
Plymouth 6/30/20 $994,141 $6,582 $987,559 0.7% 2.21%
Plympton 6/30/20 §4,243 $317 $3,926 7.5% 4.25%
Princeton 6/30/21 $1,613 $1,031 $582 63.9% 6.25%
Provincetown 6/30/20 §25,632 $4,823 $20,809 18.8% 7.25%
Quincy 6/30/20 §775,391 $3,275 §772,116 0.4% 2.21%
Randolph 6/30/20 §170,441 $1,020 $169,421 0.6% 3.00%
Raynham 6/30/20 $21,973 $448 §21,525 2.0% 3.50%
Reading 6/30/20 §73,142 $6,083 $67,059 8.3% 7.25%
Rehoboth 6/30/20 $10,820 $102 $10,717 0.9% 2.21%
Revere 6/30/19 $288,099 $504 $287,595 0.2% 2.75%
Richmond 6/30/21 $6,203 $405 $5,798 6.5% 2.50%
Rochester 6/30/20 §14,627 $126 $14,502 0.9% 3.25%
Rockland 6/30/20 $103,178 $1,014 $102,164 1.0% 2.75%
Rockport 6/30/20 $45,006 §715 $44,291 1.6% 2.90%
Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission Page 7 of 11




OPEB SUMMARY REPORT | Commonwealth, Cities, and Towns

December 2021 report based on most recent actuarial valuations or disclosure provided. Dollars in thousands.

See report footnotes on page 11.

Entity Measurement Total Fiduciary Net | NetOPEB Funded Blended
Date OPEB Liability Position Liability Ratio | Discount Rate
Rowe 1
Rowley 6/30/20 $5,188 §1,267 §3,921 24.4% 4.00%
Royalston t
Russell 6/30/20 §2,010 §75 §1,935 3.7% 2.21%
Rutland 6/30/19 $4,806 $308 $4,498 6.4% 5.00%
Salem 6/30/20 §190,312 §3,511 $186,800 1.8% 2.21%
Salisbury 6/30/19 $6,690 $272 $6,418 4.1% 7.50%
Sandisfield t
Sandwich 6/30/20 $134,441 $958 $133,483 0.7% 2.21%
Saugus 6/30/19 $183,601 $887 $182,715 0.5% 3.25%
Savoy t
Scituate 6/30/19 §105,841 §1,045 $104,796 1.0% 3.10%
Seekonk 6/30/20 $43,966 $3,151 $40,815 7.2% 2.27%
Sharon 6/30/21 $68,786 $2,066 $66,721 3.0% 6.75%
Sheffield no plan
Shelburne 6/30/19 §1,051 §157 $894 14.9% 3.95%
Sherborn 6/30/20 $8,648 $1,670 $6,978 19.3% 7.00%
Shirley 6/30/20 §5,988 $69 §5,918 1.2% 2.21%
Shrewsbury (includes Electric and 6/30/20 $59,291 $4,937 $54,354 8.3% 7.50%
(Cable Operations)
Shutesbury 6/30/19 §2,816 §558 §2,259 19.8% 5.25%
Somerset 6/30/20 $111,020 $1,867 $109,153 1.7% 3.50%
Somerville 6/30/20 $158,014 §10,397 $147,618 6.6% 7.50%
South Hadley 6/30/20 $45,049 $1,450 $43,599 3.2% 4.75%
Southampton 6/30/19 $6,389 §226 $6,163 3.5% 7.00%
Southborough 6/30/20 $33,379 $1,855 $31,524 5.6% 6.50%
Southbridge 6/30/20 $48,854 §1,562 §47,292 3.2% 3.50%
Southwick 6/30/20 $5,727 $214 $5,513 3.7% 4.25%
Spencer 6/30/20 $8,526 §231 $8,296 2.7% 2.75%
Springfield 6/30/20 $1,478,411 $2,759 $1,475,652 0.2% 2.44%
Sterling 6/30/20 $8,737 $660 $8,078 7.6% 6.75%
Stockbridge 6/30/21 $3,720 $3,835 141 103.1% 6.75%
Stoneham 6/30/21 §156,587 50 $156,587 0.0% 2.16%
Stoughton 6/30/21 $198,333 $346 $197,987 0.2% 2.25%
Stow 6/30/20 §7,409 $590 $6,819 8.0% 6.50%
Sturbridge 6/30/21 $17,952 $1,356 $16,596 7.6% 2.52%
1 No information provided as of the date of this report.
Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission Page 8 of 11




OPEB SUMMARY REPORT | Commonwealth, Cities, and Towns

December 2021 report based on most recent actuarial valuations or disclosure provided. Dollars in thousands.

See report footnotes on page 11.

Entity Measurement Total Fiduciary Net | NetOPEB Funded Blended
Date OPEB Liability Position Liability Ratio | Discount Rate
Sudbury 6/30/20 §91,748 $8,556 §83,192 9.3% 2.30%
Sunderland 6/30/19 $4,713 $123 $4,590 2.6% 4.50%
Sutton 6/30/20 $60,480 §1,956 $58,524 3.2% 2.20%
Swampscott 6/30/20 $129,488 $2,396 $127,092 1.9% 2.36%
Swansea 6/30/20 §83,432 §457 $82,975 0.5% 3.50%
Taunton 6/30/20 $405,797 $1,137 $404,660 0.3% 2.50%
Templeton 6/30/20 §4,837 $166 $4,671 3.4% 5.00%
Tewksbury 6/30/20 $81,754 $4,715 §77,038 5.8% 7.50%
Tisbury 6/30/21 $43,275 §2,615 $40,660 6.0% 2.20%
Tolland t
Topsfield 6/30/21 §13,170 $2,126 $11,044 16.1% 6.50%
Townsend no plan
Truro 6/30/19 $9,080 §2,175 $6,905 24.0% 7.00%
Tyngshorough 6/30/20 $32,978 $301 $32,676 0.9% 4.25%
Tyringham t
Upton 6/30/20 §7,848 $685 $7,163 8.7% 2.26%
Uxbridge 6/30/20 $82,880 $365 $82,515 0.4% 2.66%
Wakefield (excludes MG&L) 77119 $74,009 $16,298 §57,710 22.0% 7.25%
Wales t
Walpole 6/30/20 §51,154 $4,625 $46,529 9.0% 6.75%
Waltham 6/30/20 §744,540 50 §744,540 0.0% 2.50%
Ware 6/30/21 $26,004 $1,370 $24,634 5.3% 4.25%
Wareham 6/30/20 $106,806 §1,381 $105,425 1.3% 3.75%
Warren 6/30/21 $3,412 50 $3,412 0.0% 2.16%
Warwick no plan
Washington no plan
Watertown 6/30/19 §$115,371 §1,381 §113,990 1.2% 3.75%
Wayland 6/30/20 $48,991 §19,113 §29,878 39.0% 7.00%
Webster 6/30/20 $33,368 §145 $33,223 0.4% 3.25%
Wellesley (includes MLP) 6/30/20 $132,314 §75,024 §57,290 56.7% 6.00%
Wellfleet 6/30/20 §10,917 $2,170 $8,747 19.9% 7.00%
Wendell t
Wenham 6/30/20 $4,762 §203 $4,558 4.3% 6.25%
West Boylston (includes MLP) 6/30/20 $33,048 $1,146 $31,903 3.5% 2.80%
West Bridgewater 6/30/20 $41,909 $650 $41,260 1.6% 4.00%
West Brookfield 6/30/19 $1,742 $222 $1,521 12.7% 6.50%
1 No information provided as of the date of this report.
Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission Page 9 of 11




OPEB SUMMARY REPORT | Commonwealth, Cities, and Towns

December 2021 report based on most recent actuarial valuations or disclosure provided. Dollars in thousands.

See report footnotes on page 11.

Entity Measurement Total Fiduciary Net | NetOPEB Funded Blended
Date OPEB Liability Position Liability Ratio | Discount Rate

West Newbury 6/30/19 §2,432 §2,249 §183 92.5% 7.00%
West Springfield 6/30/20 §225,557 $897 $224,660 0.4% 2.44%
West Stockbridge 6/30/19 $878 50 $878 0.0% 3.50%
West Tisbury 6/30/20 $5,297 $2,640 $2,657 49.8% 7.00%
Westborough 6/30/19 $120,541 $6,282 $114,260 5.2% 2.79%
Westfield 6/30/20 $356,040 $846 $355,194 0.2% 2.75%
Westford 6/30/20 §79,260 $6,206 §73,054 7.8% 6.50%
Westhampton 6/30/20 $1,397 $38 $1,359 2.7% 3.00%
Westminster 6/30/21 $8,141 $164 §7,978 2.0% 3.00%
Weston 6/30/19 $69,374 $19,323 $50,052 27.9% 7.75%
Westport 6/30/20 §24,920 $2,969 §21,952 11.9% 7.50%
Westwood 6/30/19 $43,640 $8,879 $34,762 20.3% 7.25%
Weymouth 6/30/20 $462,389 $4,370 $458,019 0.9% 2.28%
Whately 6/30/20 $1,091 $170 $921 15.6% 3.25%
Whitman 6/30/20 $16,104 $665 §15,439 4.1% 5.00%
Wilbraham 6/30/20 $27,474 $2,203 §25,270 8.0% 2.21%
Williamsburg 6/30/20 §3,909 $18 $3,891 0.5% 2.66%
Williamstown 6/30/19 $20,6071 $500 $20,107 2.4% 3.50%
Wilmington 6/30/21 $104,084 $9,964 $94,120 9.6% 6.25%
Winchendon 6/30/19 $24,272 50 $24,272 0.0% 3.50%
Winchester 6/30/20 $112,706 $3,797 $108,910 3.4% 5.25%
Winthrop 6/30/20 $106,482 $342 $106,140 0.3% 2.75%
Woburn 6/30/20 $262,443 §7,496 §254,947 2.9% 2.61%
Worcester 6/30/20 $1,046,834 $20,506 $1,026,328 2.0% 2.45%
Worthington no plan

Wrentham 6/30/20 $57,105 $419 $56,686 0.7% 2.21%
Yarmouth 6/30/19 $25,598 $3,592 $22,006 14.0% 7.00%

See report footnotes and comments on the next page.
Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission Page 10 of 11




OPEB SUMMARY REPORT | Commonwealth, Cities, and Towns

December 2021 Report based on most recent actuarial valuations or disclosure provided. Dollars in thousands.

Footnotes and Comments:

PERAC's first Other Post Employment Benefits (OPEB) Summary Report
was released in 2016. That report reflected Governmental Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) requirements at the time. This latest report
reflects the current GASB 74 and GASB 75 standards.

This report reflects the most recent actuarial information for the
Commonwealth, cities, and towns that was provided to PERAC as of
December 7, 2021. Information received after December 7 will be
included in subsequent Summary Reports. In addition, information for
other entities that provide OPEB benefits, including school districts, water
and light districts, authorities, and collaboratives will be provided in
future reports.

Our report reflects the results provided by over 25 actuarial firms.

A number of towns indicated that no OPEB benefits were provided by the
town or there was no plan and this is noted in the Summary Report. A
number of towns did not provide us an OPEB valuation report and these
towns may or may not have OPEB liabilities. Several towns indicated that
there was no recent OPEB study, but the town intended to undertake one
in the next two years.

All dollar amounts are in thousands.

The Summary report details the Measurement Date, Total OPEB Liability
(TOL), Financial Net Position (FNP or Assets), Net OPEB Liability (TOL less
FNP often referred to as Unfunded Liability), Funded Ratio (TOL/FNP), and
Blended Discount Rate. The Blended Discount Rate is the single rate that
reflects the present value of projected benefit payments using a long- term
expected rate of return for years in which assets are projected to be suffi-
cient to make projected benefit payments, and a tax-exempt high-quality
municipal bond rate for years in which assets are projected to not be
sufficient to make projected benefit payments. If assets are projected to
be sufficient to pay all future projected benefits, the Blended Discount Rate
will reflect the long-term expected rate of return. Likewise, if assets are
not projected to be sufficient to make any projected benefits, the Blended
Discount Rate will reflect the municipal bond rate. If assets are projected
to be sufficient to pay only a portion of the projected benefits, the Blended
Discount Rate will fall between the two rates.

Public Employee Retirement Administration Commission

The cumulative Total OPEB Liability for all entities that reported is
approximately $56.1 billion. The cumulative Financial Net Position is
approximately $3.3 billion resulting in a cumulative Net OPEB Liability of
$52.8 billion and a funded ratio of 5.9%.

We maintain a spreadsheet of information regarding OPEB valuations
that is constantly updated as we receive additional valuation reports and
disclosures. The spreadsheet includes the number of active and retired
members, service cost, actuarial assumptions, and certain plan provi-
sions. We may incorporate some of these items in future reports,

Notes on Actuarial Assumptions
Discount Rate

We have shown only the Blended Discount Rate in our Summary Report
because it is the interest rate used to determine plan liabilities. The long-term
rate of return on assets and the municipal bond rate are not always shown in
valuation reports.

Medical Trend

The medical trend assumption varies by plan and by actuary. Initial rates are
generally 4.5% - 8.0%. The ultimate trend rate is generally 3.5% - 4.5%. The
year in which the ultimate trend is assumed varies widely from 2020 — 2075.

Mortality

All plans (except small plans) use a generational mortality assumption. The
vast majority of plans (about 809%) use some version of the RP-2014 mortality
table. A much smaller number of plans use a version of the RP-2000 or

the Society of Actuaries Pub-2010 mortality tables. As updated reports are
submitted, we find that many that previously used RP-2000, have adopted
RP-2014. For mortality improvement, most plans reflect a version of the MP
scale.

Page 11 0f 11



Page intentionally left blank

23



Page intentionally left blank

24



25



4

%6L°99 9C°LS S€°v¥66°208'ZL 61°8L6'659°0TT 00T‘ZST'TL 8ZZ'08L7SOT TYI0L
%08°L6 90°¥8 99-z19’022 'L 6T°9¢eL'zZ8E "L §sz'LZT’g €TS'660'9 SHOYUNOS ONIODNVNIA ¥YHHIO <0 TVY.LOL
%00°00T ¥9°66 99°956‘90L’€ 6T°600°'L0L"E ooo‘zev ‘e 6eL'0VY T aiEs HONVIVd aNN4d JHLYNDISHd 0066%
%00°0C gL ce 00°000°S2 00°000°szZT 000°s¢ 000°SL dd INJ NON)IJ0ddNS aNAd JHHLO 0ZTL6¥
$¥L°98 <CT ST 00°0ST’866 00°LZL'OST'T 6VL'69T 9V0‘STT'T 1Ld0ddNs aNNd HASTIdIHINH 00L6¥
%$5¢°¢0T 8% 00T 00°905‘08¥°C 00 000°00¥%°C 905‘08¥ ¢ 8zL'89V'C SHOUNOS ONIANNA dHHILIO 0006F%
%00 00~ 00°000°0T 00~ 00002 0 HANHAHY SAOCHANVTTHDSIW 00087
300" 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 HANHAHY HIVIS 0009%
SHOUNOS ODNIODNVYNIA ¥HHIO <0
%05°¢€9 ¥T°99 69°T8€'285'99 00°2¥Z'LLTZ'€OT S¥8'¥Z0‘99 STIL'089'66 SHANHAHY TO TVY.LIOL
%00 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 HNOONT LSHIALNI dHLOIALSHI 0TZ8F¥
%C9°0C €L St 88°98%'z8 00°00000% TLE'€EET 000°SsLE SINHWLSHANI NO SONINJVH 00Z8F%
300" 00~ €L°2€5°09 00~ YLz TET 0 HANHAHY SAOCHANVTTHDSIW 00087
$vv LT 8L TIC S6°0VV’LEZ 00 000°00T €€E€’9T 000°SL SLIHAYO4 ® SHNIA 00LLY
%00 00~ €T 9LE 00~ 89L'T 0 SILNHWSSHSSY T¥IDdHdS 00SL¥
$¥S°CS  ¥8°LS ¥y 55957595 °L 00 000°00¥% ‘%L L60'0TV '8 €98°6€5 VT HANHAHY HIVIS 0009%
%$69°%¥T TV 06T'T 65°0v0’zZe 00°000°0GT ¥08°Z68 000°SL HOANHAHY TVIddH4d 000S¥
$cv 1L LT 8F 0S°Z¥8 LTT 00°000°S9T LLS'LY 000°0%T SLINMHEd ‘HSNHDIT 000%¥
$¥¥° LS 959709 2y 9v1’902'1 00 000°00T°C 000°'TTZ'T 000’0002 SHHA 000¢¥
%€9°LS 0T 99 €5°8L8'1CC 00°000°S8¢€ €LE'9TC 000°‘s8¢€ X¥I 40 NATIT INHWAVdA 008T¥
%9¥v°¢c6 9T IL 8%°09L°86T 00°000°STZ ZZO'VIT 000°09T LSHIALNT B3 ALTYNHd O00LTV
$vS"vL  ¥ST1I8 Z8°"v90’zLZ 00°000°S9¢ §s8‘€0T 000052 SHXV.I HSIODXH ¥HHIO 009T¥
%96°CT ¥S°¢cl ¥9°9¢€5'86% 00 000°0s8°€ TLE'LBY 000°'009°€ XYL dSIOXH HTIDIHHA ¥OLOW 00STH
%€8°L9 €CT'69 96°LO0V'0¥VS'¥S 00 Z¥L'LOV 08 ¥ov‘€95'€S 66€£'65€LL SHXV.I HLV.LISH TVHdd 00CT¥
VT CL €1 ¥L TE 067 €€g 00°005°6¢€L 0T8‘¥eS €SvTCL XYL ALJHd0dd TEYNOSYHd OO0TT¥
300" 00~ Tz TZ8'VET 00~ 0ZT 09 0 SEXVI ALYHd0o¥d INZNONITHA 000T¥
z2z/9c/T TZ/1e/1T ybnoaylr SHANHAHY TO
LOHTTIOOD dHLOHTTIOD HINOW STHL LADANd HINOW STHL LHEDANd
LNADYHAd % LNHOJH OL dALDHTTIOD QIS IAHY OL JALOHTIOO IS IAHY
LNHIIND SYA LSVYI A LNHIEND AYHA LNHIEND SYVYHA ISYT SIYYHA ILSYI
INI¥d HEIS HINWMOI¥d (¥/d9WNSAHY) T1TV¥ALOY Ol 135dndg
SHIY¥ODHLYD JHLHADANG - AYVHWWAS HANHAHY ANNA TYIHNHD 6T:CC 1T
T 3d¥d ONIAVHd 40 NMOL zzoz/9z/10

= —
L= — = = = =
- = \/W\/WWMM//J%W —

\u




Ll

aNNAd HAJHSHY HONVYNIA O%TO

%C° 1S 86°S¥T'€09 LY v617'8¢ 86°2€0'009 €V ELE'TEN'T €V ELL LL 00°009°€56
HONVNIA TVY.LOL
%36 v¥ 66°9€L'9CT LY v617'8¢ L6 T60'SL €y €z0’0€ €V ELL LL 00-0sz’zsT
SHSNHdXH S0
%0°¢€9 66°80%'9LE 00°0 TO TV6 ¥V 00°0s€’108 00°0 00°0s€’108
SHIYVYIVS €0
HONVNIA 0€TO
%$9°¢S 06°089°596 59°566°2CT 29°095'9%6 LT LEZ'SE0'T LT LEV'T6T 00°008°Z%L'T
SHOIAYHS OITdNd TVYLOL
e ve 8V v¥I0'0%C 0V °5L6'98 SS°v0S '8¢ €V ¥6¥59¢€ €V ¥67 0S¢ 00°000‘STT
SHINLIANHIXH TVYLIdYD 80
%709 697986 'V¥T §Z°020'9¢€ 08 SEV'0TT VL Zvv 162 YL 26’99 00°00S‘¥eC
SHSNHdXH S0
%6°LS €L°6L9'089 00°0 LZ 029 L6L 00°00€‘8LE’'T 00°000°ST- 00°00€’€6E’T
SHIYVYIVS €0
SHOIAYHS OITdnd OTTO
%L°99 9L %¥S0°90S'T 0T ¥98°L0€E 88 V¥ZL'8LS'C VL Ev9’Zee’ Y VL EVT'066 00°00Ss‘2Z0% ‘€
SHOIAYHS HATLVALSINIWAY TVY.LOL
%L°18 ST T0S €St €2°52€'50¢ 00°588°'18% 8¢ TIL '0OF8 8€ TIL'0OVL 00°000°00T
SHINLIANHIXH TVY.LIdYD 80
%6°69 6V 2¥9°'209 L8°8€S°20T 00 TSs€’S62Z'T 9¢€°zes’000’2 9¢€°Zev'6¥%T 00°00T‘TSL'T
SHSNHdXH S0
L7 TS ZT TIT6'6VL 00°0 88°88% 108 00 007 ‘TSS'T 00°0 00°00%'TSS'T
SHIYVYIVS €0
SHOIAYHS HATILVALSINIWAY SOTO
agsn % LEDANT ETIVIIVAVY SEHONYIGHNDONI QIANEJXE dLA LE3DANT JISIATY SIWNSLAVY/SNYIL do¥ddy TUYNIDINO
L0 TZOz ¥o4
@5A@uhﬂmi LIO4dEY LEDANT EIVA-OL-YVEA woxjsbues
T d

ODNIQVYHEY 40 NMOL TI:€T 220Z/LT/TO




8¢

SMYOM DOITdNd 00¥%0

E3 AR 89°956°€T€ 52 S6°065'9¢€L’¥ 08 LVPS'IVZ VT €¥°560°262'%S €7 L60°TET' ¥ 00°866 090705
NOII¥ONdd - HHLLIWWOD TOOHOS MV.IOL
$T°GL TZ°Z26'€96'T 00°92L'€06°C SL°ZSv'620°€ 96°00T‘L68'L 96°z€0’zC6’C 00°890°SL6"Y
SHSNHdXd ddHLO 09
ST ¥L LETOVS 8PS ST 9ST ¥PhE €1°585'v2Z’'T S9°T8Z'LIT’C S9°808°I8T'T 00 €LV S€6
STVIYHLVYN ® SHITddNS 0§
31768 08°098°9S%¥ TO 096 LZ%'T S6°669°€ELT'T 9.°025°850°¢€ 9L°59Z'6L 00°59S52°6L6°C
SHOIAYES JHILOVIINOD 0F
LYV ¥8°LTO'¥S0O‘€E 00°0 0F LSO'TLY'C ¥z 5L0°525°S 9L° €89 L~ 00°6SL"CZES’S
SHIYUVIVS ¥dHLO 0¢
%9°vG 6L LIT LYY 00°0 TZ STL'9€S 00°€¥8‘€86 00°0 00 €¥8 €86
SHIYUYIVS TVYDIYHTID 0¢
%6°G¥ 96°865°855 8T 00°0 08 ¥89'8€L’ST 9L°€8Z'L6T ' VE 9L°€89 7L 007009682 %€
SHIYUVIVS TUYNOISHAOHEd OT
%50°1¢ TL°868'¥8C 6L°8%L"09 957 ZFELY 90°066°CT¥ 907066 LY 00°00059¢

SHINLIANAIXH TYLIAYD 80

NOILVONAH - HHLLIWWOD TOOHOS 00¢£0

%6° 19 S0 0SL 0LE" L 95°8¥%Z’¢8 98°0££°€88"L LY 628 LEE’ST LY %05 %16 00°528'2Z%'¥1T
ALFAVS DITdNd TYIOL
%6°LE 86°L00°00E"T 00°2Z0Z'S TO'TTL LSL 00°TIZ6°260°C 00°TZ6°289 00 000'0TF’'T
SHINLIANAAXE TYLIAYD 80
$T°LS 86 ¥8F‘c6¢ 95°9%0’8L €6°TOV 'SP LY €£6°9T6 Ly £85°85¢2 00 05€"859
SHSNEAXHE S0
%6°€9 60°LST LLY'S 00°0 T6°LTZ 0G99 00°SLY LZE T 00°000'LEZ- 00 SLY'#SE'ZT
SHIAYIVS €0
ALEAYS DITENd 00Z0
20" 00°000°02T 00°0 00°0 00°000°02T 00°000°08- 007000002
aNnd FAYEISHY HONUNIA TYIOL
20" 00°000°02T 00°0 00°0 00°000°02T 00°000°08- 007000002
SHSNEAXHE S0
assn % IEDANg FIEVIIVAY  SHONVIEWNONI QEANIdXE LA IEoand qEsIAFI SIWSLAY/SNYYEL do¥ddy TYNIDIVO
aNnd FAYESHY FONYNIA 0FTO
LO ZZOZ ¥Ood
vanuuhﬁm— IJOdEY I1EDAAd HIVA-OL-IVEA woxjsbues
4 d

DNIQVEY 40 NMOL TI:€T 220Z/LT/TO

- -

— =
\\MWMWMWNV -

-




6C

3% %S TO %09 '9LT 972961 e €€2'60¢ 00°00%'L8¢E 00°0 00°00%‘L8E
SHSNEAXE S0
%5705 9T 9LT 'S9L 00°0 8 ELE'GLL 00" 055 '%%5 1T 00°0 00" 0SS PHS’'T
SHTIVIVS £0
AIVEEIT 0090
50° 19 P 8EL E€T6 T 68°626 €8 T0"2LZ'LST T YET0F6°506F b€ 069'¢€28 00°052°280"'%
SEILITIOVA TYIOL
507 0L 00°566'8%¢ 09" %TL'Z8¢E 96°9%0°86T 95°95.'628 95°95L'6LZ 00°000°055
SHINLIANIAXE TYLIAYD 80
%9709 PP CPT TS T 62°GTC'2S¥ SO'TOE €LY T 84°859'9LT'¢€ 8L EE6'EDS 00°52L°2€9'¢2
SHSNEAXE S0
30" %S 00" TO09'€T¥ 00°0 00°%26°S8% 00°525'668 00°0 00°525°668
SHTIVIVS £0
SHILITIOVA 08%0
$€°S% €0°0T6 €IS T LT S85°8TT G9°9Z0‘LET'T G8°TZ5'69L'C S8 TZ0'6¢ 00°005°0¢€L’2
ONIIHDIT IZENLIS MONS HSVIL-Mdd TYIOL
3T 9% 6€° HES'TCH T LT S85°8TT 62°20%'660"'T G8°TZ5'6€9°C S8 TZ0'6¢ 00°005°009'¢2
SHSNEAXE S0
36" 8¢ $9°GLE'T6 00°0 9€° %29 LE 00°000‘0€T 00°0 00°000°0€T
SHTIVIVS £0
ONIIHOIT IHENIS MONS HSVEL-MAd TOF0
36" ¥F LT TLT'LBT'E 8€°600'T8¢ S€°52%'262'C 00°L0L"'096"S 00°ZEL'STZ'T 00" SLE FPL D
SYMAOM DITENd TYIOL
32°6¢ PT THL T8 T 80°€06'9%¢ €0°022'59¢ G2 $98'€60°C ST F98‘ELO’T 00°000°020°T
SHINILIANZAXE TYLIAVYD 80
%8° 85 €€°552/90F% 0€° 90T FET ZT°900'S¥h¥ GL°L9€'S86 GL°L98'TPHT 007005 €P8
SHSNEAXE S0
$%° 1S 08°GLZ'66€"'T 00°0 02°66T°28%'T 00°SLT'T88°C 00°0 00°5L%°188'¢C
SHTIVIVS £0
agsn % Igoangd HTEVIIVAY  SHONVYEHNONI aIaN=EdxE ali IEoand dEsSIA=Y SINSLAY/SNYYL do¥ddy TYNIDI¥O
SM¥OM DITIAd 000
LO ZZ0Z ¥od
usnvuhﬁm— Idod=Ed 1E5and HIVd-OL-dVHEA woxjsbues
€ d

DNIQVEY 40 NMOL TI:€T 220Z/LT/TO

l\‘fllw\ﬂlfmmﬁ

=
=




oe

09 25 IvZ'19v 'L 00-00s’zZT 8V Z6L'LTZ'TT 00" ¥€5'169'8T 00°000°2S€- 00" peES‘€EV0 6T
SHSNHdXH S0

oe
i

) ¥L ¥80'0¢€ 00°0 9z "S16'¥E 00°000°S9 00°0 00°000°S9

oe
o~

SHIYVYIVS €0

SLIAHINHE HHAOTAWH 0060

"TL 00°06L'€ZT 00°0 00°0TZ %99 007000884 00°0 00°000‘88L
SLNHWSSHSSY TOOHOS TVYNOIDHY TV.ILOL

oe
Ne)

"TL 00°06L'€ZT 00°0 00°0TZ %99 007000884 00°0 00°000‘88L

oe
Ne)

SHSNHdXH S0

SLNHWSSHSSY TOOHODS TYNOIDHY 0¥%80

8% 00" LVT'TI6€E 00°0 00 €0069¢ 00 0ST’09L 00°0 00°0ST’09L
SLNHWSSHSSY HLVLS TVY.LOL

oe
LN

8% 00" LVT'TI6€E 00°0 00 €0069¢ 00 0ST’09L 00°0 00°0ST’09L

oe
LN

SHSNHdXH S0

SLNHWSSHSSY HLV.IS 0¢80

Tee 0S°9%9°08T°¢€ 00°0 0S°L6T'28S'T 00" ¥¥8'29L'¥ 00°0 00" ¥¥8°Z9L'¥
HOTIAYHS L9Hd TY.LOL

oo
[a\]

Tee 0S°9%9°08T°¢€ 00°0 0S°L6T'28S'T 00" ¥¥8'29L'¥ 00°0 00" ¥¥8°Z9L'¥
HOTIAYHS 19ddHd LO

oo
[a\]

HOIAYHS LdHd 00L0

TS LT°08L'TS6 §9°29s'T 8T L09'886 00°0S6°'TI¥6'T 00°0 00°0S6°'T¥6'T
AIVIIIT TVYLOL

oe
o

00°000°0T 00°0 00°0 00°000°0T 00°0 00°000°0T
SHINLIANHIXH TVYLIdYD 80

oe
o

agsn % LEDANT ETIVIIVAVY SEHONYIGHNDONI QIANEJXE dLA LE3DANT JISIATY SIWNSLAVY/SNYIL do¥ddy TUYNIDINO

L0 TZOz ¥o4

@5Aﬁuhﬂmi LIO4dEY LEDANT EIVA-OL-YVEA woxjsbues
4 d

ODNIQVYHEY 40 NMOL TI:€T 220Z/LT/TO




e

»x woxlsbuy uoxeys Ag peiersusd - LJOJdHY 40 ANH xx
%9°¢G ¥0°626°9%9 %S Z8°08%LZ9'9 LS 9T6°6LS"9S €Y 9Z€' PS8 LTT €7°00%'2ST'8 00°926°T0L 60T
TYLOL ANVID
%0°00T 00°0LZ'98- 00°0 00°0LZ"98 00°0 00°0 00°0
HSN/EAD¥N0S SNIDNYNIA ¥HHIO TVIOL

%0°00T 00°0LZ'98- 00°0 00°0LZ"98 00°0 00°0 00°0
SHSN ONIODNVUNIL ¥HHILO 60

HSN/ED¥N0S SNIDNVYNIA ¥HHIO 0660

31709 9z°9z€'16¥% L 00°005°2T YL L0L'ZST'TT 00" €5 95L 8T 00°000’2S€E- 00 "FES ‘80T 6T
SLIAINHE HHACTIWH TTV.IOL

agasn % LADANd dTIVIIVAY SHONVIEGWADNE IANEdXdE dLA LEADANE ESTIAEY SIHSLAVY/SNYYL d0dddv TYNIDINO

L0 2zZoc ¥od

usﬁou.ﬁm_ IJOdEY I1EDAAd HIVA-OL-IVEA woxjsbues
DNIQ TI:€T 220Z/LT/TO

==



ce

osuadxg 2dA3 3unoooy
aosloxg

309 Lgo

bIo

2poOD Io3DBIRYD

poasIssay

d9VD

Azung 308lgo

Azobajed

00T /uoTSTAI(

Bpng tooyng

Axejabpng

00TO pung

sniep PISTd SweN PIaTd
BIISITID PUTA

A 1SIeTIOP UOITITW 666 POSOXS STBIO0]/SIUNOWY
d :MSTA IeSATITINN
N :S3uswwoD H[ JBPUOTIJIIPPE SpnIoul
T :uortado 3ewIol TIR3I=Q
L *# 0d 10 # EP Ag 13109
A iSeTx3us br/qunous oul
A :S9Txjus 39bpng spniour
ZT/Tz0Z :I8d/Ik OL

T /020Z :I8d/ax woid
N :1Te39p Teuanol 3jutiag
N :ooueleg pung Spniourl
N :oxez se sj3sbpng snusasi juTad
A 13TPSID Se enueAsI jUTid
N :sbutpesy UOTISISA-SeNULASY 3JUTiId
N :3junowe uoT3iTsTnbex spniourl
A :sS30o0e Teq Ox9z ssaxddng

T :9pod piemiod Aixepd N :ooeds o1gnog

N :309[lgo 03 s3oneloxd 1710¥ T :adA3 zewxog
N :3junoonde TH TInJ 3IUTIJ

N UOTISISA QIW 3Iutad g :uoradraosep 3I0oYs I0 TINd JIUTIJ

L /TZ0Z :POTISad/Iesk X Afuo s1e3031 3UTIg

‘asbpng 3o 30 butpssoxs s3UNoOONE SSPNIOUTL

LI0dHY 1HDdNd HIVA-OL-UVHA
197313 3xodsy

N N 0 r oousnbag

N N 0 ¢ onusnbag

N X [ 7z oobusnbag

N A z T @ousnbeg

yeaxq obed Te30L # PI°Td
SNOILJO I¥Od=Y

vanuuhﬁm— IJOdEY I1EDAAd HIVA-OL-IVEA woxjsbues
9 d DNIQVEY 40 NMOL TI:€T 220Z/LT/TO

= =

—
—




uuuuuuuuuuuuu

= == =
\\/.\\ -
.- -

e \\\\\\\W\/\Wl/\\!\il\w —
z =



e
TATOTISP
2NUSASI © IO UISDUCD OU ST 9I8Yl 'JI23eM aJIow Bursn snyl
'Tesk STUl uryYl Iesh 38T Swoy woell Duliiom sism sTdosd
sxow 'ATsyTT -sucrtanslfoxd 3ssw o3 suoTaleinsdxs sacdge TTITIAS
ang ‘aesd zotad ueyl ISMOT STI3TT & 238 SONUDADI I973eM

% Z°L9 90°6L 28 781'868'F 00°S52'€62°L 988'662'S  SLT'E0L'9 SHONEATY TO TYIOL
50" €9°9% 05" %8T'S 00" T6L'6 000'TC SONINIVE INZWISHANI MIM 000Z8F% Z8FTOOTS
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SAEEDOYd HONVINSNI dIM 000S6% 08FTOOTY
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 ¥ QEXId A0 FIVS IdHd IAI¥M 000¥6F 08FTOOTS
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 INEWLSEANI NI SSOT ¥0 NIVD 000€6% 08%TOOTY
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 MHEAND GWIEY HONVMASNI MIM 00TS8F 08FTOOTS
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SAOOM ONIQVYEY NI-ANE VIMHW O€¥H8% 08FTOOTY
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 NI-AND VIMW MIM 0ZF¥8F 08FTOOTS
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SAOOM NOSNHOL NI-ANE VMW OT¥%8% 08%TOOTY
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 4 NOIIVDILIWN ¥IJdOTHAZC IIM 00%H8% 08FTOOTY
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 LIONAdXHE ¥VHA d0Idd ANAJAEY OTOP8H 08FTOOTY
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SINIWISINGWIHT dIM 00508% 08HFTOOTY
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SHNNEATY IEHIO IAIYM 00008F 08FTOOTS
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 AQISENS DNIA FANILEY AIM 0060SH OSHFTOOTY
50" 00" 0€£°569'6 00" €0z '91 0 IAYES ¥0d SHDUVHD SHHEA MIM 0000€F 0EHTOOTS
50" 00" 987922 '1I¢ 00" €50°¢€€ 0 -NON ¥MEIVM ¥FHIO ¥OIDETIOD 00TZZH 0ZHTOOTY
50" 00" 26 060°6¢ 00" 0 0 SNHIT dHEIVM 2Z0T ZZTTZH 0ZFTOO0TO
50" 00" v9°L¥6°0¢C 00" L58'0¢€ 0 SNHIT ¥EIYM TZ0Z TZTTZH 0ZFTOO0TY
50" 00" 6L°6CF 00" 686 ‘L 0 SNHIT YEIYM 0Z0Z 0ZTTZH 0ZFTOO0TY
50" 00" 00" 00" G9L'T 0 SNHIT YEIVYM 6T0Z 6TTTZH 0ZFTOO0TY
50" 00" 00°ST 00" 0 0 SNHIT ¥EIVYM 8T0Z 8TTTZH 0ZFTOO0TY
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNHIT YEIVYM LT0Z LTTTZH 0ZFTOOTY
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNHIT YEIYM 9T0Z 9TTTZH 0ZFTOO0TY
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNHIT ¥EIYM STOZ STTTZH 0ZFTOO0TY
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNHIT ¥EIVM $T0Z FTTTZH 0ZFTOO0TO
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNHIT YEIVYM €T0Z €TTTZH 0ZFTOO0TO
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNHIT YEIYM ZT0Z ZTTTZH 0ZFTOO0TY
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNHIT ¥EIYM TTOZ TTTTZH 0ZFTOO0TY
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNHIT ¥EIVYM 0TOZ OTTTZH 0ZFTOO0TO
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNHIT YEIVYM 600% 60TTZH 0ZFTOO0TY
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 8007 SNHIT YHIVYM 80TTZF 0ZHTOOTS
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 £L00Z SNHIT ¥EIVM MOIDHTIOD LOTTIZF 0ZHTOOTS
% €759 9€°LL 6L°08L'T9L'%Y  00°S52'€62°L 9T9°69T'S S.4T’'Z89°9  UYHD HEHOVSA UXIYM AOIDETIOD 00TTZH O0ZHTOOTY
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 HSIDXH/SHXYL INI/NHd ¥IM 000LTH LTIPTOOTY
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SHHEA ANY SANVWHQ ¥OIDETIOD 00LLTIY OTHFTOO0TY
50" 00" YT 60L°6¢C 00" 9€L'8¢ 0 SEOYVHD ISHMHINI ¥IM 009LTHF OTHTOOTS
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SHINSOTOHIOL XYL ¥IM 00SHTHF OTHTOOTS
50" 00" 88 %0T'0T 00" zL8'T 0 QINIIATY SNEIT XYL ¥IM 00ZHTH OTHPTOOTY
50" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 IXYL ALIEAONd QEINEAEA IIM 00SZTH OTHFTOOTO
zz/9z/T ybnoayl 1Z/1€/T uybnoiyr SHNNIAEY TO

LDETIOD QHIDITION HINOW SIHL LEoandg HINOW SIHL LEoand

INIO¥HEd % INED¥HJ Ol QHEIDETION QISIAHY 0L QHIDITTION QISIAEY

INE¥IND  S¥X LSYT ¥A ININNAD SMA ININMND SUVYHA ISYT SUVHA LSY'T

INT¥d HES HINWMOI¥d (IQUEIVMAEN) TVALOY Ol ILEDANG

TIVIEQ - NOSINVAWOD HANHAFY ANOA YHIVM AR TARA
T Zovd ONIQVYHY 40 NMOL zZ0Z/92/10

- = @ @




ge

$ T°vL L8 0L Z8°¥81'¢€8’9 00°552'82Z'6 9886609 €92°,09'8 TYI0L
% 0°00T 20°C¥ 00°000°S€6'T 00°000°S€6'T 000008 886°€06'T SHOYUNOS ONIODNVNIA ¥YHHIO <0 TVY.LOL
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 Nd HNANHAHY TYIDHAS NI dHdAX 00CL6¥ LE6FCO0TS
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 009°¢€T aNN4d TYIENHED NI ¥HAX 00TL6¥ L6¥C00T9
% 0°00T 00°00T 00°000°S€6'T 00°000°S€6'T 000008 000008 0ddns dnd dO HSVYD HHYA dIM 06666% 06%¥C00T9
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SWNNINHId JTHAYHSHE ¥8666% 06¥C00T9
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 LNHWHTLLIHES T¥DHT 00TS6¥% 06%C00T9
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SAHED0dd NVYOT AIVIOdWHI 000C6% 06¥%C00T9
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 S@HED0dd dNOd 000T6¥ 06%C00T9
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 88€'060°'T HIVS dNOd NO WNINWHId 00606% 06%C00T9
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 DHLOYd dA-ILTINN WOdA SNVYIL 66006% 06%C00T9
SHOUNOS ODNIODNVYNIA ¥HHIO <0
LOHTIOD JdHLOHTIOO HINOW STHL LADANd HINOW STHL LHEDANd
LNADYHAd % LNHOJHd OL dALDHTTIOD QIS IAHY OL JALOHTIOO IS IAHY
LNHIAND SYA LSYTI A LNHIEND SYA INHIAEND SYVYHA ISYT SIYYHA ILSYI
INTdd HIS HINWJOIAdd (LAIFTLVMAHY) TVAILOY OL 1LIDdANd
TIVLIHd - NOSIIVAWOD HANHAHY dNN4 dHILYM cvive:ct
¢ do¥d ONIAVHd 40 NMOL zzoz/9z/10

E 1L ;
Eeea.a. -
»hmmmdll,f/w\l
- ¥ =

-

=

—

=




9e

2 DSSSSDoId AT

#» Woxisbuy uoxeys Ag polieidusd - LIOJHI A0 ONH x»

99 0T vLZ'L9Z'€E €€°65C VIV Z0°ZTE’'8ET’'9 SY'Sv8‘6T8'6 S¥°069°92S'T 00°5s52’¢€62'8
TYIO0L dNYID

oe
o~

%L°99 0T ¥LT'LO9T'C €65 VIV 20 CIE’'8ET’9 Sy S¥8 ‘6186 S¥ 065°92S'T 00°GSZ‘€6T’'8
dHIVM TVYLOL
%6°00T 00" 0FT‘0T- 007009 00 0LL'OPT'T 00 0ET'TET’'T 00°005°00S 00°0£9°0€9
SHSN DONIDNYNIA ¥HHIO 60
%9°¢8 0T T09'T8T S0°696'¥5¢ 76 €SV '86F 60 "¥#20'S€0’'T 60" %Z0'586 007000 ‘0§
SHINLIANHIXH TVYLIdVYD 80
%L°0L 95 0%C'TLS 00°0 ¥ 60T'€0T’'T 00°0Se’'VLE’T 00°0 00°0Se‘bLE6'T
HOIAYHS 149ddd LO
%9° 19 ST 9¢L'TL8'T 82 06L ‘89S £€6°68L'6€6"T 9¢°9T¢'0L8 E 9€°990'T¥H 00°0GZ‘628'¢
SHSNHdAXH S0
%% 99 62°9¢8°25¢ 00°0 TL 88T°'95% 00°GZ0‘608 00°0 00°S5Z0‘608
SHI¥VIVS €0
dHIYM 0S¥%0
agsn % LEDANG HTIVIIVAY SHONTIGHNONT HIANEdXH dLX ILE3OANd dESIAEY SIKSLAY/SNYYL d0oddd¥ TUYNIDIYVO
1 JO sSe sssusdxd Io1eM L0 TTOTZ ¥o4d
@5A@uhﬂmi LI04dHEY 1LdOAdNd HIVA-OL-YVdHX woxjsbues
T 4

DNIAVHY A0 NMOL 0€:€T 2202/LZ/T0O




VA

osuadxg 2dA3 3unoooy
aosloxg

309 Lgo

bIo

2poOD Io3DBIRYD

poasIssay

d9VD

Azung 308lgo

Azobajed

00T /uoTSTAI(

Bpng tooyng

Axejabpng

00T9 pung

sniep PISTd SweN PIaTd
BIISITID PUTA

A 1SIeTIOP UOITITW 666 POSOXS STBIO0]/SIUNOWY
d :MSTA IeSATITINN
N :S3uswwoD H[ JBPUOTIJIIPPE SpnIoul
T :uortado 3ewIol TIR3I=Q
L *# 0d 10 # EP Ag 13109
A iSeTx3us br/qunous oul
A :S9Txjus 39bpng spniour
ZT/Tz0Z :I8d/Ik OL

T /020Z :I8d/ax woid
N :1Te39p Teuanol 3jutiag
N :ooueleg pung Spniourl
N :oxez se sj3sbpng snusasi juTad
A 13TPSID Se enueAsI jUTid
N :sbutpesy UOTISISA-SeNULASY 3JUTiId
N :3junowe uoT3iTsTnbex spniourl
A :sS30o0e Teq Ox9z ssaxddng

T :9pod piemiod Aixepd N :ooeds o1gnog

N :309[lgo 03 s3oneloxd 1710¥ T :adA3 zewxog
N :3junoonde TH TInJ 3IUTIJ

N UOTISISA QIW 3Iutad g :uoradraosep 3I0oYs I0 TINd JIUTIJ

L /TZ0Z :POTISad/Iesk X Afuo s1e3031 3UTIg

‘asbpng 3o 30 butpssoxs s3UNoOONE SSPNIOUTL

LI0dHY 1HDdNd HIVA-OL-UVHA
197313 3xodsy

N N 0 r oousnbag

N N 0 ¢ onusnbag

N X [ 7z oobusnbag

N X z T @ousnbeg

yeaxq obed Te30L # PI°Td
SNOILJO I¥Od=Y

vanuuhﬁm— IJOdEY I1EDAAd HIVA-OL-IVEA woxjsbues
z d DNIQVEY 40 NMOL 0€:€T 220OZT/LZ/T0O

= =

—
—




uuuuuuuuuuuuu

= == =
\\/.\\ -
.- -

e \\\\\\\W\/\Wl/\\!\il\w —
z =



6¢

% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 AXYI LWSY HSNOH/JIAMAS 120C TZ¥SLY SLVPT00ZO
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 AXYI LWSY HSNOH/JIAMAS 020C 0Z%SLY SLPTO0ZO
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 AXYI LWSY HSNOH/JIAMAS 6T0C 6T¥SLY SLVPTO0ZO
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 AXYI LWSY HSNOH/JAAMAS 8T0C 8TV¥SLY SLPT00ZO
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 AXYI LWSY HSNOH/JAAMAS LT0Z LIPSLY SLVPTO0ZO
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 X¥1 LNWSY HSNOH/¥AMAS 910Z 9T¥SLY SLPTO0Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 X¥1 LNWSY HSNOH/¥AMAS ST0Z ST¥SLY SLPTO0Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 X¥1 LNWSY HSNOH/¥AMAS ¥10Z ¥I¥SLY SLPTO0Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 X¥1 LNWSY HSNOH/¥AMAS €102 £I¥SLY SLPTO0Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 X¥1 LNWSY HSNOH/¥AMAS €102 ZT¥SLY SLPTO0Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 X¥1 LNWSY HSNOH/¥AMAS T10Z TT¥SLY SLPTO0Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 X¥1 LNWSY HSNOH/¥AMAS 0T0Z OT¥SLY SLPTO0Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 X¥L-LNWSY HSNOH/¥AMAS 600Z 60¥SLY SLFPTO0Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 XYL-LNWSY HSNOH/¥AMAS 800¢ 80¥SLY SLFPTO0Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 ¥ NI QIVd-IWSY HSNOH/JEMES 00%SLY SLFT00Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SANNA INVND HIVIS JHMAS 00009% 09¥T00Z9
% 0" 00" 00°0S€’e 00" 0oL’z 0 74 NOILOEISNI ¥AMAS 00ZZ€¥ 0€¥T00Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 AOVIAMAS MNVI JILJAS ¥HAMAS O¥¥0Cy 0€¥T00Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 DAS JO4 SHOYVHD SHHEA VAMAS 0000€¥ 0E¥T0O0Z9
% 0" 00" zo 8ve'se 00" 0 0 SNIAT MHIMAS 2207 ZZZ1Z¥ 0CYT00Z9
% 0" 00" TZ TIS LT 00" 685°T¢ 0 SNEIT ¥HIMAS T20Z TZZTZ¥ 0CFT00Z9
% 0" 00" 0T LEY 00" 0¥S ‘L 0 SNIAT ¥IMAS 0207 0ZZTZ¥ 0CFT00Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 08L'T 0 SNEIT MEMAS 6107 61CTC¥ 0CFPTO0Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNEIT ¥HMAS 8107 8ICTIZy 0CYT0O0Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNEIT ¥EMAS LT0Z LIZTIZY 0CFPTO0Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNEIT ¥EMAS 9107 91ZTZ¥ 0C¥T00Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNEIT ¥EMAS ST0Z STCIZy 0CFPT00Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNEIT ¥IMAS ¥10Z ¥ICTICy 0CFPT0O0Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNEIT ¥EMAS €107 £1ZT1Z¥ 0CFT00Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNEIT ¥EMAS Z10Z ZIZ1Z¥ 0CFT00Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNEIT ¥EMAS TT0Z TICIZy 0CFPT00Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNEIT ¥EMAS 0T0Z 0TZIZy 0CFPT0O0Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNEIT ¥IMAS 6007 60CTZ¥ 0CYT0O0Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNEIT ¥AMAS JOLOATIOD 800Z 80ZTZ¥ 0ZHTO0Z
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNAIT ¥AMAS JOLDATIOD L0O0Z LOZTZY 0ZHTO0ZO
% 0°0L ¢6°18 89°Z9L'€EL'Y  00°SZ9'Z9L'9 6¥0°'T8C‘'S  0S8'9%%’9 SHOAVHD HOVSN AAMHAS 002TZ% 0ZHT00Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SNEIT d4IM 800¢ 80TTZ¥ 0CFPTO0Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 ASIOXH/SHXVYL INI/NZd ¥IMAS 000LT¥ LIPTO0ZO
% 0" 00" L9°860'T¢ 00" 6e5‘2E 0 SHOWVHD ISHEIALNI ¥AMAS 009LT¥ O0T¥T0O0Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SHANSOTOHIOA XYL VAMAS 00S¥T¥ O0TFT0O0Z9
% 0" 00" YT €¥9°0T 00" S58°T 0 TEWAIQEY SNAIT XYL ¥AMAS 00C¥I¥ O0T¥T0O0Z9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 Y1 ALIHJONd QEINEAEA JEAMES 00SZTH O0THT00Z9
zz/92/1 17/1€/1

SANNAARI TO

LOITIOD JHELDETTION HLNOW STHL LEDANG HINOW SIHL LEDAng

INADIAd & INADIA 0l QAIDATION qESIAHTY 0l QALDHTIOD QESIAHY

INININD  S¥A ISVI YA INEIEND SYA INHIAND SYVHA LSYT SUVEA LSV

INT¥d #3S HINWJOIdd (LQUAMASAHY) TYALOVY OL ILADANG

TIVIEA - NOSIMYAWOD HNNIATM ANNA JAMAS AR 3 A
T E5¥d ONIQYHI A0 NMOL zz02/92/10




or

% STIL €L°¥8 ov-5z9’'zes’' ¥ 00°529°z9L’'9 €y9’'z8y’s 0s8’0LY'9 SHANHAHY TO TVYLOL
% 0 6V 1¢ ¥9°866°'T 00~ LSS L 000'¥%Z LSHIALNT ¥HMHS 000¢8% Z8VT00C9
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SAOOM NOSNHOL I®T dHMHS 09%¥8% 08F%T00Z9
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 Nd Sdo0oM ODNIAVHI IRI JdAMHAS 0S¥¥8% 08%¥T1T00C9
% 0 00~ 0¥ 5LS’9 00~ 888°STT 0 aNN4d JHdOTHAHd I ® I ¥HMHS 0¥¥¥8% 08F%T00CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 LIANHIXH dV¥HA JOIdd dNNAHY O0TO¥8% 08F%T0O0CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SLNHWASINIWIHY JddAMHAS 00508% 08%T1T00C9
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXVI LWSY ILAHYLS Z20C <Z9SL¥ SLPT00CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXVI LWSY ILAHYLS TZ0C TZ9SL¥ SLPTO0CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXVI LWSY ILAHILS 0C0C 0C9SL¥ SLPTO0CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXVIL IWSY ILHHILS 6T0C 6T9SL¥ SLPT00CS
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXVI LWSY ILAHYLS 8T0C 8T9SL¥% SLPTO0CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXVI LWSY ILAHYLS LT0C LT9SL¥ SLPTO0CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXVI LWSY ILAHILS 9T0C 9T9SL¥ SLPTO0CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXVI LWSY ILAHILS ST0C ST9SLF SLPTO0CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXVI LWSY ILAHYLS ¥T10C ¥FL9SL¥ SLPTO0CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXV.I LWSY ¥dHMHS <Z0C TZSSL¥ SLPTI00CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ cvT 0 SHXV.I LWSY dHMHS TZ0T TZSSL¥ SLPT00CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXV.I LWSY dHMHS 0Z0C 0CSSL¥ SLPT00ZCO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXVIL IWSY dHMHS 6T0C 6TSSLY SLPT00CS
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXV.I LWSY dHMHS 8T0C 8TSSL¥ SLPTO0CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXV.I LWSY dHMHS LTOC LTSSLY SLVPTIO0ZO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXV.I LWSY dHMHS 9T0C 9TSSL¥ SLPT00ZCO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXV.I LWSY ¥dHMHS ST0C STSSL¥ SLPTO0CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXV.I LWSY dHMHS %10 ¥TSSL¥ SLPTO0CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXV.I LWSY dHMHS €T0C €TS9SL¥% SLPT00ZO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXV.I LWSY ¥dHMHS <CT0C CTSSL¥ SLPTO00CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXV.I LWSY dHMHS TTO0C TTSSL¥ SLPTO0CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXV.I LNWSY dHMHS 0T0C 0TSSLP SLPTO0CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXVIL - IWSY dHMHS 600C 60SSL¥ SLPTO00CO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SHXV.I - LWSY ¥yHMHS 800C 809SL¥ SLPT00ZO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 HONVAQY NI dIVd-IWSY dHMHS 009S5L% SLPT00ZO
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 dXVI LWSY HSNOH/¥EAMHS ZZ0Z ZZV¥SLV SLPT00Z9
LOHTIOD JdHLOHTIOO HINOW STHL LADANd HINOW STHL LHEDANd
LNADYHAd % LNHOJHd OL dALDHTTIOD QIS IAHY OL JALOHTIOO IS IAHY
LNHIAND SYA LSYTI A LNHIEND SYA INHIAEND SYVYHA ISYT SIYYHA ILSYI
INTdd HIS HINWJOIAdd (LAIEMASAHYT) TVAILOY OL 1IDANd
TIVILHd - NOSIIVAWOD HNANHAHY dNN4 JHIMHAS CS:8VTT
¢ do¥d ONIAVHd 40 NMOL zzoz/9z/10

-




2%

% ©°9L S¥°1I8 9v-5z9’z88’g 00°5z9°'zT8 'L €¥9°L00'9 6T6°SLEL TYI0L
% 0°00T TO 89 00°000°050'T 00°000°050°T 000°szZS 690506 SHOYUNOS ONIODNVNIA ¥YHHIO <0 TVY.LOL
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 005’€ aNN4d TYIEHNED NI ¥H4X 00TL6¥ L6¥200C9
% 0°00T 00°00T 00°000°050'T 00°000°050°T 000°szZS 000°szZS dns and 40 HSYD HHIA JHMHS 06666% 06%C00C9
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 SNNINHId JTHAYHSHE ¥8666% 06¥C00C9
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 695°'9LE HIVS dNOd NO WNINWHId 00606% 06%C00C9
% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 DHLOYd dA-ILTINN WOdA SNVYIL 66006% 06%200C9

SHOUNOS ODNIODNVYNIA ¥HHIO <0

LOHTIOD JdHLOHTIOO HINOW STHL LADANd HINOW STHL LHEDANd
LNADYHAd % LNHOJHd OL dALDHTTIOD QIS IAHY OL JALOHTIOO IS IAHY
LNHIAND SYA LSYTI A LNHIEND SYA INHIAEND SYVYHA ISYT SIYYHA ILSYI
INTdd HIS HINWJOIAdd (LAIEMASAHYT) TVAILOY OL 1IDANd
TIVILHd - NOSIIVAWOD HNANHAHY dNN4 JHIMHAS CS:8VTT
£ dO¥d ONIAVHd 40 NMOL zzoz/9z/10

==

= =

=
= -
-




44

x»x WoIisbuy uoxeys Aq pojersusdH - LIOJHE A0 ANH xx
%€ %G L9°658°%99"¢ 9% 9LT'C6 T9°6LE'T9T Y L GT5’8T0’8 ¥.°068°'959% 00°629'295 L
TYLOL ANYD
%€ %G L9°658°%99"¢ 9% 9LT'C6 T9°6LE'T9T Y L GTS 8T0’8 ¥.°068'95% 00°G629'295 "L
YAMAS TYLOL

%0°00T 00°0 00°0 00°0S85°2TS 00°0S85°2TS 00°000°052 00°08S°29C

SHSN ONIODNVUNIL dHHIO 60
%L°0L 00°000"SL 0T " ¥¥L 8L 29°0€8°TOT 2L ¥LS'SST L ¥LS'08T 00°000°SL
SHINLIANAIXH TYLIdYD 80
ST 19 00°szE‘ZLE 00°0 00 050585 00°SLELSE 00°0 00°GLE’LSE
HOIAYES 19dd LO
3167 ZETLS6'TLE'T 9€°ZESET ¥€°9z8°958°¢ Z0°9TE‘Z¥8’S zo-9te’se 00°000“LT8'S
SHSNHdXH &0
G797 SETLLS'SPT 00°0 $9°2ZT'S0¢2 00°00L" 0S¥ 00°0 00°00L'0S¥%
SHIYUVIVS €0
dHEMES 0F%¥0
aasn % LEDANE HTEVIIVAY SHONVIEWNONE JIaANdIdXd dlLA LADANT HSTIAFY SIWSLAVY/SNYIL d0dddv TVYNIDINO

L0 ZZOoZ ¥od
zz/Lz/T 10 se sosusdxXd Ismsg

usnvuhﬁm— Idod=Ed 1E5and HIVd-OL-dVHEA woxjsbues
T d DNIQVEY 40 NMOL S0:%T 2Z0ZT/LZ/T0




154

osuadxg 2dA3 3unoooy
aosloxg

309 Lgo

bIo

2poOD Io3DBIRYD

poasIssay

d9VD

Azung 308lgo

Azobajed

00T /uoTSTAI(

Bpng tooyng

Axejabpng

0029 pung

sniep PISTd SweN PIaTd
BIISITID PUTA

A 1SIeTIOP UOITITW 666 POSOXS STBIO0]/SIUNOWY
d :MSTA IeSATITINN
N :S3uswwoD H[ JBPUOTIJIIPPE SpnIoul
T :uortado 3ewIol TIR3I=Q
L *# 0d 10 # EP Ag 13109
A iSeTx3us br/qunous oul
A :S9Txjus 39bpng spniour
ZT/Tz0Z :I8d/Ik OL

T /020Z :I8d/ax woid
N :1Te39p Teuanol 3jutiag
N :ooueleg pung Spniourl
N :oxez se sj3sbpng snusasi juTad
A 13TPSID Se enueAsI jUTid
N :sbutpesy UOTISISA-SeNULASY 3JUTiId
N :3junowe uoT3iTsTnbex spniourl
A :sS30o0e Teq Ox9z ssaxddng

T :9pod piemiod Aixepd N :ooeds o1gnog

N :309[lgo 03 s3oneloxd 1710¥ T :adA3 zewxog
N :3junoonde TH TInJ 3IUTIJ

N UOTISISA QIW 3Iutad g :uoradraosep 3I0oYs I0 TINd JIUTIJ

L /TZ0Z :POTISad/Iesk X Afuo s1e3031 3UTIg

‘asbpng 3o 30 butpssoxs s3UNoOONE SSPNIOUTL

LI0dHY 1HDdNd HIVA-OL-UVHA
197313 3xodsy

N N 0 r oousnbag

N N 0 ¢ onusnbag

N X [ 7z oobusnbag

N A z T @ousnbeg

yeaxq obed Te30L # PI°Td
SNOILJO I¥Od=Y

vanuuhﬁm— IJOdEY I1EDAAd HIVA-OL-IVEA woxjsbues
z d DNIQVEY 40 NMOL S0:%T 2Z0ZT/LZ/T0

= =

—
—




uuuuuuuuuuuuu

= == =
\\/.\\ -
.- -

e \\\\\\\W\/\Wl/\\!\il\w —
z =



Sy

% 6°TL SO0°€L 8¢°89F'S6¢ 00°8%£’05S 998'T10% S60°05S SHOANIATE T0 TYILOL
% 0° £€5°6¢ 00°50¢ 00" I8S5'T 000'% ONINIVH INAWLSHANI ¥IM WLS 000Z8% Z8%T00S9
% 0" 00" LE°8€8'T 00" 0 0 NAIIT IWOW JALYM WIOLS ZZ0Z ZZETIZ¥ 0ZFT00S9
% 0" 00" 8y veh 00" S¥s‘T 0 NAIIT IWOW JALYM WIOLS TZ0Z TZETZ¥ 0ZFT00S9
% 0" 00" ¥S° 1S 00" S¥S 0 NAIIT IWOW ¥HLYM WIOLS 0Z0Z OZETIZ¥ 0ZFT00S9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" ZST 0 NHIIT IWOW JALYM WIOLS 6T0Z 6TETZ¥ 0ZFT00S9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 NAIIT IWOW ¥ALYM WIOLS 8T0Z 8TETZ¥ 0ZFT00S9
% 0" 00" 00" 00" 0 0 NHIIT IWOW JALYM WIOLS LT0Z LTIETZY 0ZFT00S9
% 0° 00" 00" 00" 0 0 NAIIT IWOW JHLYM WIOLS 9T0Z 9TETZ¥ 0ZFT00S9
% 0° 00" 00" 00" 0 0 NHIIT IWOW JALYM WIOLS ST0Z STETZy 0ZFT00S9
% 0° 00" 00" 00" 0 0 NHIIT IWOW ¥ALYM WIOLS ¥T0Z ¥TETZy 0ZFT00S9
% 0° 00" 00" 00" 0 0 NHIIT IWOW JALYM WIOLS €T0Z E€TETZ¥ 0ZHT00S9
% 0° 00" 00" 00" 0 0 NAIIT IWOW ¥ALYM WIOLS ZT0Z ZIETZy 0ZHT00S9
% 0° 00" 00" 00" 0 0 NIIT IWOW JdHLYM WIOLS TT0Z TTETZy 0ZHT00S9
% 0° 00" 00" 00" 0 0 NAIIT IWOW JIALYM WIOLS 0T0Z OTETZ¥ 0ZHT00S9
% 0° 00" 00" 00" 0 0 NAIIT IWOW JALYM WIOLS 600Z 60£TZ¥ 0ZFT00S9
% 0° 00" 00" 00" 0 0 800Z SNHIT IWOW dIM WLS 80E£TZ¥ 0ZFT00S9
% 8°0L 8T CTL 95" T6L°68¢ 00 8%£’0SS 98T '¥6¢ S60°9%5 SHOWVHD IWOW dILM WLS 00£TZ¥ 0ZFPT00S9
% 0° 00" 00" 00" 0 0 IDXH/SAXYL INI/NZd ¥IM WLS 000LI¥ LTIFPT00S9
% 0° 00" Is"8%C’T 00" 6%L'T 0 SHOMYHD LSHIAINI ¥IM WIS 009LT¥ OTPT00S9
% 0° 00" 00" 00" 0 0 SHINSOTDHEIOA XYL ¥IM WIS 00SHPT¥ OTPT0O0S9
% 0° 00" 67808 00" SOT 0 QEWIIAEY SNAIT XYL dIM WLS 00ZFT¥ OTHPT00S9
% 0° 00" 00" 00" 0 0 ALIAd0dd dAIIHAEd dIM WIS 00SZTH¥ OTHPT00S9
zz/9z /1T ubnoaur TZ/1e/1T ubnoayn

T ) ) SHNNIATA TO

IDETIOD QELDATION HINOW SIHL Iaoand HINOW SIHL 135dndg

INIDIHd % INAD¥Hd 0L QALOATION aasIATA Ol QIIDHTIIOD QESIAHTY

INIIIND S¥A LSVY1 ¥A INEIEND SYA LNIIEND SYVEA LSVY1 S¥VHA ISVI

INI¥d HHS HIWJOIdd (ILALYMWISAHI) TYALOY OL 1A5dnd

TIVLAd - NOSIAVAWOD HANIAHY ANNA JHILYM WAOLS €TI6V:TT
T #5vd ONIQYHEd A0 NMOL zz0Z/9Z/T0

= - S— :,,,,,,,,,, ,
- - -
-




o

% 8°9L S0°1I9 8€°89%'S98¥ 00°8%€'0%9 998 '16% €TL’508 TYLOL

% 0°00T TC St 00°000°06 00700006 00006 8T9°s5¢ SHOYUNOS ODNIODNVNIA ¥YHHIO <0 TYLOL

% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 00zZ't aNN4d TYIHEHNED NI ¥HAX 00TL6¥ L6¥C00S9

% 0°00T 00°00T 00°000°06 00700006 00006 00006 Nnsdnd 4o HSYD dHdd dIM WIS 06666% 06%C0059

% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 8T% %9t HIVS dNOd NO WNINWHId 00606% 06%C00S9

% 0 00~ 00~ 00~ 0 0 DHLOYd dA-ILTINN WOdA SNVYIL 66006% 06%20059
SHOUNOS ODNIODNVYNIA ¥HHIO <0

LOHTIOD JdHLOHTIOO HINOW STHL LADANd HINOW STHL LHEDANd

LNADYHAd % LNHOJHd OL dALDHTTIOD QIS IAHY OL JALOHTIOO IS IAHY

LNHIAND SYA LSYTI A LNHIEND SYA INHIAEND SYVYHA ISYT SIYYHA ILSYI

¢ do¥d

s

—

===
- = =
———

INTdd HIS HIWJIOI¥d (ILAILVMWISAHY) TVAILOY OL 1IDdNd
TIVLIHAd - NOSIYVAWOOD HNANHAHY dNNd JdHIVM WIOLS
ONIAVHd 40 NMOL

€C6VTT

zzoz/9z/10



VA4

*009°'81$ ICoI BurtuTeRWSX
quswdAed 3sSIS3UT 0SSP SUC sSeY ATUC IS3BM WIOCIS

»» woxlsbuy uoieys Ag peieIduLd - LIOdHY 40 ANH x+

ZL ST 8LT'¥VFT 00°Z86°8LZ 0L°2S9°'¥%LE S8°ZT18°L68 S8 V9% ’LST 00°8%€’0%9
TYIO0L dNYID

oe
o«

%8 ¢CL ST 8LT'¥¥C 00°Z86°8LT 0L°2S9'¥LE S8°CI8‘L6ES S8 ¥9¥’LSC 00°8%€‘0%9
LNHNHOVNYN dHLYM WJIOLS TYLOL
%0°00T 00°0 00°0 00°0L6°'%0T 00°0L6°'%0T 00°0 00°0L6 70T
SHSN DONIDNYNIA ¥HHIO 60
%L°8L 00°000°SL TT 1EL'¥¥e 00°00T‘ZE 22 1e8'1IS¢ TZ TE8'9LT 00°000‘SLT
SHINLIANHIXH TVYLIdVYD 80
%e°498 £€2°009'8T 00°0 LLTLZO'80T 00°829°9CT 00°0 00°8Z9‘9CT
HOIAYHS 149ddd LO
A ARAY ¥8°902'6TT 87082 %€ T0°926°'09 £€9°¢8¢'F1IC £€9°¢€9'08 00" 0SL EET
SHSNHdAXH S0
%9°89 80 TLE'TE 00°0 26782989 00°000°00T 00°0 00°000‘00T
SHI¥VIVS €0
LNANHDOVNYIN dHLYM WIOLS 0L¥O
agsn % LEDANG HTIVIIVAY SHONTIGHNONT HIANEdXH dLX ILE3OANd dESIAEY SIKSLAY/SNYYL d0oddd¥ TUYNIDIYVO
L0 Z2T0Z ¥O4A
zz/Le/T 3o se sssusdxg Is3eM WICIS
ﬁdﬂﬁuhﬂmi LI04dHEY 1LdOAdNd HIVA-OL-YVdHX woxjsbues
T d

ODNIQVYHEY 40 NMOL 90:%T 220Z/LZ/10




514

osuadxg 2dA3 3unoooy
aosloxg

309 Lgo

bIo

2poOD Io3DBIRYD

poasIssay

d9VD

Azung 308lgo

Azobajed

00T /uoTSTAI(

Bpng tooyng

Axejabpng

0059 pung

sniep PISTd SweN PIaTd
BIISITID PUTA

A 1SIeTIOP UOITITW 666 POSOXS STBIO0]/SIUNOWY
d :MSTA IeSATITINN
N :S3uswwoD H[ JBPUOTIJIIPPE SpnIoul
T :uortado 3ewIol TIR3I=Q
L *# 0d 10 # EP Ag 13109
A iSeTx3us br/qunous oul
A :S9Txjus 39bpng spniour
ZT/Tz0Z :I8d/Ik OL

T /020Z :I8d/ax woid
N :1Te39p Teuanol 3jutiag
N :ooueleg pung Spniourl
N :oxez se sj3sbpng snusasi juTad
A 13TPSID Se enueAsI jUTid
N :sbutpesy UOTISISA-SeNULASY 3JUTiId
N :3junowe uoT3iTsTnbex spniourl
A :sS30o0e Teq Ox9z ssaxddng

T :9pod piemiod Aixepd N :ooeds o1gnog

N :309[lgo 03 s3oneloxd 1710¥ T :adA3 zewxog
N :3junoonde TH TInJ 3IUTIJ

N UOTISISA QIW 3Iutad g :uoradraosep 3I0oYs I0 TINd JIUTIJ

L /TZ0Z :POTISad/Iesk X Afuo s1e3031 3UTIg

‘asbpng 3o 30 butpssoxs s3UNoOONE SSPNIOUTL

LI0dHY 1HDdNd HIVA-OL-UVHA
197313 3xodsy

N N 0 r oousnbag

N N 0 ¢ onusnbag

N X [ 7z oobusnbag

N A z T @ousnbeg

yeaxq obed Te30L # PI°Td
SNOILJO I¥Od=Y

vanuuhﬁm— IJOdEY I1EDAAd HIVA-OL-IVEA woxjsbues
z d DNIQVEY 40 NMOL 90:%T 220Z/LZ/10

= =

—
—




uuuuuuuuuuuuu

= == =
\\/.\\ -
.- -

e \\\\\\\W\/\Wl/\\!\il\w —
z =



Town of Reading

Memo

To: Select Board Members
From: Sharon Angstrom, Finance Director/Town Accountant

Date: January 25, 2022

For the Select Board meeting on February 1, 2022, | have a couple of action

items | would like you to consider.

First, the Health Department recently requested $80k from FINCOM Reserves
to buy home COVID testing kits for distribution. Our ability to use CARES funds
ended October 31, leaving the Town with no funding for COVID-related
expenses as a meeting to discuss ARPA priorities has not been held yet. To
alleviate this situation, | am requesting an allocation of ARPA funding to cover
mitigation expenses until the ARPA committee meetings are held. My
suggestion would be to allocate $250k of ARPA funding for public health and

mitigation efforts so that funding is available in the interim.

Another critical point is currently, we have a $2 million BAN for the Auburn
Water Tank. Endri, the Town Treasurer, will need to know if ARPA funds will
be used by September 15, 2022. The BAN is due in December 2022, but we
need at least three months to arrange a borrowing if ARPA funds are not used

for this purpose.

50



| would also like to take a moment to point out that the Town Charter allows
for termination pay for the Town Manager for providing adequate time to find
a replacement. In this case, Bob provided more than six months' notice.

The Town Charter reads under Town Manager:

Upon termination of the Town Manager's appointment, whether voluntary or
otherwise, he may receive termination pay as determined by the Select Board
not to exceed 12 months' salary in total. To be eligible for this benefit upon
voluntary termination, the Town Manager should provide the Select Board a
minimum of sixty days' written notice of his intent to leave. This benefit shall
not be available if the Town Manager is terminated for cause.

If the Select Board decides to award this benefit, | will need to know how
much termination pay has been agreed on in advance of the April Town
Meeting to request adequate funding. The warrant for Town Meeting closes
on March 1, so a decision before that would be sufficient.

As a standard practice, | like to look at what was done in the past. The
research here was pretty light as we only had one prior Town Manager. |
researched and found that Peter Heckenbleikner was paid three months'
severance pay when he retired in June 2013. | have attached the June 19,
2012, minutes for your review.

51



Board of Selectmen Minutes — June 19, 2012 — page 7

The consensus of the Board was to keep the working group and add one more member
who has been subject to the conditions imposed by the bylaw.

Approve Amendments to Town Manager’s Employment Agreement - Ben Tafoya noted

that he and John Arena met with Gary Brackett and drafted this language as follows:

1. Severance Pay — He will receive three months salary at retirement and the
numbers are based on assumption of budgeted salary.

2. Vacation Time — He will receive five weeks prorated for next year which is equal

to 78 hours.

The Town Manager waives the right to sick leave payment.

The Town Manager waives compensatory time.

The Town Manager requests indemnification of any legal issues.

The Town Manager will assist in the transition of a new Town Manager.

S kW

John Arena asked if severance works into retirement pay and Bob LeLacheur indicated it
does not.

A motion by Schubert seconded by Bonazoli to approve the amendments to the
Town Manager’s contract with severance pay of $35,000 based on an annual salary
of $140,000 was approved by a vote of 4-0-0.

Establish Town Manager’s Salary FY13 — Ric hard Schubert noted that $140,000 is
higher than the 2% budgeted. It acknowledges professionalism of Peter Hechenbleikner
and this amount fulfills the reality of what the Town will have to pay a new Town
Manager. He had Carol Roberts research what other towns pay and Burlington pays their
Town Manager $160,000; Winchester $150,000 and Belmont is hiring between $140,000
and $160,000.

John Arena indicated he struggles with that amount and feels a disconnect of what we do
now and what happens in the future. He feels Mr. Hechenbleikner has done a competent
job but the question is what was done at the Annual Town Meeting.

James Bonazoli indicated he agrees with Selectmen Tafoya and Schubert and noted that
the Selectmen always felt that Mr. Hechenbleikner was underpaid. He would like to get
him where he should be and he doesn’t think we will be paying a new Town Manager
that amount of money because we won’t get anyone with his tenure.

A motion by Schubert seconded by Bonazoli to establish the Town Manager’s salary
for FY2013 at $140,000 was approved by a vote of 3-1-0 with Arena opposed.

Review 2012 Goals — This item was postponed.

Authorize Sale of Land — Ben Tafoya indicated he will vote against this because the
Town will be losing money and the Town needs green space. He feels the Town is
already absorbing a significant amount of housing.

52




1.3.3. Process for Fvaluating the Town Manager

The Select Board is responsible for approving overall goals, objectives and policy setting for the
Town to be discharged by the Town Manager within the constraints of the Reading Home Rule
Charter, and other applicable local Bylaws and Federal and State statutes and regulations. The
Board is also charged with conducting an annual review and evaluation of the Town Manager’s
performance.

1.3.3.1 Town Manager Contract

In accordance with Article 5.1 of the Reading Home Rule Charter, the Select Board hasentered
into a three-year contract with the Town Manager (see
hitps:/iwww.readingma.gov/administrative-services/human- resources/pages/contracts-

1.

There are a series of requirements stipulated in the contract for the annual evaluation:

* (Sec. V A)) The Board shall review and evaluate the Town Manager no later than
September 30 of each year..... Said review and evaluation shall be based on the goals and
objectives developed jointly by the Board and the Town Manager. Further, the Town
Manager shall be provided a summary written statement of the evaluation findings of the
Board and shall have an adequate opportunity to discuss individual comments with each
Board member in advance of a formal Performance Review.

* (Sec. V B.) Annually the Board and the Town Manager shall define the Town Manager
goals and objectives which they determine necessary for the proper operation of the Town
and the attainment of the Board's policy objectives, and shall further establish a general
priority among those various goals and objectives, said goals and objectives to be reduced
to writing. They shall generally be attainable within the time limits specified and within
the annual operating and capital budgets and appropriations provided by the Town and the
events that have occurred during the year.

= Per a recent court case, the method of collection of material used in the Town Manager’s
annual evaluation has been changed to comply with OML. Composite evaluations must
now be compiled by Staff, not by individual Select Board Members.

1.3.3.1. Process for Setting Town Manager Goals
The following guidelines and timetable are hereby established for setting annual and multi-

year goals for the Town Manager:

~  Prior to the end of the

Select Bo

arc Tor ¢

53



s and priorities.
= Between 5 and 10 of these goals shall be prioritized by the Town Manager.

» If multi-year goals are desired by both parties, they shall be split into multiple sub-goals
for each fiscal year, in a manner that allows progress on each year’s sub-goal to be
measured.

» These draft goals should be accompanied by a suggested set of metrics st
Town Manager by which the Select Board can measure progress toward the
accomplishment of each goal.

A and within the
& Town and the

° he goals shall generally b ainable within the time limits sy

d appropriations provided b

events that have ooourr

» The Select Board shall discuss, modify, and approve the Town Manager’s goals by August
30 March 1, to be ctive March 1 through February 28, annually.

» If a situation arises between—Septemberthrough-Deeember where the Town Manager or

Select Board decide that the approved goals for the current Eiseal “¥-year need tobe modified
or re-prioritized,

o The Select Board Chair will first meet with the Town Manager to discuss the
revisions

o The Town Manager will revise the goals and re-present them to the Select Board
for thelr approval ﬁet—l-a%er—t-haﬁ—Deeember—}G within thirty
the initial n 0 ‘

1.3.3.2. Process for Reviewing and Evaluating the Town Manager

The following guidelines and timetable are hereby established for the annual review and evaluation
of the Town Manager’s performance:

Development and Periodic Review of the Annual Evaluation Form

%w mm shall have an opportunity fc

54



Manager te shall submit a self-evaluation on a form provided by the Se

of the evaluation process.

3 i

i Aas—andJune ar—3 3
be-completed-notlaterthanJune30- The Board may assign this—werk the process review

to a Ssubcommittee who will hold public meetings on the subject.

The Town Manager review form shall contain the following elements, with a mixed
response style of numerical ratings and comments:

o Evaluation of progress toward meeting goals

o Setting and measuring of core competencies

o Measuring achievement of daily responsibilities

o Highlighting areas of “necessary professional growth”

Communication During the Year
The Town Manager shall review progress made toward achieving the goals with the Select

Board at least once every three months—with-afinal repert-on-geals-presented-to-the Board
notlaterthanJune 30-(end-of the Fiscal-Year).

55



= Consistent with the Town Manager’s contract, each member shall discuss any concerns

that they might have with the Town Manager in a timely manner. This feedback should
take the form of a meeting with the Town Manager and a representative of HR.

y oSt reye ew W O
H Levweend i the
L the Tewn of IIW

cluding but not limited (o more
‘ 1ths of a Town W

oy 16 ey toy bl
nesw Tovwn Wa

End of Year Review
» Each Board member shall complete and submit the approved evaluation form to designated
HR staff member no later than Awguast January 15.

* Individual Board members should keep their end—ef—year feedback professional and
respectful.

* Newly elected Board members should endeavor to complete as much of the evaluation
form as they feel competent to do. Their comments should address the Town Manager’s
performance only for the period of time they have been Select Board members.

o S-The designated staff member will collate the individual submissions into a composite
document that will be used in the evaluation.

» The Town Manager’s self-review--approved-by-the Board-as-a-part-of the-proeess; is also
due not later than Awenst January 15.

» During public meetings held to discuss the composite evaluation, the Board should focus
on common themes present in the composite evaluation.

» If a majority of Board members agree that remedial action is required by the Town Manager
in any area, the Board and the Town Manager will develop a separate plan of action and
may incorporate any required actions into the Town Manager’s goals that are being set for
the current Fiscal Year, in accordance with the timetable specified in Sec. 1.3.3.2.

~ Peesommed File

y

o A copy of the annual or multiyear g

15, the ﬁtr"‘m,ﬂw ual evaluation and composite evaluation

1 shall be

TI H T‘H YT mh M

Form s

ications to annual or multiyear goals shall be maintained in
ile

o Any progress

the Town T“‘m%ww

7S person m“w;;v:ﬂ {

56



1.3.4 — Town Manager Contract

The Select Board may approve a written contract with the Town Manager in accordance with
Article 5.1 of the Reading Home Rule Charter. This contract shall be available as a public

document.

Evaluation of the Town Man:

Strike all of

57



Authority

Reading ARPA Advisory Committee (RAAC) Charge

The Reading ARPA Advisory Committee is an ad hoc committee appointed by
the Reading Select Board.

Membership The RCPA Advisory Committee will have seven (7) members composed as

Purpose

follows:
» 2 Select Board Members (ex-officio, appointed by the Select Board)
* 2 Finance Committee Members (ex-officio, appointed by the Finance

committee)

* 2 School Committee Members (ex-officio, appointed by the School
Committee)

* 1 Board of Library Trustees Member (ex-officio, appointed by the Board
of Library Trustees).

In order to help the Committee carry out its purpose, the Select Board invites the
following staff will lend their professional guidance and advice to the Committee.

* Town Manager

= Town Accountant

» School Superintendent

= School Director of Finance

Administrative support will be provided by Town Hall staff (scheduling and
posting meetings, taking minutes, etc.)

The purpose of this Committee is to serve as an advisory Committee to the
Reading Select Board for the purpose of recommending allowed use of local and
county American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) grant funds to fund community
priorities.

The Committee shall gather input from its members and the broader community,
and shall consider in forming its recommendations inputs such as “free cash”
balances, current and future planned debt, the capital plan and potential additional
ARPA grants as may be available from the Commonwealth of MA.

The Select Board is empowered to authorize the expenditure of ARPA. While the
Select Board’s intent is for the Committee to provide guidance and direction
consistent with recovery of the effects of COVID, lost revenue and other allowed
uses under the provisions of the American Rescue Plan Act, the Select Board may

58



Deliverable

Sunset

Public Body

authorize the expenditure of these funds at any time and without consulting with
Committee.

The Committee shall begin its work by April 2022 and shall submit a list of
ARPA spending recommendations to the Select Board no later than October 31,
2022 unless another date is agreed to by the Select Board.

The Committee shall sunset on December 31, 2022 but may be extended by a
Select Board vote.

The meetings and deliberations of the Committee shall be subject to the Open
Meeting Law.

59



Draft Minutes — Select Board Subcommittees on Capital & Oakland Road
January 28, 2019
Berger Room

Present: Subcommittee members Vanessa Alvarado and John Halsey; members of the public Bill Brown,

Barbara Melanson and Maryellen O’Neill; Town Manager Bob LeLacheur
Ms. Alvarado called the meeting to order at 7:37am.

Ms. Alvarado asked the three members of the public if they wished to say anything? Ms. O’Neill said she
attended to hear about the general capital planning process, and that she thought Oakland Road should
be left alone as it is today. Mr. Brown mentioned that the capital planning process used to have more
volunteer participation. The Town Manager replied that he had been involved for the past 22 annual
budgets and had heard of a previous capital committee that may have been a subset of FINCOM, but
had not witnessed it during that time. It may have been that things changed once the Town Charter was
created? Ms. Melanson stated that she was there to listen.

Ms. Alvarado asked more about Oakland Road, and Ms. O’Neill asked if they would accept any more
public comment during the meeting. Mr. Halsey stated that this was not a public hearing and that those
present should feel welcome to speak at any time during the meeting.

Mr. Brown stated that currently the Select Board has the right to sell Oakland Road. Mr. Halsey
reviewed recent Town Meeting involvement and that the most recent set of Articles clearly did not give
the Board that authority, and further that the then Board told Town Meeting there would be a public
process for any proposed uses of the land, ultimately coming before Town Meeting where the Select
Board would formally request permission to see the land if that was the result of that public process.

Ms. Alvarado thanked the Town Manager for providing about five years or capital plans as she had
requested. Since capital by Charter is a part of every Warrant, this meant that there were two or more
capital plans per year (more when there were Special Town Meetings during a year). She mentioned
that she had seen a preview of the Recreation survey and was interested in what the Town planned to
do regarding a dog park, Killam school, and a senior/community center.

After a lengthy discussion about available land in town, Mr. LeLacheur agreed to have the GIS
Administrator produce a list of all public land. He noted that she had produced such information at the
request of the Permanent Building Committee over a year ago, and that it was unlikely that the basic
information had not changed much. When the subcommittee meets again, this information will be
provided.

Ms. O’Neill left the meeting at approximately 8:20am.

Ms. Alvarado and Mr. Halsey then spoke about the recreational/athletics need for additional space in
the community. Topics of discussion included the state of the turf fields, the need for replacing existing

60



field lighting and expanding lighting to other fields at Birch Meadow, and possible ideas about Symonds
Way as been recently discussed at a Select Board meeting. Mr. LeLacheur added that the change in the
school day at RMHS starting September 2019 would have an impact of field usage, especially during the
time of year when the daylight was shortest. He briefly reviewed work done with the School department
on the Turf Il project, and noted that as part of the capital plans distributed earlier that the final draft of
the Town Manager’s capital plan (and debt schedule) for FY20 that would shortly be sent to FINCOM as
part of the annual budget process was included. He offered to review it in as much detail as would be
helpful, and that only a few changes from the plan approved by November 2018 Town Meeting had
happened — and those were driven by FINCOM'’s stated desire to fund Turf |l repairs sooner that
previously planned.

Ms. Alvarado asked if the list of public land was consistent with what the School Committee reviewed
when looking at an Early Education Center, and Mr. LeLacheur replied that they probably requested a
certain size parcel and larger, and that it otherwise would be the same as the GIS Administrator had
provided that to them.

Ms. Alvarado mentioned that recreation and athletics should also consider the senior residents in the
community. Mr. Halsey stated that there had always been strong consideration for walking paths at
Birch Meadow exactly for that purpose — or for any ages — and he assumed that portion of the plans
would come out of the Recreation subcommittee. Ms. Alavardo noted another community had placed
some equipment such as stationary bikes in public places specifically for seniors to use.

Ms. Melanson said she would prefer the Select Board subcommittee focus on a senior/community
center as the real issue for those aging in place. She asked that some seniors be formally involved in that
discussion. Mr. Halsey wondered if the Board should establish an ad hoc committee, and the Town
Manager said another way would be to approach the Council on Aging to see what their interest was.
For example, they could set up a subcommittee for this purpose, similar to how Recreation approached
the Birch Meadow area. Both Mr. Halsey and Ms. Alvarado thanked Ms. Melanson for her comments
and agreed that this was a very good approach to the issue.

Mr. Halsey said that for Oakland Road, the elected boards for RMLD, the Schools and the Library should
be invited by the Select Board for a future discussion. It made little sense for the town to sell the parcel
if another town organization saw a need for land. Mr. LeLacheur quickly reviewed that RMLD was willing
to move from their current location, as they have been involved in economic development discussions
and meetings about the Walker’s Brook general area.

Mr. Halsey and Ms. Alvardo agreed that the next meeting should begin with the public land information
and maps, and at that the next meeting would wait until the Recreation survey results were public so
they could also be part of that next meeting.

On a motion by Mr. Halsey, seconded by Ms. Alvarado, the subcommittee adjourned at 9:05am.

Respectfully submitted,

61



Secretary

62



<

g, M W=

R ORMATION

32 fo
‘ "m’ & Engineers | Scientists | Planners

PARECORP.COM

July 29, 2014

Mr. Jim Jordan

Ai13 Architects, LLC
286 Boston Post Road
Wayland, MA 01778

Re:  Geotechnical Engineering Services
Proposed School Site
Oakland Road, Reading, MA
(PARE Project No. 13064.04)

Dear Mr. Jordan:

The following report presents the geotechnical data gathered by Pare Corporation (PARE) for the
proposed school site located on Oakland Road in Reading, MA. In accordance with our proposal, a
subsurface investigation consisting of one day of rock probes and one day of test pits was completed
in order to develop a bedrock elevation contour plan across the proposed site.

This letter report has been prepared in general accordance with our proposal and is subject to the
geotechnical limitations presented in Appendix B.

PARE understands that the site will be developed within the proposed footprint outlined in the
attached figures.

EXISTING CONDITIONS

The proposed school site is located along the east side of Oakland Road, to the south of Hillside Road,
and to the west of Grandview Road. The site is currently undeveloped and occupied by wooded and
vegetated land. The existing site area is relatively flat within the central portion of the site with
ground levels generally between El. 126 and El. 128. It has been reported that this area was filled
during the construction of the existing high school. To the north and south of this flat area, the
existing topography drops down to a low area then continually rises again to the north and south. To
the north of the flat filled area, the existing topography drops down to El. 120 and then climbs to El.
150 near the northern limits of the site. To the south of this flat area, the existing topography drops
down to El. 115 and then climbs to El. 140 at the southeast portion of the site and El. 165 at the
southwest portion of the site. Potential bedrock outcrops were observed at the high areas at the
northern and southern limits of the site, as identified on Figures 1 and 2 of this report.

v
10 LINCOLN ROAD, SUITE 103 FOXBORO, MA 02035 B BLACKSTONE VALLEY PLACE LINCOLN, RI 02865

T 508.543.1755 F 508.543.1881 T 401.334.4100 F 401.334.4108 63



e

Mr. Jim Jordan -2- July 29, 2014

SUBSURFACE INVESTIGATION

A subsurface exploration program, consisting of 11 rock probes (RP14-1 through RP14-11) and 8 test
pits (TP14-1 through TP14-8) were completed to provide information on the depth to bedrock at
accessible locations throughout the site and general information on the soils present. The test pit logs
are included in Appendix A and the rock probe and test pit locations are indicated on Figure 1:
Exploration Location Plan and Figure 2: Bedrock Elevation Contour Plan.

The rock probes were completed by Maine Drilling and Blasting of Milford, Massachusetts between
July 3 and July 8, 2014. The probes were advanced to bedrock using an Atlas Copco ROC D3 air
track drill rig. The sole purpose of the probes was to determine the depth to bedrock at accessible
locations throughout the site. PARE personnel provided coordination and field observation of the
explorations performed. PARE field personnel observed the drilling conditions, visually identified
the depths at which bedrock was encountered, and logged pertinent information.

The test pits were completed by Langone Bros. Landscaping, LLC of Wilmington, Massachusetts on
June 26, 2014. The test pits were advanced using a Caterpillar 315C excavator. PARE personnel
provided coordination and field observation of the test pits performed. PARE field personnel observed
the conditions during the explorations, visually identified and sampled all soil strata encountered, and
logged pertinent information.

The soil samples obtained during the test pit explorations were visually classified by PARE personnel
utilizing the Burmister Classification System. This system describes soil composition based upon the
percentage of soil particle size present by weight in the sample with the major soil particle size listed
first followed by other soil components described as “trace” indicating 0-10% by weight, “little”
indicating 10-20% by weight, “some” indicating 20-35% by weight or “and” indicating 35-50% by
weight.

The materials within the proposed site generally consist of a surface material of topsoil and/or woody
vegetation, overlying fill and/or native deposits, overlying Bedrock. The following are descriptions of
the soils and rock encountered at the site (from the ground surface down):

o SURFACE MATERIAL — The surface material encountered generally consisted of a 12 inch
topsoil/organic layer.

e FILL —FILL was encountered underlying the SURFACE MATERIAL with TP14-1, TP14-2,
and TP14-4. The depth of the FILL encountered ranged from 2.5 feet within TP14-2 to 12 feet
within TP14-4. The FILL consisted of fine to coarse GRAVEL with “no” to “and” amounts of
fine to coarse sand, “little” to “some” amounts of silt, and “trace” amounts of roots with some
areas of cobbles and boulders encountered within TP14-1 and TP14-2.

o NATIVE DEPOSITS — NATIVE DEPOSITS were encountered underlying the FILL within
TP14-1 and TP14-2 and encountered underlying the SURFACE MATERIAL within TP14-3,
TP14-5, TP14-6, TP14-7, and TP14-8. The depth of the NATIVE DEPOSITS encountered
ranged from O feet within TP14-4 to 11 feet within TP14-8. The NATIVE DEPOSITS

64



Mr. Jim Jordan -3- July 29, 2014

consisted of fine to coarse GRAVEL with “no” to “and” amounts of fine to coarse sand
2
“traces” to “some” amounts of silt, and “trace” amounts of roots.

e BEDROCK — BEDROCK was encountered within rock probes RP14-1 through RP14-6,
RP14-10, and RP14-11.

Detailed descriptions of the samples are indicated on the test pit logs provided in Appendix A.

A tabulated summary of the findings of the subsurface exploration completed has been provided
within Table 1: Subsurface Exploration Summary, included with this report.

The information obtained from the rock probes and test pits was plotted onto a topographic plan of the
site, and together with the outcrops observed on the site was used to estimate the elevation of bedrock
across the site. It should be noted that the rock contours are based on a limited number of data points
across the site (as the number/location of rock probes and test pits was limited by trees and steep
slopes on the site), therefore the rock contours shown on Figure 2: Bedrock Elevation Contour Plan
are approximate.

We trust this report addresses your geotechnical needs for this project. Please contact us at (508) 543-
1775 if you have any questions or comments.
Sincerely,

PARE CORPORATION

Ml_¢ A

Matthew Dunn Simon McGrath, P.G.
Engineer Senior Project Engineer

J. Matthew Bellisle, P.E.
Senior Vice President/Project Reviewer

65



Mr. Jim Jordan -4 -
Enclosures:

Figures and Tables:
Table 1: Subsurface Exploration Summary
Figure 1: Exploration Location Plan
Figure 2: Bedrock Elevation Contour Plan

Appendices:
Appendix A: Test Pit Logs
Appendix B: Geotechnical Limitations

e

July 29, 2014

66



TABLES AND FIGURES

67



TABLE 1:- SUBSURFACE EXPLORATION SUMMARY

Apprex.
Ground Appreximate Depth te Top of Stratum (FT)
Surface
Exp l;;')ation General Location Elevation
Feet) | (Stratum 1y | Straem 2) BEDROCK Depth of Exploration
FILL NATIVE
DEPOSITS Depth Elevation Depth Elevation
RP14-1 Southwest 141.36 NM NM 15.0 126.4 19.0 122.4
RP14-2 South 142.51 NM NM 18.0 124.5 18.5 124.0
RP14-3 Southeast 145.47 NM NM 16.0 129.5 16.5 129.0
RP14-4 East 132.65 NM NM 17.0 115.7 19.0 113.7
RP14-5 East 114.03 NM NM 14.0 100.0 14.0 100.0
RP14-6 Central 123.20 NM NM 22.0 101.2 22.0 101.2
RP14-7 West 126.79 NM NM NE NE 30.0 96.8
RP14-8 East 126.88 NM NM NE NE 30.0 96.9
RP14-9 West 127.11 NM NM NE NE 26.0 101.1
RP14-10 North 120.28 NM NM 7.0 1133 16.0 104.3
RP14-11 North 125.72 NM NM 9.0 116.7 14.0 111.7
TP14-1 West 127.28 1.0 5.0 NE NE 12.0 1153
TP14-2 West 126.51 1.0 35 NE NE 12.0 114.5
TP14-3 Northwest 127.48 NE 1.0 NE NE 12.0 115.5
TP14-4 East 126.73 1.0 NE NE NE 13.0 113.7
TP14-5 East 115.44 NE 1.0 NE NE 12.0 103.4
TP14-6 Central 129.96 NE 1.0 8.0° 122.0 8.0 122.0
TP14-7 Southwest 138.44 NE 1.0 10.0" 128.4 10.0 128.4
TP14-8 Southeast 145.79 NE 1.0 NE NE 12.0 133.8

a) Excavator refusal. Possible bedrock or large boulder. NM = Not measured

b) Based upon bedrock elevations encountered within the rock probes, refusal is most likely a boulder. NE = Not encountered
NOTES:

1. Elevations based upon survey plan received from CHA Consulting, Inc. dated 07/17/2014. Vertical datum of plan received was NAVD 88.

2. Test pits were performed on June 26, 2014 by Langone Bros. utilizing a 315C Caterpillar excavator. PARE personell observed the explorations and
logged the stratums encountered.

3. Rock probes were performed between July 3, 2014 and July 8, 2014 by Maine Drilling and Blasting utilizing a ROC D3 Atlas Copco drill rig. PARE
personell observed the explorations and logged the depth of bedrock encountered.

68



PARE CORPORATION

s

soE ST

SLIASNHIVSSVIN ‘ONIOVAY
AvVOd NVTAVO

HLIS TOOHIS dd504d0dd

REWSIONS,

PROJECT N30

DATE:
SCALE

EDBY:

DESIGNED BY:
[ CHECKE:
DR BY:
[aFPROVED BY.

EXPLORATION
LOCATION PLAN]

E NG,

FeGuR

69

i

&

ﬁ

=

=

—

=
=

=

=

NOTES

EX\\\\
LEGEND

INC.

ELEVATION DATA AND BEDROCK OUTCROP LOCATIONS ARE
BASED UPON A PLAN TITLED "EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN"

17=80"%

SCALE:

EXPLORATION LOCATION PLAN

ROCK PROBES COMPLETED BY MAINE DRILLING AND
BLASTING OF MILFORD, MA. BETWEEN JULY 3, 2014
AND JULY 8, 20t4. PROBES WERE OBSERVED BY

PARE CORPORATION PERSONNEL.

$R?14—!

DATED JULY 17, 2014 PREPARED BY CHA CONSULTING,

OF NORWELL, MA 02061.

LANDSCAPING, LLC OF WILMINGTON, MA. ON JUNE
26, 2014, TEST PITS WERE OBSERVED BY PARE

TEST PITS COMPLETED BY LANGOME BROS.
CORPORATION PERSONNEL.

P14t

BEDROCK ELEVATION

B.E.




SLIASNHIVSSVIN ‘ONIOVAY
AvVOd NVTAVO

HLIS TOOHIS dd504d0dd

REWSIONS,

PROJECT N30
DESIGNED BY:
[ CHECK

DATE:
SCALE

EDBY:

DR BY:

E NG,

BEDROCK ELEV]
CONTOUR PLAM

FeGuR

70

‘H\WW“WHH

N

ﬁ

i )
(i
i

g
i

.%' ;

)

=

NOTES

LOCATIONS ARE

BASED UPON A PLAN TITLED "EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN"

ELEVATION DATA AND BEDROCK OUTCROP

1.

BEDROCK ELEVATION CONTOUR PLAN
SCALE: 17=80'%

ROCK PROBES COMPLETED BY MAINE DRILLING AND
BLASTING OF MILFORD, MA. BETWEEN JULY 3, 2014

$R?14—!

AND JULY 8, 20t4. PROBES WERE OBSERVED BY

PARE CORPORATION PERSONNEL.

INC.

DATED JULY 17, 2014 PREPARED BY CHA CONSULTING,

OF NORWELL, MA 02061.

BEDROCK CONTOURS ARE APPROXIMATE AND BASED ONLY ON

THE BEDROCK ELEVATIONS ENCOUNTERED WITHIN THE ROCK
PROBES AND THE BEDROCK OUTCROPS WITHIN THE SURVEY

PLAN PROVIDED BY CHA CONSULTING, INC.

2.

LANDSCAPING, LLC OF WILMINGTON, MA. ON JUNE
26, 2014, TEST PITS WERE OBSERVED BY PARE

TEST PITS COMPLETED BY LANGONE BROS.
CORPORATION PERSONNEL.

P14t

BEDROCK ELEVATION

B.E.




APPENDIX A:
Test Pit Logs

71



PARE CORPORATION TEST PIT NO. TP14-1

10 LINCOLN ROAD, SUITE 103, FOXBORO, MASSACHUSETTS

ENGINEERS ok SCIENTISTS ok PLANNERS SHEET _1 _OF _1
PROJECT  Oakland Road Site - Reading, MA PROJECT NO. 13064.04
CHKD. BY SJM
CONTRACTOR  Langone Bros. LOCATION SEE EXPLORATION LOCATION PLAN
FOREMAN Rick GROUND SURFACE ELEVATION 12728 DATUM NAVD 88
ENGINEER E. Press DATE START 6/26/2014 DATE END 6/26/2014
MAKE CAT GROUNDWATER READINGS
MODEL 315C DATE | TIME | WATERAT | CASING AT STABILIZATION TIME
CAPACITY 6/26/14 | 10:00 NE N/A 0 Hrs.
REACH
OPERATOR _Rick
SAMPLE DESCRIPTION
T GROUND
= EXCAVAT | BOULDERS WATER
U g| EFFORT | CONT/CLASS | REMARKS ELEV. Burmister CLASSIFICATION PID READING
1 £ Topsoil
5 £ A Moist, dark brown, BOULDERS, trace fine gravel, trace silt, trace fine to coarse sand, trace
roots. (FILL)
3 E A
4 E A
5 E A
6 E
Moist, tan, fine to coarse GRAVEL and fine to coarse SAND, little silt, trace roots. (NATIVE DEPOSITS)
7 E
8 E
9 E
10 E
1 E
12 E
N.E.
END OF EXPLORATION @ 12' +/- (SCHEDULED DEPTH)
BOULDER CLASS TEST PIT PLAN  |EXCAVATION EFFORT ABBREVIATIONS BURMISTER CLASSIFICATION
DESIGNATION SIZE F FINE
A 6" TO 18" E EASY M MEDIUM TRACE 0-10%
B 18" TO 36" M MODERATE C COARSE LITTLE 10 - 20%
C 36" & UP D DIFFICULT \% VERY SOME 20 - 35%
F-M FINE TO MEDIUM AND 35 - 50%
F-C FINE TO COARSE PERCENT BY WEIGHT
VOLUME = CU.YDS
REMARKS:

|TEST PIT NO. TP14-1

(4




PARE CORPORATION

10 LINCOLN ROAD, SUITE 103, FOXBORO, MASSACHUSETTS

TEST PIT NO. TP14-2

ENGINEERS ok SCIENTISTS ok PLANNERS SHEET _1_OF _1
PROJECT  Oakland Road Site - Reading, MA PROJECT NO. 13064.04
CHKD. BY SJM
CONTRACTOR  Langone Bros. LOCATION SEE EXPLORATION LOCATION PLAN
FOREMAN Rick GROUND SURFACE ELEVATION 12651 DATUM NAVD 88
ENGINEER E. Press DATE START 6/26/2014 DATE END 6/26/2014
MAKE CAT GROUNDWATER READINGS
MODEL 315C DATE | TIME | WATERAT | CASING AT STABILIZATION TIME
CAPACITY 6/26/14 | 11:00 NE N/A 0 Hrs.
REACH
OPERATOR _Rick
SAMPLE DESCRIPTION
T GROUND
= EXCAVAT | BOULDERS WATER
U g| EFFORT | CONT/CLASS | REMARKS ELEV. Burmister CLASSIFICATION PID READING
1 £ A Topsoil
5 £ A Moist, dark brown, fine to coarse GRAVEL, some silt, some fine to coarse sand, trace
roots, trace boulders. (FILL)
3 E A
E
4 A
E
Moist, brown, fine to coarse GRAVEL and fine to coarse SAND, some silt, trace roots. (NATIVE
5 E DEPOSITS)
6 E
7 E
8 E
9 E
10 E
1 E
12 E
N.E.
END OF EXPLORATION @ 12' +/- (SCHEDULED DEPTH)
BOULDER CLASS TEST PIT PLAN  |EXCAVATION EFFORT ABBREVIATIONS BURMISTER CLASSIFICATION
DESIGNATION SIZE F FINE
A 6" TO 18" EASY M MEDIUM TRACE 0-10%
B 18" TO 36" MODERATE C COARSE LITTLE 10 - 20%
C 36" & UP DIFFICULT \% VERY SOME 20 - 35%
F-M FINE TO MEDIUM AND 35 - 50%
F-C FINE TO COARSE PERCENT BY WEIGHT
VOLUME = CU.YDS
REMARKS:
|TEST PIT NO. TP14-2

5]




PARE CORPORATION
10 LINCOLN ROAD, SUITE 103, FOXBORO, MASSACHUSETTS

TEST PIT NO. TP14-3

ENGINEERS ek SCIENTISTS ok PLANNERS SHEET _1_OF _1

PROJECT  Oakland Road Site - Reading, MA PROJECT NO. 13064.04
CHKD. BY SJM

CONTRACTOR  Langone Bros. LOCATION SEE EXPLORATION LOCATION PLAN
FOREMAN Rick GROUND SURFACE ELEVATION 12748 DATUM NAVDSS
ENGINEER E. Press DATE START 6/26/2014 DATE END 6/26/2014
MAKE CAT GROUNDWATER READINGS
MODEL 315C DATE | TIME | WATERAT | CASING AT STABILIZATION TIME
CAPACITY N.E.
REACH
OPERATOR _Rick

SAMPLE DESCRIPTION

- GROUND
= EXCAVAT | BOULDERS WATER
U g| EFFORT | CONT/CLASS | REMARKS ELEV. Burmister CLASSIFICATION PID READING
1 £ A Topsoil
2 E A Moist, orange, fine to coarse GRAVEL and fine to coarse SAND, little silt, trace roots, trace boulders.
(NATVE DEPOSITS)
E A
3
E A Moist, tan, fine to coarse GRAVEL and fine to coarse SAND, little silt, trace roots trace boulders.
4 E A (NATIVE DEPOSITS)
E A Moist, gray/tan, fine to coarse GRAVEL, some fine to coarse sand, trace silt, trace roots. (NATIVE
DEPOSITS)
5 E
6 E
7 E
8 E
9 M A - - - -
Moist, gray/tan, fine to coarse GRAVEL, some fine to coarse sand, trace silt, trace roots, trace boulders.
(NATIVE DEPOSITS)
10 M A
11 M B
12 M B
N.E.
END OF EXPLORATION @ 12' +/- (SCHEDULED DEPTH)
BOULDER CLASS TEST PIT PLAN  |EXCAVATION EFFORT ABBREVIATIONS BURMISTER CLASSIFICATION
DESIGNATION SIZE F FINE
A 6" TO 18" EASY M MEDIUM TRACE 0-10%
B 18" TO 36" MODERATE | COARSE LITTLE 10 - 20%
c 36" & UP DIFFICULT  |v VERY SOME 20 - 35%
F-M FINE TO MEDIUM AND 35-50%
F-C FINE TO COARSE PERCENT BY WEIGHT
VOLUME=  CU.YDS
REMARKS:
|TEST PIT NO. TP14-3

4




PARE CORPORATION TEST PIT NO. TP14-4

10 LINCOLN ROAD, SUITE 103, FOXBORO, MASSACHUSETTS

ENGINEERS ek SCIENTISTS ok PLANNERS SHEET _1 _OF _1

PROJECT  Oakland Road Site - Reading, MA PROJECT NO. 13064.04
CHKD. BY SJM

CONTRACTOR  Langone Bros. LOCATION SEE EXPLORATION LOCATION PLAN
FOREMAN Rick GROUND SURFACE ELEVATION 12673 DATUM NAVD 88
ENGINEER E. Press DATE START 6/26/2014 DATE END 6/26/2014
MAKE CAT GROUNDWATER READINGS
MODEL 315C DATE | TIME | WATERAT | CASING AT STABILIZATION TIME
CAPACITY N.E.

REACH

OPERATOR Rick

SAMPLE DESCRIPTION
I GROUND
N EXCAVAT | BOULDERS WATER
U g| EFFORT | CONT/CLASS | REMARKS ELEV. Burmister CLASSIFICATION PID READING
1 £ Topsoil
2 E
Moist, brown, fine to coarse GRAVEL and fine to coarse SAND, little silt, trace roots. (FILL)
3 E
4 E
5 E
6 E
7 E
8 E
9 E
10 E
11 E
12 E
13 E
N.E.
END OF EXPLORATION @ 13' +/- (SCHEDULED DEPTH)
BOULDER CLASS TEST PIT PLAN  |EXCAVATION EFFORT ABBREVIATIONS BURMISTER CLASSIFICATION
DESIGNATION SIZE F FINE
A 6" TO 18" E EASY M MEDIUM TRACE 0-10%
B 18" TO 36" M MODERATE |C COARSE LITTLE 10 - 20%
c 36" & UP D DIFFICULT |V VERY SOME 20 - 35%
F-M FINE TO MEDIUM AND 35-50%
F-C FINE TO COARSE PERCENT BY WEIGHT
VOLUME=  CU.YDS
REMARKS:

|TEST PIT NO. TP14-4

5]



PARE CORPORATION TEST PIT NO. TP14-5

10 LINCOLN ROAD, SUITE 103, FOXBORO, MASSACHUSETTS

ENGINEERS ek SCIENTISTS ok PLANNERS SHEET _1_OF _1

PROJECT  Oakland Road Site - Reading, MA PROJECT NO. 13064.04
CHKD. BY SJM

CONTRACTOR  Langone Bros. LOCATION SEE EXPLORATION LOCATION PLAN
FOREMAN Rick GROUND SURFACE ELEVATION 11544 DATUM NAVD 88
ENGINEER E. Press DATE START 6/26/2014 DATE END 6/26/2014
MAKE CAT GROUNDWATER READINGS
MODEL 315C DATE | TIME | WATERAT | CASING AT STABILIZATION TIME
CAPACITY N.E.
REACH
OPERATOR _Rick

SAMPLE DESCRIPTION

- GROUND
g EXCAVAT | BOULDERS WATER
U g| EFFORT | CONT/CLASS | REMARKS ELEV. Burmister CLASSIFICATION PID READING
1 £ Topsoil
2 E Moist, brown/tan, fine to coarse GRAVEL and fine to coarse SAND, little silt, trace roots. (NATIVE
DEPOSITS)
3 E
4 E
5 E
6 E
7 E
8 E Moist, brown/tan, fine to coarse GRAVEL and fine to coarse SAND, little silt, trace roots. (NATIVE
DEPOSITS)
9 E
10 E
11 E
12 E
END OF EXPLORATION @ 12' +/- (SCHEDULED DEPTH)

BOULDER CLASS TEST PIT PLAN  |EXCAVATION EFFORT ABBREVIATIONS BURMISTER CLASSIFICATION
DESIGNATION SIZE F FINE

A 6" TO 18" EASY M MEDIUM TRACE 0-10%

B 18" TO 36" MODERATE C COARSE LITTLE 10 - 20%

C 36" & UP DIFFICULT \% VERY SOME 20 - 35%
F-M FINE TO MEDIUM AND 35 - 50%
F-C FINE TO COARSE PERCENT BY WEIGHT

VOLUME = CU.YDS
REMARKS:

|TEST PIT NO. TP14-5

43




PARE CORPORATION TEST PIT NO. TP14-6
10 LINCOLN ROAD, SUITE 103, FOXBORO, MASSACHUSETTS
ENGINEERS ok SCIENTISTS ok PLANNERS SHEET _1 _OF _1
PROJECT  Oakland Road Site - Reading, MA PROJECT NO. 13064.04
CHKD. BY SJM
CONTRACTOR  Langone Bros. LOCATION SEE EXPLORATION LOCATION PLAN
FOREMAN Rick GROUND SURFACE ELEVATION 12006 DATUM NAVD 88
ENGINEER E. Press DATE START 6/26/2014 DATE END 6/26/2014
MAKE CAT GROUNDWATER READINGS
MODEL 315C DATE | TIME | WATERAT | CASING AT STABILIZATION TIME
CAPACITY N.E.
REACH
OPERATOR _Rick
SAMPLE DESCRIPTION
T GROUND
= EXCAVAT | BOULDERS WATER
U g| EFFORT | CONT/CLASS | REMARKS ELEV. Burmister CLASSIFICATION PID READING
1 £ A Topsoil
Moist, orange fine to coarse SAND, some fine to coarse gravel, some silt, trace boulders. (NATIVE
2 E A DEPOSITS)
3 E A
4 E A
Moist, brown/tan, fine to coarse SAND, some fine to coarse gravel, some silt, trace boulders. (NATIVE
5 E A DEPOSITS)
6 E A
7 E A
8 E A
N.E.
END OF EXPLORATION @ 8 +/- (BUCKET REFUSAL)
BOULDER CLASS TEST PIT PLAN  |EXCAVATION EFFORT ABBREVIATIONS BURMISTER CLASSIFICATION
DESIGNATION SIZE F FINE
A 6" TO 18" EASY M MEDIUM TRACE 0-10%
B 18" TO 36" MODERATE C COARSE LITTLE 10 - 20%
C 36" & UP DIFFICULT \% VERY SOME 20 - 35%
F-M FINE TO MEDIUM AND 35 - 50%
F-C FINE TO COARSE PERCENT BY WEIGHT
VOLUME = CU.YDS
REMARKS:
|TEST PIT NO. TP14-6

rf




PARE CORPORATION
10 LINCOLN ROAD, SUITE 103, FOXBORO, MASSACHUSETTS

TEST PIT NO. TP14-7

ENGINEERS ek SCIENTISTS ok PLANNERS SHEET _1 _OF _1

PROJECT  Oakland Road Site - Reading, MA PROJECT NO. 13064.04
CHKD. BY SJM

CONTRACTOR  Langone Bros. LOCATION SEE EXPLORATION LOCATION PLAN
FOREMAN Rick GROUND SURFACE ELEVATION 13844 DATUM NAVD 88
ENGINEER E. Press DATE START 6/26/2014 DATE END 6/26/2014
MAKE CAT GROUNDWATER READINGS
MODEL 315C DATE | TIME | WATERAT | CASING AT STABILIZATION TIME
CAPACITY N.E.
REACH
OPERATOR _Rick

SAMPLE DESCRIPTION

- GROUND
g EXCAVAT | BOULDERS WATER
U g| EFFORT | CONT/CLASS | REMARKS ELEV. Burmister CLASSIFICATION PID READING
1 £ Topsoil
2 E
3 E Moist, brown/tan, fine to coarse SAND, some fine to coarse gravel, some silt, trace roots. (NATIVE
DEPOSITS)
4 E
5 E
6 E
7 E
8 E
9 M
10 M
N.E.
END OF EXPLORATION @ 10" +/- (BUCKET REFUSAL)
BOULDER CLASS TEST PIT PLAN  |EXCAVATION EFFORT ABBREVIATIONS BURMISTER CLASSIFICATION
DESIGNATION SIZE F FINE
A 6" TO 18" EASY M MEDIUM TRACE 0-10%
B 18" TO 36" MODERATE | COARSE LITTLE 10 - 20%
c 36" & UP DIFFICULT  |v VERY SOME 20 - 35%
F-M FINE TO MEDIUM AND 35-50%
F-C FINE TO COARSE PERCENT BY WEIGHT
VOLUME=  CU.YDS
REMARKS:

TP14-7

ITEST PIT NO.

&5




PARE CORPORATION
10 LINCOLN ROAD, SUITE 103, FOXBORO, MASSACHUSETTS

TEST PIT NO. TP14-8

ENGINEERS ek SCIENTISTS ok PLANNERS SHEET _1_OF _1

PROJECT  Oakland Road Site - Reading, MA PROJECT NO. 13064.04
CHKD. BY SJM

CONTRACTOR  Langone Bros. LOCATION SEE EXPLORATION LOCATION PLAN
FOREMAN Rick GROUND SURFACE ELEVATION 14579 DATUM NAVD 88
ENGINEER E. Press DATE START 6/26/2014 DATE END 6/26/2014
MAKE CAT GROUNDWATER READINGS
MODEL 315C DATE | TIME | WATERAT | CASING AT STABILIZATION TIME
CAPACITY N.E.
REACH
OPERATOR _Rick

SAMPLE DESCRIPTION

- GROUND
g EXCAVAT | BOULDERS WATER
U g| EFFORT | CONT/CLASS | REMARKS ELEV. Burmister CLASSIFICATION PID READING
1 £ Topsoil
2 E Moist, brown/tan, fine to coarse SAND, some fine to coarse gravel, little silt, trace roots. (NATIVE
DEPOSITS)
3 E
4 E
5 E
6 E
7 E
8 E
9 E
10 E
11 E
12 E
END OF EXPLORATION @ 12' +/- (SCHEDULED DEPTH)
BOULDER CLASS TEST PIT PLAN  |EXCAVATION EFFORT ABBREVIATIONS BURMISTER CLASSIFICATION
DESIGNATION SIZE F FINE
A 6" TO 18" EASY M MEDIUM TRACE 0-10%
B 18" TO 36" MODERATE | COARSE LITTLE 10 - 20%
c 36" & UP DIFFICULT  |v VERY SOME 20 - 35%
F-M FINE TO MEDIUM AND 35-50%
F-C FINE TO COARSE PERCENT BY WEIGHT
VOLUME=  CU.YDS
REMARKS:

ITEST PIT NO.

TP14-8

[




APPENDIX B:
Geotechnical Limitations

80



e

GEOTECHNICAL LIMITATIONS

Explorations

1. The analyses and recommendations submitted in this report are based in part upon the data obtained
from subsurface explorations. The nature and extent of variations between these explorations may
not become evident until construction. If variations then appear evident, Pare Corporation (PARE)
should be asked to reevaluate the recommendations of this report.

2. The generalized soil profile described in the text is intended to convey trends in the subsurface
conditions. The boundaries between strata are approximate and idealized and have been developed
by interpretations of widely spaced explorations and samples; actual soil transitions are probably
more erratic. For specific information, refer to the test pit logs.

3. Water level readings have been made in the drill holes at the times and under the conditions stated on
the test pit logs. These data have been reviewed and interpretations have been made in the text of this
report. However, fluctuations in the level of groundwater may occur due to variations in rainfall,
temperature, and other factors occurring since the time the measurements were made.

Review

4. In the event that any changes in the nature or location of the proposed building are planned, the
conclusions and recommendations contained in this report shall not be considered valid unless the
changes are reviewed and the conclusions of this report are verified in writing by PARE. PARE
should also be provided with the opportunity for a general review of the final design and
specifications in order that the earthwork and foundation recommendations may be properly
interpreted and implemented in the design and specifications.

Construction

5. PARE should be retained to provide soil engineering services during construction of the excavation
and foundation phases of work in order to observe compliance with the design concepts,
specifications, and recommendations and to allow design changes in the event that subsurface
conditions differ from those indicated prior to the start of construction.

Use of Report

6. This report has been prepared for the exclusive use of Ai3 Architects, LLC for specific application to
the proposed school site located on Oakland Road in Reading, Massachusetts in accordance with
generally accepted engineering practices. No other warranty, expressed or implied, is made.

7. This engineering report has been prepared for this project by PARE. This report is for design
purposes only and is not necessarily sufficient to prepare an accurate bid. Contractors wishing a copy
of this report may secure it with the understanding that its scope is limited to design considerations
only.

81



28 b zeoziLe

sz e . g = = " N ° - 4 ; .o
pesp swes solg  ¢ZGL'LEL 9YOr 6V 987 Svy  6G60C 1 3 n N 0 d 4 o} AN NOILYAYISNOD 20 Buipesy 10 umo |
ol 8 620 620 996 8109 1 ) n N 0 N 4 o) 107 avoy NYNg100 20 Bupesy Jo umo
Gl v ££Gly 1L 86T 1 ) n N | d 4 o) dINVMS ¥VAID  SBA  HS-SOQ 20 Buipesy 10 umo
v ovel ey 68LLL 1 ) n N | d 4 o) dINVMS ¥YAIO  S8A  HS-0a 20
¥ - She ®L e = i 0 N o N 4 o SIOiTlHYY oo | .
“Aejpwad puz POopA Woy dems pue % 2o Ll €svBl 0z 4 n N 0 d 4 o} MOQVIN Fuve 20 Buipesy 10 umo |
‘posp awes JHS R OHS OSTY  vG'ES 16 009 L 69Tl OvS 1 ) d N | d 4 g MOQVIN I¥vE  S9A JOMTS0A 20 Buipesy 10 umo
'PoSp BWes JHS B 9HS OSTY 160G 15 2078 79 €8Tl OvS 1 ) n N | d 4 g MOQVIN I¥vE  S9A JOMTS0A 20 Buipesy 10 umo
‘JHSBOHSOSTV 95 15 ZveT 88 0G6FlL Ov-5'0Z-S H ) d N | d 4 g MOQVIWN JdvE  S9A 4OMT-80a 20 Bupesy Jo umo
‘IHSBOHSOSTV 26 15 ol €65 Gvil 0v-s 1 ) n N | d 4 g MOQVIN 3¥vE  S9A JOMTS0a 20 Buipesy 10 umo |
SPoHS O8IV 6F s W sdlel - ors J_ = 0 N i . | =~ MOGVIN ive S8 0 JOoNTSOT o -
‘pspawes JHS R OHS OSTY LI 16 68€  GGEZL  Ov-S'0Z-S H ) d N | d 4 g MOQvaAN JdvE  S9A JOMT-80a 20 Bupeay Jo umo
'PoSp SWeS JHS B 9HS OSTY  /6'96'G8 96 \L 8lsTL OvS H ) d d | d 4 g MOQVIN I¥vE  S9A JOMTS0A 20 Buipesy 10 umo
‘IHSBOHSOSTV 9/ z5 LL gsvBl 0z 1 ) n N | d 4 g MOQVIN I¥vE  S9A JOMTS0A 20 Buipesy 10 umo
‘1G-1G 8 0G-/G se obed oogewes o 16 29 1 3 d N | d 4 g MOOYIN NOSHIANY  SSA 4OMT-800 20 Buipesy Jo umo
g6is Do o pal pel © o & 3 5 0 i 0 - 4 5 5] 6 568 e S0 U
00/8Z/11 OO O} paLiajsued} ‘Sj xe | v 09 Iy 1 ) n 0 d 4 0 1S NIVIN HLYON 440 #/09 20
‘00 0} JojsUel} PUSWWOOSY Sj X8l /9 14 Ziy 0z-8 W ) n 0 N 4 o NYIHOMNY SLNEY 29/GY 20 Bupesy Jo umo
00/8Z/L1 OO O} paliajsuel ‘Spsxel 9Ll 4 8eZ Gl-s 1 ) n 0 d 4 o} QY $TDMUNLS 440 9L Ly 20 Buipesy 10 umo
16 6 9l 0z-8 1 o n 0 d E o} NIQHON 20 Bupesy Jo umo
NVA Z} 1 ONIH3g £6/6€
62 B2 = o 0 6 o -~ =  NBGHON NVA O BEBE -
00/8Z/L1 OO O} paliajsuel SphXel Gyl 8¢ 1 ) n 0 d 4 o} Q¥ NYNE100 440 GrL/ge 20 Buipesy 10 umo |
00/8Z/L1 OO O} paliajsuel ‘SpsXel  ggl 8¢ 005 1 ) n 0 d 4 O 4NMNEI0D 40 aN3 8Elk/gE 20 Buipesy Jo umo
UoISINIPANS 1Q SIIAY 4O Hed se pasejsuell gyl ve 201 W o n 0 d 4 o) A AMAM 440 sphive 20
00/8Z/11 Mdd 3 00 O} JsUel} ‘SpBXel /6 £z 191 1 4 n 0 d 4 4 1S WITVS 440 26/6T 20
00/ggiil Do ojpelaisiB Sl el o = 86 1 o 0 o d — d G ISHANVH o Beee oo .
00/8Z/LL OO O} palisjsue SplXel 4 £Z 18 1 d n N 0 d 4 E QY YOV 440 ¥2/ET 20 Buipesy 10 umo |
00/82/11 OO O} paLiajsuel} SplXel 612 AR AN 920 00¢ 1 d n N 0 d 4 E Q¥ LSIANVYH 440 6LZ/ET 20 Buipesy 10 umo
00/8Z/L1 OO O} paliajsuel ‘Spixel £l €2 60 260 €01 1 4 n N 0 d 4 o) 1S WIVS 440 €bbigz 20 Bupesy Jo umo
00/8Z/L1 OO O} paligjsuen spy Xl Ol £z 1o 110 181 1 d n N 0 d 4 4 QY MOVAL 440 0LEZ 20
e e ; - 5 ey o o - Qi dooNBNOT o -
00/8Z/LL OO O} paliojsuen spyxel 6l 8l 900 900 1 d n N 0 d 4 4 QY MOVAL 440 6181 20 Bupeay Jo umo
uoposjord /| vl oLl 691 0 0 W ) n N 0 N E o QOOMONOT 440 LIk 20 Buipesy 10 umo
10 [9AS] 3 OO O} PaLBISUE] 41 03UD
| €l 80 170 178 99g6 pul 1 4 n N 0 d 4 o) JAINA MooHE 20 Bupesy Jo umo
SUTHTYM 440 Ligh
00/8Z/L1 OO O} paliajsuel ‘Spsxel /gl L 190 290 8 G165 Gl-s 1 4 n N 0 d 4 o) ay 20 Bupesy Jo umo
JOOMTIONM 440 8L/LL
SINTWWOD[ Lo1 dvIN [S34OV] 390V | 39vd | 009 | ONINOZ [ WVILNTLOd| NO | 39v1S | $5300V 16 NOIL | SS300V [ 3sodadnd JWVYN 3LIS ATOANI] INVED | 939VNYI YINMO
sI9 | ssassv NOIL  [iLianoo ALMigvsial 31o1LaY | -0310ud | oand | A¥vIRd vao3
-vI¥OIY 40 13A31

100d = d ‘Uled =4 ‘poo9 =9 ‘ua||eax3=7 :uolupuod

padopaspun=n ‘padoieaeq Alleiled=d ‘padoleasd= :ebelg

UMOUNUN=N ‘|qISS329Y JON=N ‘9|qISS800Y Allelled=d ‘9]|qISSa0dy AlInd=d :$$020y A}l 1

umouqUN=N ‘SUON=N ‘pajwi=T ‘Anpdiad=d :uol}oa}0id Jo |9AT

UMOUNUN=M ‘SS8298 2|gnd ON=N ‘PaHWIT="T ‘ss39%€ 21jgnd |Ind=4 :$$822Yy dl|gnd

umousuN=N “%eul0=0 ‘Alddng Jejepa=AA ‘UolieaIoaY =y ‘[enHND/IeOLOISIH=H ‘[0JjU0D POO|d=d ‘UOHBAISSUOD=] ‘UOIJeAISSUOD B UoNeaIoay =g ‘ainynouby=y :esodind Arewnd

dipy-Jle5=HS-80Q ‘Pun4 UOIRAISSUOD JSJeAA B PUBT=4DAT-SOQ ‘Welbold uonisinboy pue Jajinby=y1y-43Q :ueln

‘1daq JereAA=aMA ‘SSIIWIWOD 153104 UMO] =4 ‘}deQ [00UYIS=|00UdS ‘UOISIAIQ 93y B S3Hed=3ed ‘AlLoyiny eualy 82| Bulpeay =a3] ‘UoISIAI] ASloWRD=WaD ‘UoISSIWIWOD UojeAIasuoD=00 :Jebeuepy

€10e
VIN ‘ONIav3ay
1S3Y3LNI NOILVYIHOIY ANV NOILVAYISNOD 4O SANVT 40 AYOLNIANI




eoeiiel

€8
sdynw  ££'2Z  04Ge Gl-s H 5] a d 0 1 El o MHvd MOAvIW HOYIg Aed Buipesy jo umo]
posp | S10| Z/L Z “TVILYVd 9G/L¥ VI 95 vg 34 G9'L (854 63LL1L or-s 3 a A 0 d El q YNIYVY 301 HNvESNg 9| Buipesy jo umo]
szh'eL'lL TS 66°L 88 [o°5i4% 5] a d 5] d El H AYILIWIO ANI AOOM wap
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, it - - e > 4 = % = 5 5 S — S ,
spasp +Z 'sjolG  €iLLLB0L OF ‘v €v Ol 8.'8 9GC 28€8 Gl-s 9] ad d 0 d El El AYILIWIO NITO LSTHOS Buipesy jo umo]
¥GL'e9'l9 e 9Ll IvTZ 0 0 02-8 5] a d 0 d 4 H AY3L3IWID waD Buipesy jo umo]
NAVYT STTIVHO
5] GC 116 81°G 89 £8021 0z-s 1 9] n N 0 d El o) HIAY YNOry3gve3IAYX 00 Buipesy jo umo]
60 260 acL Gl-s 1 El n 0 d El 133418 MOTTIM 00
¢ g0l 000 e s I 5 0 0 o 4 S L oo .
8Ll [1%4% 182 cLogh Gl-s 1 El n I d El AYVYNLONYS a¥ig NIM3IHL S8A  HS-80d 00 Buipesy jo umo]
abed g 300q umouyun ‘sjo| a|dniNy +1:1921 G LgoLL  16'8SL 0 0 or-s 1 5] n N l d El o] dAVMS ¥vd30 HLNOS S8A  HS-S0d 00 Buipesy jo umo]
25 '0g Gy 8e'8 6l'¢ G0Sg Leeie 0z-s W 5] d N 0 d El o] SAOOM IDAITS S8A  HS-80d 00 Buipesy jo umo]
pasp | sieoed g A% GC el 000 G 8¥9ZL 0z-s 1 5] n N 0 d El o] H3IAN 00 Buipesy jo umo]
YNOry3gav/NvHIIHS
o 9% e see o W o d N o o - = STOOM ¥ s Buipecy
69 e 160l 120l f«43 1 5] n N 0 d n M 1430 ¥31IVAWAYAT Buipesy jo umo|
Gy [4] 99'¢ 99'¢ 89 1 5] n N 0 d El o) OTvy3IND Buipesy jo umo]
GeT 14 ve'e ozo 801 1 5] n N 0 d El q 1304vd NVYINLId Buipesy jo umo]
spasp ¢ 'sjo| G glh:zigele 9l ‘Ll LZ9l 29 W 5] d d l d El o] FTYAINId S8A  HS-S0d
Hvd sy avi v e e 3 5 " N ° - d < ANV ]
0174 e 18°1 1 5] n N 0 d El 1304Vd SIHYOW
8¢ 62 600 1oL 1 5] n N 0 d El o] ALYIdO¥d ISIHILNOW Buipesy jo umo]
J1 Jo ped jses| Je 1oy 86'98 9G 80C jeier4 3 ad d 0 d El el YIHVY NOILYAYISNOD S8A 00 Buipesy jo umo]
pled xieules ainjejsibs| ajels "pasp | ‘sio| 2 YHILLVIN
- BeAISUoS Bilig 10 vied i g o wae H d i o 4 SHOOM NORIVI = BUipeoy Jo Umo
Spesp € 'sloly 2§05 9.8l ve8l [ hl [5) n 0 d 4 ANV1 NYONO 20 Buipesy Jo umo L
® STINWOS ‘1ITTIVIA
00/8Z/11 DD 0} palisjsuel) ‘Bjip xe | 9l 7l [ oL'g £€0¢ ha45%4 0z-s W 5] d N 0 d El El YIHVY NOILYAYISNOD 00 Buipesy jo umo]
AOOMDNOT
‘ealy uojeAlssuoD Jolig Jo Led a0l 96 680 680 GBE ocly W 5] d l d El o] 31IS TN ANNOd SO 00 Buipesy jo umo]
G0L'09'6G LS'GP  0G'.€ | 7N GZs ta2x4% W 5] d l d El o] SAOOM NYIHOUNH S8A  HS-S0d 00
- , 156 e oy gl 3 5 " ° - g - SHooM Ny IHBEAY e |
12 [45 106 26’8 o] £Gock W El n N 0 d El o] ALY3d0O¥d SNIDDIH 00 Buipesy jo umo]
uopoajold g [0.4UOD H23UD 29 Gy 17¢ Lo'¢ f«43 [45c 04 0z-s W El n N 0 d El o] ANVT MIIAONOC 40 AN 00 Buipesy jo umo]
“uolisinboe 9002 9 [0} 13543 Lol vl GClly 0z-s 1 5] n N 0 d El o] MOAvYIW IONIAING S8A V1IV-d3d 00 Buipesy jo umo]
16 14 659 ¥ Gov 008el Gl-s 1 5] n N 0 d El o) OZN30Ia jo0] Buipesy jo umo|
SINIWWOD 101 dYIN |STHOVY| STUOV | 39vd | MOOE | ONINOZ | T¥ILNILOd NO JOV1S | SS3O0VY 16 NOIL $$300V | 3sOdind JWVN 3LIS ATOANI| LNVYD HIOYNYIN HINMO
SI9 $S3SSY NOIL ILIANOD ALMIEYSIA| 37211V | -O310dd | 2IM9nd | AdYIINd v3io3a
“Y3Y03y 40 713A31

100d = d ‘Uled =4 ‘poo9 =9 ‘ua||eax3=7 :uolupuod

padopaspun=n ‘padoieaeq Alleiled=d ‘padoleasd= :ebelg

umouUN=N ‘2|qISSe0Y JON=N ‘2|qI55900Y Alleled=d ‘8]qISsa0oy Allnd=4 85029y AN

umouqUN=N ‘UoN=N ‘paywi=T ‘Anpdiad=d :uoljoajoid jo _w>w._
UMOUNUN=M ‘SS8298 2|gnd ON=N ‘PaHWIT="T ‘ss39%€ 21jgnd |Ind=4 :$$822Yy dl|gnd

umouwiuN=N “PYO=0 ‘Alddng Jojepi=AA ‘UoleaIooy =y ‘[eIn)IND/edL0ISIH=H ‘[0JJUCD POO|4=o ‘UOKRAISSUOD=D) ‘UOIRAISSUOD B UOREaIday =g ‘anynouby=y :esoding Arewnd

dRU-HES=HS-SDQ ‘PUN UOIRAIBSUOD JOJBAA B PUBT=4DAT-SDQ ‘WelBold Uoksinboy pueT Japnby=y1y-43Q ueis
‘Jdoq JoreM=CAA ‘SSRILILIOD 1580 UMO] =41 *}daq [00UdS=[00UdS ‘UOISIAI] 98 B Sied=ed ‘AlLouiny eus.y 92| Buipesy=a3] ‘UoISIAIQ ARIPWRD=WS) ‘UOISSIUWOD UOReAISSUOD=00D :tebeuepy

€10e

VIN ‘ONIav3ay

1S3Y3LNI NOILVYIHOIY ANV NOILVAYISNOD 4O SANVT 40 AYOLNIANI



ve € zeoziLe

5 6 o 51 o086 s W ) d 7 - - i
A1 lle ‘pssp awes 0Z/0G ‘€/05 ‘7/6Yy v &Y 669 Gl'g 0L IbbS 0z-s W ) d d | d 4 o) 153404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umoL
P33P BWesS £/6 B /6T 'CL/Cy € 34 2L 168 1465 W ) d d | d 4 o) 183404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umoL
s 4 000 G ¥8ZL 1 ) n | d 4 o) 183404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umo
54 54 000 1219 W ) d | d 4 o) 183404 NMOL 41
o o ive 1igs = ) 0 i d 4 = ISHEOd Vo1 g
18 s L9k 05) 0zh  £55LL 0z-s W ) d d | d 4 o) 1S3404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umoL
9 54 £5°G 1oy 78e  2920L 0z-s 1 ) n N | d 4 o) 183404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umo
6l 05 656 09'0 ey LEsLL 0z-s H 4 a A 0 1 4 o TO0HOS |00yog Buipesy Jo umo
AYVINIWIT3 NI AOOM
gl 05 8 000 ey LEsLL 0z-s H 4 a d | 1 4 o TO0HOS |00yog Buipesy Jo umo
AYYINIWIT3 NI AOOM
Spespy R epeels lzel s W gige gps 0 d W oS
67205 0ZGL /6% 80 5L 9l8sZ  GIS H 3 a A 0 1 4 o SRS Bupeay Jo umo
paap | ‘sjol vz L 092 zeL 665  €0LL Gl-s H ) a d 0 1 4 S TOOHOS AMYINIWT 13 [o0yds Buipesy Jo umo
NOL¥3 YNHSOr
6l 54 e 8z [ 1288 0z-s H 4 a d 0 1 4 S TOOHOS AMYINIWT 13 [o0yds Buipesy Jo umo
WYITIM M
16 €€ 630l 060 WS bS8 Gl-s H 4 a d 0 1 4 o T00HOS [o0yds Buipesy Jo umo
317aqlw 39aI1002
= 5o o sl Bl gles Sis - g ootps
- MOAVIINHO:
[ Gl 29/ 99’2 ES €16 0z-s H ) a d 0 1 4 o TOOHOS AMYINIWT 13 |o0yos Buipesy Jo umo
SMOXYYE H'Y
'saul| Jamod Joj pasesio Ajled ol [e74 ¥5'Z w9 €80Tl W d n N 0 N N o S3NIT¥IMOd aTNY atwy Buipesy Jo umo
8 1e 00’} £v9  LpOLlL 1 4 N 0 4 o Q¥ AVMISNYD 440 8/Le atwy Buipesy Jo umoL
4 1e 610 99 LpollL 1 4 N 0 4 o Q¥ AVMISNYO 440 p/Le atwy Buipesy Jo umoL
e o bod e | - 5 N 0 N o - = sl 66 O B
[4 9l 1£G 0£'0 9%e  TlGL Gl-s H ) a d 0 1 4 o MV¥d NOLONIHSYM ed Buipesy Jo umo
88 4 8lL 8¢, 8 4 Gl-s H ) a d 0 1 4 o Mivd $398NLS ed Buipesy Jo umoL
>4 ze 851 <84 16e  LL€9 Gl-s W 4 n N 0 N 4 ! Al¥3dowd ed Buipesy Jo umo
SNIDDIH OL 1X3aN
spesp £ 10z 'Sole  GG'ZGZBYZ 827 0ETh 1S Ty Gl-s ) a d 0 1 4 o MMvd TVIMOWIN ed Buipesy Jo umo
spesh esjole vl e ay ooz otas s 5 g o o 3 4 = o e ey Buipesy 6 o
62 1L 010 /9  9Gbz  A'sng ) a d 0 1 4 H Mavd W13 ed Buipesy Jo umo]
SINIWWOD[ 101 dVIN [S3HOV| S3AOV | 39Vd | X008 | ONINOZ [ IVILINILOd| NO | 39VLS | $5300V 16 NOIL | S$S300V | 3sodand JWYN 3LIS ATOANI[ LNVED | §3OVNVI ¥3NMO
slo | ssassv NOIL  [ILIaNOD ALIIEYSI| 310ILYY | -03L0¥d | oand | AYIRd vio3
-y3403y 40 713A31

100d = d ‘Uled =4 ‘poo9 =9 ‘ua||eax3=3 :uol

padoeaspun=n ‘padolaasq Alleiled=d ‘padojpasa=Q :

UMOUUN=N ‘S|qISS329Y ION=N ‘3|qISS800Y Alleled=d ‘9]qISSaody Alind=4 :$8822y A} 1

umouqUN=N ‘SUON=N ‘pajwi=T ‘Anpdiad=d :uol}oa}0id Jo |9AT

umouuUN =N ‘sS899e d1jdNd ON=N ‘Paliwi=" ‘ssaode oljgnd [IN4=- :$8990y 2l|gnd

umousuN=N “%eul0=0 ‘Alddng Jejepa=AA ‘UolieaIoaY =y ‘[enHND/IeOLOISIH=H ‘[0JjU0D POO|d=d ‘UOHBAISSUOD=] ‘UOIJeAISSUOD B UoNeaIoay =g ‘ainynouby=y :esodind Arewnd
dipU-HeS=HS-50Q ‘PUNH UOHEAISSUCD JaJeA B PUBT=4DMT-5D0 ‘Welbold uoksinboy pueT Joinby=y1y-430 Juess

I 09y ¥ Sxed=)ed ‘Auoyiny eualy 39| Buipesy =99| ‘UoISIAI] AlsjoWaD=WaD ‘UOISSIWWOD UojealasuoD=00 :ebeuep

€10e
VIN ‘ONIav3ay
1S3Y3LNI NOILVYIHOIY ANV NOILVAYISNOD 4O SANVT 40 AYOLNIANI

‘Jdog JoreAM=CAA ‘SSRILILIOD 1580 UMO] =41 *}daq |00UYdS=|00UdS ‘UO



cg v 2z0ziLTL
41 skes 4SO ‘M skes YINYO 4L z 67 109 6L 168 1SS 0c-s 1 9 n N b d E M MOQVIW am Buipesy Jo umoy
skes dSO ¢ paep sues ¢/6Y B Z/67 SE/EY MOV AIHANNH
‘dLskes  zy er €T L£T oer 8955 0c-s 1 9 n N b d E M MOQVIW am Buipesy Jo umoy
dSO ‘M shes YYD ‘6e/ey Se paap suwes MOV AIHANNH
‘41 shes dSO ‘aM skes YYD LY v wZT  6CT vl z2ss 1 9 n N b d E M MOQVIW am Buipesy Jo umoy
MOV AIHANNH
: shes. op 5y fee e oect = N - o M NOavA Qs
dSO M SASS STD ¢l/6Y 5P Posh sues ROV a3HaN |
‘dLskes &g er  Orv  96¢ oy 8995 0c-s 1 9 n N b d E M MOV am Buipesy Jo umoL
dSO ‘M shes YYD ‘Zr/ey se psap suwes MOV AIHANNH
‘dLshes 4SO AM €€ ey €67b  GLLL [SE LSS 0c-s H 3 d d b d E M 3LIS LNV LINIWLYIHL am Buipey Jo umoL
skes YINVO ¢pasp sWes ¢/6y 3 2/6v EE/Er HILVM ¥IWHO4
9k s 2T leT vGl  Geosz 028 1 9 n b d E o 153404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umoL
Sl S5 Tl 067 6v90Z 02 1 9 b d 4 M 1STYOINMOL  S9A VIv-d3d 41 Buipesy Jo umoL
[GbEsepeepsiig - ¢ % G asn épbel i 5] I o q = J 9 Buipeey jo o]
L S SbZh 8Tk 28204 W 9 d b d E o 153404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umoL
'L/0G Se pesp BueS 6T 05 €T 2T 6l €6vll 1 9 N b d E o 153404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umoL
8z 05 9 000 8 98yl 1 9 N b d E o 153404 NMOL 41 Buipeay Jo umoy
‘€/gG Se pespaues /T 05 vl sy ze6et 1 9 N b d E 0 153404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umoL
e - o g eerl 7 9 N - d o 5 issi Vel ¢ Blipey o
4 05 /6¢ k44 6l €gGlL 1 9 N b d E o 153404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umo
vz 05 @y 8l LIV ) 1 9 n N b d E o 153404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umoL
€z 05 9zt  0£0 sol  elelk  02S 1 9 n N b d E o 153404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umoL
6/6Y Se pesp awes 7T 05 v 0c-s 1 9 n N b d 4 o 153404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umoL
iz s 281 s 3 ) N 7 o - - IsRjod NvoE i Bu
4L Ile \pa3p BWes 0z/05 ‘€/0G ¥/6y 0T 05 G6Gy €CGy  80L  bbS 0z-s W 9 d d b d 4 o 153404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umoL
! 05 6T ST gty geell  0zS 1 9 n N b d E o 153404 NMOL 41 Buipeay Jo umoy
9k 05 885 119 lzb egGll  02S 1 9 n N b d E o 153404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umoL
‘62/0G Se posp 2ules L 05 €9t  69E lze  eerll  0zS 1 9 n N b d E o 153404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umoL
G g tee s oy s o i 9 i
v 05  ¥8€ 000 Srz G995 0c-s 1 9 n N b d E o 153404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umoL
o3P BWes 0Z/05 ‘€/0G ‘#/6Yy € 05 605 020 8L Ib¥S 0c-s 1 9 n N b d E o) 1STHO4 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umoL
oL 67  ¥60 €60 00 b 0c-s 1 9 n N b d E o 153404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umoy
L 67 19T w2 0 0 0c-s W 9 d d b d E o 153404 NMOL 41 Buipesy Jo umoy
SINZWWOD[ 1O1 dvW [S38OV| SOV | 39vd | YOO8 | ONINOZ [ VIINGLOd| NO | 39VIS | $S300V 16 NOIL [sS300V [ 3sodynd IWVN 3LIS ATOANI] INVHD |H3IOVNVW ¥INMO
s19 | ssassv NOIL  |ILIANOD ALIIEYSIA| 3T0ILYEY [ -D3L04d | Jnand | AuviiNd v3oa
-v3¥o3y 4013A31

‘Jdog JoreAM=CAA ‘SSRILILIOD 1580 UMO] =41 *}daq |00UYdS=|00UdS ‘UO

100d = d ‘Uled =4 ‘poo9 =9 ‘ua||eax3=3 :uol
padoeaspun=n ‘padolaasq Alleiled=d ‘padojpasa=Q :
UMOUUN=N ‘S|qISS329Y ION=N ‘3|qISS800Y Alleled=d ‘9]qISSaody Alind=4 :$8822y A}

umouqUN=N ‘UoN=N ‘paywi=T ‘Anpdiad=d :uoljoajoid jo _w>w._

umousUN =N ‘SS9998 21|qnd ON=N ‘PaHWI=T

‘'ssa00e 2lignd [IN4=4 :$$829Y dl|gnd

umouwiuN=N “PYO=0 ‘Alddng Jojepi=AA ‘UoleaIooy =y ‘[eIn)IND/edL0ISIH=H ‘[0JJUCD POO|4=o ‘UOKRAISSUOD=D) ‘UOIRAISSUOD B UOREaIday =g ‘anynouby=y :esoding Arewnd
dipy-418S=HS-500 ‘PUN UOIBAIBSUOD JSJeAA B PUBT=4DMT-600 ‘Weibold uolisinboy pueT Jeyinby=yTy-d3a uesn

I 99y Syed=stied ‘AlLoyiny eualy 89| Bulpeay =92] ‘uol

I ABJPWRD=WSD ‘UOISSIUWIOD UORBAISSUOD=0D :tebeuely

€10e
VIN ‘ONIav3ay

1S3Y3LNI NOILVYIHOIY ANV NOILVAYISNOD 4O SANVT 40 AYOLNIANI



98 S 22021LT)
[04U00 %080 ‘puB| I8}sa] 0} Jusoelpy €9 1S 90 170 8 0186} 0z-s 1 ) n N 0 N 4 o 107°¥a TIH 13dvHD Buipesy Jo umo
‘pesp  €'6L 33 08z 9 €26 1B6LG Gl-s 1 d n N n 4 2 $130Mvd Buipesy Jo umo
Buissiw | ‘s10| Z ‘as s110| | sAes YYD ¥a MOAVAW HOXIg
dSO L00Z 0 VI UIION (i Xe L 6l 6 66l 689y 0ZS 1 d n N 0 N 4 n ¥a ATv¥3NI 440 61/6
, Tocio Vi | i 8 B i Gi's - = a N 0 N = 0 i YYIE N e |
18 I do IS R N 40 10| L 95 178 ¥868L 0z-s 1 4 n N 0 N 4 n 1S NIVIN N 440 11/95 Buipesy Jo umo
"dSO 100Z 10 WIN U1ION 10| 8 Xe L S 8¢ 120 000 209 Ghbol 0z-s W ) n N 0 N 4 0 Q¥ TIH AJAOD 440 ¥6/8e Buipesy Jo umo
eyl ze Lo z1'0 svZ  899€Z  GIS 1 ) n N 0 n 4 n 1S IN0YD 440 svie Buipesy Jo umo
gel ze 837 262 g5l e6gLEE  GLS 1 ) n N 0 n 4 n 1S IA0YD 440 Gel e Buipesy Jo umoL
it supsap U aivel ,m i€ 90 00 B i 08 a - " . N - o QY AYNISAYO O e ipeey Jo Umo
‘L€ Se pasp aWes api Xel S 1e [ 91’0 622 LOIpL 1 4 n N 0 N 4 [¢) Q¥ AVMISNYD 440 G/Le Buipesy Jo umo
0000 96 £z 29°¢ 69'€ 0 0 1 ) n N 0 N 4 o) Q¥ LSIAMYH 440 95/£7 Buipesy Jo umoL
Jajsuel) puswWodal Py 1SaAleH Yo Sio| Jom
00 I £z 0z 08'G 0 0 Gl-s 1 ) n N 0 N 4 o) 1S HHOL 440 Lpiez Buipesy Jo umoL
0} Jajsuel) puswiwodal 1§ 81I0] Yo Sio| }Jom
D0 0} J3jSURY PUSWWO0DRI 08 4 8z'e 621 Ul 1 ) n N 0 N 4 n 133418 HSV 440 08724 Buipesy Jo umo
,w_ucm_«m\s mcormn( ,«mm\_«m Usy o
useguolisieG. - bel . = - g i -
MdQ/OD 0} ajsuel puswiwodal gl zh 63 080 Ul 1 4 n N 0 N 4 [¢) Buipesy Jo umo
SUTHTYM 440 LEL)
41 shes dsO ‘am sfes YD ge S €921 sFlL 91 1699 0z-s W ) d d | d 4 M JAV LNOYLS ONOTY am Buipesy Jo umo
‘41 shes 4SO ‘M shes YYD 8 34 80} 90’} vz G9GS 0z-s W ) d d | d 4 M 41 0L IN3OVray am Buipesy Jo umo
ANV 1d30 ¥3LYM
Jiskes - o o e oes W - o - ,m N 1ol vy am
| dSO (am skes yINYD e/t p Se posp sules al a ULV
41 shes 4SO ‘M shes | 4 19°) 3G} svZ  G9GG 0z-s W ) d d | d 4 M 41 OL IN3OVray am Buipesy Jo umo
YINYO ¢0L/6Y 10 (OV/SY Se pasp swes ANV 1d30 ¥31vM
‘amshes 'ssy IS [N Jo weansdn  LOL 95 188l 098 o6e  0ely 0z-s 1 ) n N | d 4 o) ANV 1d3a am Buipesy Jo umo
YALYM ‘MOAVIW TN
‘GE-¢tr Jo Wed Algego.d ze 54 [ 000 0 0 0z-s 1 ) n N | d 4 M JAV LNOYLS ONOTY am Buipesy Jo umo
ANV 1d30 ¥31vM
1e 54 980 650 zizh 1 ) n N | d N M ANV 1d30 ¥3LYM am Buipesy Jo umoL
o - - a6y o = o - N 5 - N W GV LEg M - .
62 34 5 040 vizll 1 ) n N | d N M ANV 1d30 ¥31vM am Buipesy Jo umoL
8z 54 Uy 8Ly 95zl L 1 ) n N | d N M ANV 1d30 ¥31vM am Buipesy Jo umoL
1S MOIIMA HO PSSP L UOSIOIE  0£-8Z 9z fzall 110 818 1 ) n N 0 d n M ANV 1d30 ¥31vM am Buipesy Jo umo
‘41 skes dSO “aM shes YINYD e 54 668 0219 W d d d | d 4 M 1SOdINOD NAMOL am
spsspz ey 95 . R = - - N - H M LG SEIVNASY an
41 shes 6 67 660l 20T 695G W ) d d | d 4 M MOQavIN am Buipesy Jo umo
dSO 'Zz/0G S8 pesp swes ‘M shes YYD 34OV AIHANNH
SINIWWOD[ 101 dVIN [S3HOV| S3AOV | 39Vd | X008 | ONINOZ [ IVILINILOd| NO | 39VLS | $5300V 16 NOIL | S$S300V | 3sodand JWYN 3LIS ATOANI[ LNVED | §3OVNVI ¥3NMO
slo | ssassv NOIL  [ILIaNOD ALIIEYSI| 310ILYY | -03L0¥d | oand | AYIRd vio3
-y3403y 40 713A31

‘Jdog JoreM=CAA ‘SSRILILIOD S804 UMO] =41 *}daq [00UdS=[00UdS ‘UOISIAI] 98 B Siled=ed ‘AlLouiny eusly 99| Buipesy

umouUN=N ‘2|qISSe0Y JON=N ‘2|qI55900Y Alleled=d ‘8]qISsa0oy Allnd=4 85029y AN

100d = d ‘Uled =4 ‘poo9 =9 ‘ua||eax3=7 :uolupuod
padopaspun=n ‘padoieaeq Alleiled=d ‘padoleasd= :ebelg

umouqUN=N ‘SUON=N ‘pajwi=T ‘Anpdiad=d :uol}oa}0id Jo |9AT
umouuUN =N ‘sS899e d1jdNd ON=N ‘Paliwi=" ‘ssaode oljgnd [IN4=- :$8990y 2l|gnd
umouuN=N Jouyl0=0 ‘Alddng Jejepi=pA ‘Uoijesusay =y ‘[eInHND/esLoISIH=H ‘[0JUcD Poo|d=d ‘UoFeAIssSUOD=0D ‘UOeAISSUCD B UoKeaIoay =g ‘eInynouby=y :esodind Arewnd
djpu-18S=HS-SDQ ‘PUN4 UCHEAISSUCD JSJepA B PUBT=4DAMT-SDQ ‘Welbold uonsinboy pueT Jajinby=yTy-43Q Juei

=99 ‘UoIsIAIg AlejeuweD=waD

‘UOISSIWIOD UORRAISSUOD=D0 :1eBeuely

€10e
VIN ‘ONIav3ay

1S3Y3LNI NOILVYIHOIY ANV NOILVAYISNOD 4O SANVT 40 AYOLNIANI




9 eoeiiel

8

+LHGEVEL TYILYGE TYYS 052G Glz 1688 or-s W n 0 N 1 o aN70 ¥INTONTY anio Jenjorsy
B 341 ONIAVIY pue sy Buipesy
6's gl 8.6 89'8 866 69208 Ul 1 N 0 d 4 ol ANVIS| dWVMS 18N pue usdo Buipesy
£0Z ol 20 ¥Z'0 08  69LIE Gl-s W N 0 d 4 ol avod aNv1LOOS 18N pue usdo Buipesy
pesp | sl ZLLL Gl €70 120 LG 0685k Gl-s 1 N 0 d 1 ol ANV TIVANVY 1snuL pueT uado Buipesy

e o 0" sie e ors W o - - IGTeoM STBHBIN
sy 5 939 050 6L  CTlShl 0z-s 1 N 0 d 1 o) HSYVIN 3T¥A00D 18N pue usdo Buipesy
g9 [ 9z 184 €l SlLibl 0z-8 1 N 0 d 1 ol ANOdJ 301 NNVIN3NZIS 1sni] pueT uado Buipesy
8 09 1£'9 0z'9 Le  p8evl or-s 1 N 0 d 1 ol HSYVIN SHNVEX V4 18N pue usdo Buipesy
ol 09  ¥0ZL 0L Le  p8evl or-s 1 N 0 d 1 ol HSYVIN SHNVEX V4 18N pue usdo Buipesy

g e % &mi s 0 Wil § v
6 09 60°G o'y 89l Phibl or-s 1 N 0 d 1 o) HSYVIN SYNVEY V4 1sn. L pue uado Buipesy
Gzl e 7L 0£0 9L L08LL 0z-8 1 N 0 d 1 ol 101 1snuL pueT uado Buipesy

INOLS ¥O NIFHOYIAT
paap | uo sjo| G 65 8 g50 160 G9G  8LEWL Gl-s 1 N 0 d 1 o) Lo1Mmoa 18N pue usdo Buipesy
05 6l Lo v € €585k 0z-8 1 N 0 d 4 ol L07aA08 18N pue usdo Buipesy

6 s e Gi's n O N 3 < GO0l Hoi dilvo
abues preno aels YN Z068C LLZ8C  60E vl or-s n 0 N N o) a7IND SILIND dINVD ) pIINS
9VLGrErrLSYEr 6487  GGTh €T ¥900L 0z-8 H d 0 N 1 o) TOOHOS dFdd NILSNY Buipesy Jo SH uelugsnBny
L1SNYL ANV ‘LIJO¥d-NON ‘ILVAINd

- ViliYo Ul el pasp o e i = @ S d - 3 NoWles NvioE Buipesy

‘plos Buiag Jo sseooid Ul Z0Z 8z 150 650 Sy Gl-s ] 3 n N 0 N 4 [¢) 107 ¥3ANYOD Buipesy Jo umo

NOENANW/Tv3d
¢SO 0} pazllewlio} oJOD  LZ'6L'G0Y €€4C  ZEY 1G°G €25 16.S Gl-s 1 ) n N 0 N 4 o) avod ANVT@VO 440 Buipesy jo umo
(>4 7 690 G20 0 0 Gl-s 3 a d 0 1 4 o Mvd HOVaT Buipeay jo umoL

19 8 090 €90 Wl 19882 Gl-s H 3 d d 0 N 4 o 107 LS SNMHOH

= ¥ %0 Wo 0 0 058 = i e = n ¥ , :

TVHOT HYIAVH

J04U00 %9840 "dSO L00Z 10 YN UTJON Ol 4 050 000 62 860LL 02-S 1 3) n N 0 n o4 n AR SHONYIAOD Buipesy Jo umo|
SINIWWOD| LO1 dYIN [S3AOV| SOV | 39vd | YOO8 | ONINOZ [ IWILNILOd| NO [ 39VLS| §S300V 16 NOIL [$s300v [ 3sodand IWYN 3LIS ATOANI] INVdS [u3OVNVI ¥ANMO
sI9 | ssassy NolL  [ILiaNoD ALIigvsial 3101y | -03L0¥d | onand | AdvRId v3oa
“Y3¥03Y 4013A31

‘Jdog JoreAM=CAA ‘SSRILILIOD 1580 UMO] =41 *}daq |00UYdS=|00UdS ‘UO

100d = d ‘Uled =4 ‘poo9 =9 ‘ua||eax3=3 :uol

padoeaspun=n ‘padolaasq Alleiled=d ‘padojpasa=Q :

UMOUUN=N ‘S|qISS329Y ION=N ‘3|qISS800Y Alleled=d ‘9]qISSaody Alind=4 :$8822y A} 1

umouqUN=N ‘SUON=N ‘pajwi=T ‘Anpdiad=d :uol}oa}0id Jo |9AT

umouuUN =N ‘sS899e d1jdNd ON=N ‘Paliwi=" ‘ssaode oljgnd [IN4=- :$8990y 2l|gnd

umousuN=N “%eul0=0 ‘Alddng Jejepa=AA ‘UolieaIoaY =y ‘[enHND/IeOLOISIH=H ‘[0JjU0D POO|d=d ‘UOHBAISSUOD=] ‘UOIJeAISSUOD B UoNeaIoay =g ‘ainynouby=y :esodind Arewnd
dipU-HeS=HS-50Q ‘PUNH UOHEAISSUCD JaJeA B PUBT=4DMT-5D0 ‘Welbold uoksinboy pueT Joinby=y1y-430 Juess

I 09y ¥ Sxed=)ed ‘Auoyiny eualy 39| Buipesy =99| ‘UoISIAI] AlsjoWaD=WaD ‘UOISSIWWOD UojealasuoD=00 :ebeuep

€10e
VIN ‘ONIav3ay
1S3Y3LNI NOILVYIHOIY ANV NOILVAYISNOD 4O SANVT 40 AYOLNIANI




o8 L zeoziLe

Jeygey 8 Gy L8kl 0L d N o) ¥O BALQ PIRIIRS YEL [k4 swes plewIS uney
dSIHN ‘jood [euloa Z ‘spuejiem ApSo
PUSI synby ‘lood puiRA ‘spueem ARSOW  00L 1g 0z'k [or 4 625 £12€5 d N o) ¥0 8ue Aobaio 6 0z swes Apuw3 eipueg
$8U0Z Jayng ‘Jejiqey o0ce 014 89C ¥9¢C 00S 86816 d N o) ple] 6l slwes 1Y uoshubeyy
BNy ‘jood [eulsA IsARY eUOBGY ‘SPUBiOAA oAy Jowwng (3z exe) ¥z sjuusq ‘uobing uney
jood [euten ‘spuepsm ARSON 061 ‘SSl L 80} Gl d o) ¥D 198UIS UIRI 81Z-ZT L UeWs|0D puB JBHeD
I i pemkison 26 € Vee - - O YO A Bupesy ot YOWA Utjsog bojeod
88 6¢ ze0 d o] O peoy UspION UeA Z/ Gl sabnH [o1eD) % sluusQg
spuepsmAISON  GOL 1S ov'o 690 d ol YO sue Aod 01 7l elojepeds
ejebuy 3 Hagoy
SPUB| UBWSUSIS 8 SPOOM.  BE-0E [ e 0g'e 0/ 9G8re d N o) ¥O aue MBIAPUOY €l swes  dioD juswdojersq ebuey
uejyolny] singe ‘lood [eulaa ‘spuejiem ApRSo
SPOOA JOPRULDS b i yra yr4> 6y £LTve d N o) ¥O 1888 [IWBABH 0GY zh swes Weleq ‘H pieq
singe ‘jood [eulsa ‘spuefem ARSOW
: dipwg yosuinguil. - 66 ey s e oo o O Pols ubes gl ol sSilies
_ singe jood [eUISA Yoolq uieidpooy] ) ,
dwems sosulequi] 68 34 80') oz'h 191 8G60¢E d N o) MO 18345 WeeS $2T 6 swes UBANBN "1 8 USANBN "L T
sjnge ‘jood [ews ‘o00.q ‘ure|dpool} ‘1opA
158104 UMO] Snge ‘jood oL'e d N o] ™D BuET 320y Jesung VA awes ‘dion "fersQ |epuspisald
leulan ‘eale uoieol|dal ‘Wess ‘SpUBRopA
SpuBpeM %GL  OFL-LEL 1S o'y 062 8vG 99867 d N o) N 9 swes UL 0PN
Koo Gz pue ‘vz ‘Lz ‘gl
8 9 1z'e d N o) ¥O 8BRIIA I PIO S suwes ) falny
,, e Iy B8is d N - - - = ¥ slies . anjs SABleN © N BD
T il gn J5AASY R Ol By
“urejdpooy | >4 al'g 85’8 05 9069T d N o) ¥ 3D UoleuRD € sWes  'OpUOD S3I0Y BSNOYUSRID
‘puepam AjJSON ‘seale snonbBluoosip G
spuepemAISON  GOZ £z 159 65'9 il 956 d N o) ¥og | swes SBWOH Y.YD patun
‘Y Ied ‘a0e|d Uloques Ja}ed
S3YOV #5800 SNOILORILSTY NOLLYANISNOD
e e o00gr wos Ges o 3 , : - /
4109 HooNE MOy 1109 MOOYE MOaY
4 1€ ZZ09 0009 18l 229 ov-s H d uopeaIoay 1 o an1o an1o
-l9uw 4109 00¥g MOAVIIN 4109 Y00¥g MOAVIN
¥3'€8'GL IS €60l €60 9l 000L ('SNg'0Z-S W N Ansaio4 N v ANV Y3183 ¥ NOIMYIW Y3183

SANYT |19 H31dVHO

SLNIWWOD STUOV| SOV | 39vd UIOVNYI

§s3SSV

ONINOZ | TVILN3LOd
NOIL
“VYIAOTY

100d = d ‘Uled =4 ‘poo9 =9 ‘ua||eax3=3 :uol

padoeaspun=n ‘padolaasq Alleiled=d ‘padojpasa=Q :

UMOUUN=N ‘S|qISS329Y ION=N ‘3|qISS800Y Alleled=d ‘9]qISSaody Alind=4 :$8822y A} 1

umouqUN=N ‘SUON=N ‘pajwi=T ‘Anpdiad=d :uol}oa}0id Jo |9AT

umouuUN =N ‘sS899e d1jdNd ON=N ‘Paliwi=" ‘ssaode oljgnd [IN4=- :$8990y 2l|gnd

umousuN=N “%eul0=0 ‘Alddng Jejepa=AA ‘UolieaIoaY =y ‘[enHND/IeOLOISIH=H ‘[0JjU0D POO|d=d ‘UOHBAISSUOD=] ‘UOIJeAISSUOD B UoNeaIoay =g ‘ainynouby=y :esodind Arewnd
dipU-HeS=HS-50Q ‘PUNH UOHEAISSUCD JaJeA B PUBT=4DMT-5D0 ‘Welbold uoksinboy pueT Joinby=y1y-430 Juess

I 09y ¥ Sxed=)ed ‘Auoyiny eualy 39| Buipesy =99| ‘UoISIAI] AlsjoWaD=WaD ‘UOISSIWWOD UojealasuoD=00 :ebeuep

€10e
VIN ‘ONIav3ay
1S3Y3LNI NOILVYIHOIY ANV NOILVAYISNOD 4O SANVT 40 AYOLNIANI

‘Jdog JoreAM=CAA ‘SSRILILIOD 1580 UMO] =41 *}daq |00UYdS=|00UdS ‘UO



68 8 zeoziLe

d N 2 HO 198118 SA0ID B0V sues JoNUIRPIS IUBUD @ BlisaT

lood [eulsa ‘spuepem ARSOW 9z 15174 ogo
d N 5 O sUeT o0y jesing o v Siips

05 w0 960

Bselp pUR Y

SLNIWWOD 101 dVIl |STHOV| STUOV | 39vd | MOOd | ONINOZ | TVILNILOd NO JOVLS | $S300V 16 NOIL §6300V | 3sOddnd JWVN 3lLis ATOANI| LINVEO | ¥IOVNVYI YINMO
SI9 | ssassv NOIL ILIONOD ALMIEVSIA] 3011V | -03L0dd | J1INand | AdVIIRId v3ao3a
“VYIAOTY 40 73AT1

100d = d ‘Uled =4 ‘poo9 =9 ‘ua||eax3=7 :uolupuod

padopaspun=n ‘padoieaeq Alleiled=d ‘padoleasd= :ebelg

UMOUNUN=N ‘|qISS329Y JON=N ‘9|qISS800Y Allelled=d ‘9]|qISSa0dy AlInd=d :$$020y A}l 1

umouqUN=N ‘SUON=N ‘pajwi=T ‘Anpdiad=d :uol}oa}0id Jo |9AT

UMOUNUN=M ‘SS8298 2|gnd ON=N ‘PaHWIT="T ‘ss39%€ 21jgnd |Ind=4 :$$822Yy dl|gnd

umousuN=N “%eul0=0 ‘Alddng Jejepa=AA ‘UolieaIoaY =y ‘[enHND/IeOLOISIH=H ‘[0JjU0D POO|d=d ‘UOHBAISSUOD=] ‘UOIJeAISSUOD B UoNeaIoay =g ‘ainynouby=y :esodind Arewnd

dipy-Jle5=HS-80Q ‘Pun4 UOIRAISSUOD JSJeAA B PUBT=4DAT-SOQ ‘Welbold uonisinboy pue Jajinby=y1y-43Q :ueln

‘1daq JereAA=aMA ‘SSIIWIWOD 153104 UMO] =4 ‘}deQ [00UYIS=|00UdS ‘UOISIAIQ 93y B S3Hed=3ed ‘AlLoyiny eualy 82| Bulpeay =a3] ‘UoISIAI] ASloWRD=WaD ‘UoISSIWIWOD UojeAIasuoD=00 :Jebeuepy

€10e
VIN ‘ONIav3ay
1S3Y3LNI NOILVYIHOIY ANV NOILVAYISNOD 4O SANVT 40 AYOLNIANI




TOWN OWNED PARCELS v
WITHOUT BUILDINGS

-""
55-15

s
"l

Map by Town of Reading . } '

Map date: 1/5/17 100 Ml
Parcels without buildings are those
identified in the assessing database
as town owned and with building value
equal to zero.




16

70 009'SS 009'SS 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 'SNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1SNIVIN O 0'7800-0000-0'1S0 781§ 07800000001 509V
€L 001ZEY 009'€8€ 0058y 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 130 vd ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1SHINOS 0 0°8800-0000-0'v00 88V 0800000007009V
oS, 005218 00£'SEY 00722 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 Advd ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL MOQAVIN HOYIE O 0'8500-0000-0°€€0 85-€€ 0850000000££09V T
100 0002 0002 0 0 dONIN ‘QAYdINL - 1€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL ad 19ai 0 0'ST00-0000-0°€€0 ST-€€ 0510000000£€09V T
oS, 005°£9 005°£9 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 'SNOD ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL MOAVIN HV3IE 0 0'5S00-0000-0°250 SSLS 0550000000£509V T
100 001 001 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL ad ¥3a409 0 0'9200-0000-0'€00 9z€ 0920000000£009V
95, 006'SEY 006'SEY 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 advd ONIAv3d 40 NMOL MOAvIN HOYIE O 0°£S00-0000-0°€€0 15€€ 050000000£€09V T
600 002'SZ1 002'SZ1 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1$1SN201 0 0'0120-0000-0°'220 01742 0010000004209V T
99°L 008 008 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 $324N0SIY ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S 113IM0T 440 0'0¥00-0000-0'1€0 ov-1¢ 0000000001 €09V T
HILYM/SNOD
80 008y 008y 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1SNIVIN O 0'5000-0000-0'090 S-09 05000000000909V
S8 00518 00518 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 153404 NMOL ONIAV3IY HO0NMOL  MOAVIW 34DV 00T O 0'7000-0000-0'6%0 La14 0r000000006¥05V
80 008'€7 008'€7 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1SNIVIN O 0'7000-0000-0'090 09 0000000000309V
178 00278 00278 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 153404 NMOL ONIAv3d 40 NMOL ANV1SI IDNIAIAI O 0'5000-0000-0'050 S0S 05000000000S09V
0rg 00267 00267 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 'SNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL JDINHYIFNIL O 0'$Z10-0000-0'620 SZ1-67 05210000006209VC
88 00£'9ZY 00£'9ZY 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 AdILINTD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S TVad 0 0'6010-0000-0v€0 601-v€ 0601000000¥£09V T
w68 00268 00268 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 NOILVIY ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL 1S3JA0YD 440 0°££00-0000-0°'Z€0 14T€ 02£0000000Z£09V T
DTY/NOILVAYISNOD
168 009°06€ 00£'95¢ 00EvE 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 advd ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S INTTVS 99 0'6¥20-0000-0'720 6vZ-77 0670000002209V T
100 00117 00117 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1SINTTYS O 0'€£10-0000-0'720 €L17T 0€£10000002209v T
1£0T 00897 00897 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 'SNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S SATIVHD 440 0'1600-0000-0'€20 16€7 0160000000£209V T
€10 00£T 00£T 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL TIH V38 0 0'1100-0000-0'800 118 01100000008009VC
600 001262 00v'152 002'Sy 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 NOD NOILVAYISNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL TIH V38 0 0°0%00-0000-0'800 098 00%00000008009V
0511 000'STT 000'STT 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 153404 NMOL ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S3JA0YD 440 0°££00-0000-0°€¥0 LE°EY 0££0000000£¥09V T
00zt 000071 000071 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 153404 NMOL ONIAv3d 40 NMOL ANVISI 1VIHD 0 0'€¥00-0000-0°€¥0 famad 0£¥0000000£¥09V T
faxas 000601 000601 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 NOILVAYISNOD ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL JAV HINIANS 0 0'1¢Z0-0000-0'020 17207 0170000000209V
610 00109 00109 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 TO0HDS ONIAv3d 40 NMOL ad ANVDIVO O 0'S€£0-0000-0°'220 SE€ELT 0SE££000000£209VT
Ela4 009271 009271 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 'SNOD ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL 1STdvad 0 0'5800-0000-0'950 58-9S 05800000009509VC
10 008'sSZ 008'sSZ 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 TO0HDS ONIAv3d 40 NMOL ad ANVDIVO O 0'8€£0-0000-0°'220 BEELT 08E£000000£209VT
8LTT 008'271 008'271 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 153404 NMOL ONIAv3d 40 NMOL ANVTSI LVIED 0 0'1000-0000-0°'5S0 1-8S 01000000005S09V T
o 00Z'T 00Z'T 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1SIDVTIIA O 0'€010-0000-0°'210 €0T-L1 0£01000000£109VC
6871 005's82 005's82 0 0 dONIN ‘QAYdINL - 1€6 NOILVAYISNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL STIHYIAVH 403 O 0°£S00-0000-0'1¥0 LSy 0500000001 %09V
08'E1 00£°2L7 00£°2L7 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 NOILYAYISNOD ONIAV3Y 40 NMOL AV JTYAINId O 0'€120-0000-0'110 (31411 0£170000001 109V
RECEEY uoising ARjawa) Asppawa) umet sajeyd [£9°vT 00Z's8v 00Z's8v Q Q TdONW INVOVA| Q€6 1430 AYFEINTD ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| SiSTHVId ¥ SIWVHS O Q'1900-0000-0'7€0 197 01900000007 €08V T
S9jiey) 0} §5900Y ‘saneid ou oARY
2pIS J5oM U0 S2408 G§' X04ddy|
0Lyt 001’611 001’611 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 NOILVAYISNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S NIDINVY4 440 0°0%00-0000-0°'S¥0 09-S¥ 0090000000S¥09V
vE0 00192 00192 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 15 T1IM01 0 0'Z7€00-0000-0'920 €92 0Z€00000009209V T
09's1 000951 000951 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 'SNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S NIVIAL 440 0'6500-0000-0°'S¥0 65-S¥ 06500000005¥09V
[01: 941 0089ty 0089ty 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 1d30 AdIINTD ONIAVIY 40 NMOL $1S TdVId B SATIVHD 0 0'vS10-0000-0v€0 vSIve 0vS1000000v£09V T
SS'81 005's81 005's81 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 'SNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1STdvad 0 0'1100-0000-0°'250 148 0110000000L509V T
oret 00Z°085°T 00Z°085°T 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 AdILINTD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 15 T1IM01 0 0'10v0-0000-0'120 10v-17 010v0000001 209V T
TUH 13NV
SS4T 000°8%Z 000°8%Z 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 NOILVAYISNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL MOAVIN ¥v3IE 0 0'6¥00-0000-0°'250 6v-LS 06¥0000000L509V T
ST6L 000'7€9 000'7€9 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 NOISSININGD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S NIDINVYA 0 0'9210-0000-0°'ZS0 95-LS 0950000000£509v T
NOILVAYISNOD
06Z¢ 000°€6 000°€6 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 1STH04 NMOL ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL NTNYOENVS 440 0'S100-0000-0°'SS0 S1-5S 05100000005509V
0z'0 0007 0007 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL ad HOdIg O 0'vS00-0000-0'8€0 vS-8¢ 0vS00000008€09V T
07'8e 00v'9£5 00v'9£5 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 'SNOD ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL 1S AVH 8 SITIVHD 0 0'vZ10-0000-0'620 124514 0vZ10000006209V T
oozy 000°0ZY 000°0ZY 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 'SNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S TIHYIAVYH O 0'ST00-0000-0°2¥0 St-Lv 0510000000L¥09V T
€TSSy 00£7SY 00£7SY 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 153404 NMOL ONIAv3d 40 NMOL ANVTSI LVIED 0 0°0200-0000-0'050 0Z-0S 00Z00000000S09V
€0 00£°00v 00£°00Y 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 DNIATING TYdIDINNIN ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 15 T1IM01 0 0'0£20-0000-0'120 0€Z-1T 00£70000001 209V T
o 00v'y 00v'y 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL NIAVH 8 STTIVHD 0 0°£200-0000-0'1¥0 yxaii 0200000001 %09V T
SLSY 008'79¢ 008'79¢ 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 'SNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S TIHYIAVYH O 0'9210-0000-0'620 97167 0910000006209V
12201 000146 000146 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 NOILVAYISNOD ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL 1S TIHYIAVYH O 0'1000-0000-0'0€0 1-0¢ 01000000000£09V T
S00 00029 00029 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 'SNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL AV FTYAINId O 0'70Z0-0000-0'110 [404s 21 07070000001 109V T
[4:x4 006°80€ 006°80€ 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 dY ANIVIAN 8 NO1SOd ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S NIODNIT O 0'S££0-0000-0'910 SLE91 0S££0000009109VC
910 006'252 006'252 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 TO0HDS ONIAv3d 40 NMOL ad ANVDIVO O 0'6££0-0000-0°'220 6€€-L7 06££000000£209VT
s3JON B sjutensuo) (Buissassy jo/pue ueld  uonduosaqg pPosed S90B  JORUBLIND jeapue; snjeapieh [eApiing  LORGLIISIP Isn pue} Spod Zi9umo T43UMo SSaIppY @1 [92Jed 51055355V ||LOT dVIN al 19%ied SID
uoneadY P Neds asn
uadp Jad) jonuod puej

‘wiay3 uo Supying e Jo 1ed aaey ABW 95941 JO BLIOS 05 (BUISSISSY YUM SI1 WU} j924ed BBUIS & U0 POSSDSSE S dnjeA U3 'sjadJed ajdinui ueds s8uy

“A1iadoJd By 5011602 1UBWILIEdBP LDILM D1EDIPUI ALIESSBIBU 10U OP S9POD 95N PUE| PUE OJUI JBUMO

q BWOS

“0 = 8njeA BUIPJING SABY PUR UMO) B3 A PBUMO B4 PIISH SOILRM0Id
“H Wiy Ag pappe ) - § SUWN|0D 335 “MIJARS JAYLINY JueLiem 01 (K wint Ag) paSpn{ asoyy a.e anjg ut paIyBiysiy sanuadolg

‘aseqeiep Suissasse Aleuw

:S330N

£107/9/¢
4d 8107 WOIY die eleq

s3uIp|Ing 1NOYHM 5[924ed PRUMQO-UMOL




c6

SvT 005V 005V 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 1STH04 NMOL ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL NTNYOENVS 440 0°£100-0000-0'0S0 £1-0S 0100000000509V
0S'Z 00522 00522 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ‘SNOD ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL MOAVIN ¥v3IE 0 0'¥S00-0000-0°'LS0 vS-LS 0vS0000000£509V T
€57 009°S8¢ 009°S8¢ 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 advd ONIAv3d 40 NMOL MOAvIN HOYIE O 0'€S00-0000-0°€€0 £€5€€ 0£50000000£€09V T
1204 001292 001292 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 1d3a ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S 15IM 0 0'0100-0000-0°'520 01-S¢ 00100000005209V
LHOITTVAIDINNIA
v 00£v0Z 00£v0Z 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL HA TIHTIdVHD 0 0'€500-0000-0'1S0 €918 0£900000001 509V
0£0 00,782 00,782 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S TVad 0 0'2020-0000-0'820 70787 7070000008209V
SZ0 008°69€¢ 008°69€¢ 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 10T ONDHVA ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1SNINEGOM 0 0'6000-0000-0°'720 677 06000000002209V T
€10 008's01 008's01 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1SNIVIN O 0'££00-0000-0°€€0 LE°€€ 0£€£0000000£€09V T
JAR4 000'98¢ 000'98¢ 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 Avd ONIAVIY JO0NMOL  ¥d MOAVIW HOYIg O 0'6500-0000-0€€0 6S-€€ 0650000000££09V T
99T 009'97 009'97 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 NOILVAYISNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S TUHYIAVH 440 0'0¥00-0000-0'9%0 ov-sv 0000000009%09V
08’z 00082 00082 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 1STH04 NMOL ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL NTNYOENVS 440 0'€000-0000-0°'SS0 €8S 0£000000005509V T
€67 001°01€ 000'60€ 0011 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 advd ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S NO1vI 0 0'vS00-0000-0'720 vSTT 0vS00000002209V T
00'¢ 000°0€ 000°0€ 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 1STH04 NMOL ONIAVIY 40 NMOL MOAVIW IDNIAIAI O 0'7000-0000-0'050 v-0S 0000000000509V
00'¢ 000°0€ 000°0€ 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 1STH04 NMOL ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL NTNYOENVS 440 0°£700-0000-0'0S0 L2708 0420000000050V 7
00'¢ 000°0€ 000°0€ 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 1STH04 NMOL ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL NTNYOENVS 440 09200-0000-0'050 9Z-08 0900000000509V
00'¢ 005°89¢ 005°89¢ 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 advd ONIAv3d 40 NMOL SIHYVH 8 STTIVHD 0 0'5S00-0000-0'820 SS-8T 05500000008209vC
we 005°06€ 005°06€ 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 Avd ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL MOQAVIN HOYIE O 0'ZS00-0000-0°€€0 75€¢€ 0Z50000000£€09V T
S0°€ oov'LT oov'LT 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 'SNOD ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL MOAVIN ¥v3IE 0 0'1500-0000-0°'LS0 1648 0150000000£509V7
og'e 000°€E 000°€E 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 1STH04 NMOL ONIAVIY 40 NMOL MOAVIW IDNIAIAI O 0'€200-0000-0'050 €208 0£200000000S09V T
og'e 00v'1€ 00v'1€ 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 NOILVAYISNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S TUHYIAVH 440 0'1000-0000-0°'5€0 1-s¢€ 0100000000S£09V T
10 0017 0017 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 INLIV4IA AYTLINTD ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL 1SNIDINVYA O 0°££00-0000-0'ZS0 2178 0440000000250V
ov'e 00 '76E 00 '76E 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 advd ONIAv3d 40 NMOL MOAvIN HOYIE O 0'vS00-0000-0°€€0 vS-€e 0vS0000000££09V T
Sv'e 00S'vE 00S'vE 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 153404 NMOL ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL ANVTSI LVIED 0 0'S000-0000-0'6%0 S-6% 05000000006¥09V
6S°€ 00€'8Y 00€'8Y 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 1STH04 NMOL ONIAVIY 40 NMOL MOAVIW IDNIAIAI O 0°£000-0000-0'0S0 £0S 0£000000000509V7
65°¢ 00£2€ 00£2€ 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ‘SNOD ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL MOAVIN ¥v3IE 0 0°€S00-0000-0°'LS0 €548 0£50000000£509V T
10 0017 0017 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL ad MOTIFAONOT O 0'€870-0000-0°220 £€87-L7 0£87000000£209VT
99°¢ 00£2L1 00£2L1 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 NOILVAYISNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL IS TIHYIAVH O 0'S¥00-0000-0°'ZS0 Sv-7S 0500000002509V T
£€6'¢ 009'66€ 009'66€ 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 advd ONIAv3d 40 NMOL MOAvIN HOYIE O 0'9500-0000-0°€€0 95-¢€ 0950000000££09V T
€0 005°26€ 005°26€ 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 ONDMYVd ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S NIANIVH 0 0'v£00-0000-0'720 (/44 0200000002209V T
00y 00007 00007 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 153404 NMOL ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 15 3IA0HD 440 0'£110-0000-0v¥0 LITvY 0£11000000v¥09V T
o 0008 0008 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S3A0UD 0 0'€¥10-0000-0'7€0 £vi-Ze 0£¥1000000Z£09V T
SOv 008°00Y 008°00Y 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 advd ONIAv3d 40 NMOL MOAvIN HOYIE O 0'7€20-0000-07€0 7eeze 0Z€7000000Z£09V T
1o 00v'€6T 00v'€6T 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 1d30 ¥3LVM ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S MOTIIM 0 0°8200-0000-0'920 89T 08200000009209v T
o1y 001°08¢ 005°64€ 009 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 'id3a ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S 15IM 14§ 0'8€00-0000-0°'520 B8E-ST 08€00000005209V T
LHOITTVAIDINNIA
:14 0081y 0081y 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 1STH04 NMOL ONIAVIY 40 NMOL MOAVIW IDNIAIAI O 0'v200-0000-0'050 vZ-0S 0200000000509V T
70 0027 0027 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 WOD NOILVAYISNOD ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL 1S THHYIAVHS/I 0 0'7100-0000-0°2¥0 vi-Ly 0v10000000L¥09V T
Y 0012y 0012y 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 1STH04 NMOL ONIAVIY 40 NMOL MOAVIW IDNIAIAI O 0'SZ00-0000-0'0S0 SZ-0S 5200000000509V
8€0 008°€ 008°€ 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 'SNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S Tv3ad 440 0°£600-0000-0'950 16798 04600000009509V7
9¢8Y 006'€01 006'€01 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 NOILVAYISNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL QY 3I9aLdvd 0 0'9200-0000-0'ZS0 9/-TS 0900000002509V
vZ'o 00v'Z 00v'Z 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 153404 NMOL ONIAv3d 40 NMOL AVM NVTIINDVINL O 0'9100-0000-0°'5S0 91-§S 09100000005509V T
0s0 005887 005887 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL Y0 SHONYIAOD 0 0'0¥10-0000-0'€20 ovi-€z 00r1000000£209V T
or's 000'7S 000'7S 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 1STH04 NMOL ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL ANVISI 1VIHD 0 0'€000-0000-0'050 €08 0£000000000S09V T
00 004 004 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 AdILINTDD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S NIV 440 0'T110-0000-0v€0 Tve 0111000000v€09V T
€0 001'22 001'22 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 30 LHOIN TVdIDINNIA ONIAv3d 40 NMOL ad AVMISNYD 0 0'1000-0000-0'1€0 113 01000000001 €09V T
9v0 00z'271 00z'271 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 NOD NOILVAYISNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL IAV HINIANS 440 0'5800-0000-0'800 588 05800000008009VC
0g's 00822y 0022€€ 00106 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 advd ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S NOIONIHSYM 0 0'8€70-0000-0'910 BET9T 08€Z0000009109V T
§SS°S 005'SS 005'SS 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 153404 NMOL ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL 1S3JA0YD 440 0'9€00-0000-0°€¥0 9E-ev 09€0000000£¥09V
s 00Z'LS 00Z'LS 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 1STH04 NMOL ONIAV3IY HO0NMOL  MOAVIW 34DV 00T O 0'€000-0000-0'6%0 £6Y 0£000000006¥09V
8L'S 00£'8/7 00£'8/7 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 1d3a ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S 15IM 0 0'6000-0000-0°'520 657 06000000005209V
NOILVAYISNOD
009 00009 00009 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 153404 NMOL ONIAv3d 40 NMOL NTNJOENVS 440 0°8200-0000-0'050 8Z-0S 0800000000509V T
910 00£°252 00£°252 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 TOOHDS ONIAv3d 40 NMOL ad ANVDIVO 440 0'0¥£0-0000-0°'220 ove-LT 00r£000000£209V T
19 00419 00419 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 1STH04 NMOL ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL 1S NIDINVY4 440 0'9100-0000-0'050 9108 09100000000S09V
7’9 00£'981 00£'981 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 NOILVAYISNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1STIIMOT 0 0°£600-0000-0'920 169C 0600000009209V
089 005'8S 005'8S 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 'SNOD ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL MOAVIN ¥v3IE 0 0°0S00-0000-0°'LS0 082S 00S0000000£509V7
59 0059 0059 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 NOISSININGD ONIQV3IY 40 NMOL dNVMS YVAId 0 0'S000-0000-0°Z¥0 Sy 0500000000Z¥09V T
NOILVAYISNOD
SO0 00s 00s 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL ad AVMISNYD 0 0°£000-0000-0'1€0 L1€ 0000000001 €09V T
610 00Z'7L 00Z'7L 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL JAY JOUNNIN O 0'7100-0000-0710 vivi 0v100000007109V T
0L 009'21 009'21 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 'SNOD ONIAV3Y 40 NMOL 15 SITIVHD 440 0'5000-0000-0'620 S-67 5000000006209V
‘pape.8-ysnoJ 5i pue ‘ssa00e peod AsRypwa) pu3 poom [z1'2 00601 00601 Q Q TdONW INVOVA| Q€6 AININIHVLIA ONIAVIY 40 NMOL ASNIDINVHS O 0'8£00-0000-0°'ZS0 8LCS 08£000000075087C
sey ‘sanesd ou sey seJde /7 yoeq FUERE(LEW]
yAwa 006'6T 006'6T 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 'SNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S TUHYIAVH 440 0'9600-0000-0'620 9667 09600000006209V T
7200 00z 00z 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 1S INNTYM 0 0'8100-0000-0'€00 81°€ 0810000000£009V T
S2ON P sputensuo) (Buissessy jo/pue uejd uondnsag ased SO0  JOPUBLIND jeApue; dInjeapseA f 4 uondiIsSp osn puej SpPod fZETTY T48UMO SS9IPPY @i [92.4ed 510559s5Y || LOT dVIN al {92464 SID
uoneadY P Neds asn

uadp Jad) jonuod puej




€6

S2ON P sputensuo) (Buissessy jo/pue uejd
uoneadY P Neds
uadp Jad) jonuod

uondnsag ased

810
950
€90

10
vE0
620
00
0L0

910
[4A0)
o
100
90
S0
870
S0
9.0
620
080

080
o
90
€00
880
110
680
60

60
90
60
o
€60
007

010
007

€11
91

€T
€T
€20
90
90
8¢
691

S00
0o
SLT

[4:01
00'C
00'C
(a4
0o
€T
we
we
e
sape

00922
009°s
00998

00z'857
0ov'E
0067
00206
0002

008'257
00107
002221
001
009982
00€TLE
005°82€
002°5ve
00Z'%9
008°€2Z
0008

000792
0027
000'88¢
00¢
008'8

00Svvz

005'SST
000°9%
0082
001°592
00£'6
000°01

009°2€1
000°01

00£°TT
00L'6

00£°ZT
00£°ZT
00£°7
00£°€0Z
0097
0008z
006°91

00522
009°€1T
00997

00S'6L€
009°285
009987
00Z°081
00v'222
00Z°€7
00£'vZ
00279
00v'vZ
10RUBLIND

009242 0 0 TdININ INVOVA
009's 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
009987 0 0 TdINIA INVOVA
002°852 0 0 TdINIA INVOVA
0ov'E 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
0067 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
00206 0 0 TdININ INVOVA
000°2 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
008°25Z 0 0 TdININ INVOVA
001°0Z 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
002221 0 0 TdININ INVOVA
001 0 0 TdINIA INVOVA
009°v87 0 0 TdINIA INVOVA
009'SvE 00£'sz 0 1dININ INVIVA
005°82€ 0 0 TdININ INVOVA
002°5ve 0 0 TdININ INVOVA
00601 00g'Er 0 TdININ INVOVA
008627 0 0 TdINIA INVOVA
000'8 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
000797 0 0 TdINIA INVOVA
0027 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
00£°SL€ 00ETT 0 TdININ INVOVA
00€ 0 0 TdINIA INVOVA
008'8 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
00012 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
006'8 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
005¥4Z 0 0 TdININ INVOVA
005551 0 0 TdININ INVOVA
000°9% 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
0082 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
001592 0 0 TdININ INVOVA
00£'6 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
000°01 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
009°2€T 0 0 TdININ INVOVA
000°01 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
00£°TT 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
00L'6 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
00£°ZT 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
00£°ZT 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
00£°7 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
00£°€0Z 0 0 TdININ INVOVA
0097 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
00v°087 0 0 AYSNDINVOVA
006°91 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
00522 0 0 TdININ INVOVA
009°€TT 0 0 TdINIA INVOVA
009°91 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
005°6L€ 0 0 TdININ INVOVA
009°255 0 0 TdINIA INVOVA
009987 0 0 TdINIA INVOVA
00Z°081 0 0 TdINIA INVOVA
00v'222 0 0 TdININ INVOVA
00Z'€Z 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
001'vZ 009 0 TdDINNIA
00Z'v9 0 0 1dININ INVIVA
007'vZ 0 0 1dININ INVIVA

jeApue; dInjeapseA 1 g uondiasap asn pue}

0£6 Vo ANIVIN 8 NO1SOd

0£6 NOLLYAYISNOD
0£6 NOISSININGD
NOLLYAYISNOD
0£6 TO0HDS
0£6
0£6 0D NOLLYAYISNOD
0£6
0£6 1INIALVAIA
AYILINTD
0£6
0£6 NOLLYAYISNOD
0£6
0£6
0£6
0g6 Mvd
0£6 1430 1HON
0g6 AYILINTD
0£6 1071 ONDRIV
0g6 Mvd
0£6 1d3a
AHOM TVdIDINNIA
0g6 AYILINTD
0£6 "1430 TO0HDS
0£6 ONDIYVd 5A18 INNIN
0£6
0g6 157404 NMOL
0£6
0£6 "SNOD
0£6 NOISSININGD
NOLLYAYISNOD
0£6 "SNOD
0£6 0D NOLLYAYISNOD
0£6 "SNOD
0g6 Advaan
0g6 157404 NMOL
0£6 "1d30
AHOM TVdIDINNIA
0g6 Mvd
0£6 NOISSININGD
NOLLYAYISNOD
0g6 157404 NMOL
0g6 $350dUNd
D34/SNOD
0£6 "SNOD
0£6 "SNOD
0£6

0£6 NOD NOILYAYISNOD
0g6

€6 NOILVAYISNOD
0g6 NOISSININGD
NOILVAYISNOD
0g6
0g6
0g6 $350d¥Nd
NOILVAYISNOD 404
0g6 advd
0g6 SNOD
0g6 N¥Vd/NOWINOD
0g6 ORI/ SNOD

0£6 NDIYVd "1d3d 32110d

0g6 153404 NMOL
£06 153404 NMOL
0g6 NOILYAYISNOD
0g6 153404 NMOL
|IpPOd T4oUMmo
asn
puej

ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAV3Y 40 NMOL IHL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL

ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL

ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL

ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL

ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL

ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL

ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL

ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL

ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL

ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL
ONIAv3d 40 NMOL

T40UMO

1SHOIH 0
JANDISONE 0
JAV HINIANS 0

ad ANVDIVO O

ad NIQYON NVA 0
ad NdINg1od 0

1S N3O 0

1S NIDINVYA 0

ad AVMISNYD 0
ad 3901 1Vd 0
1S 3dH0L 0
1SNOSYING 0
ad ANVDIVO O
AV 1HHOYONVE 0
1SHSV O

QY NI1D 153404 0
1D3aNvHE 0
1SINTTYS O

15 153M 440

1S NIV 440

ad ANVDIVO O

15 T1IM01 0

ad 31ViS AvE O
MOAvIN IDNIAIAIT O
adHDvdL 0

1S TN O

1S HIYON 0

1S TIHYIAVYH O

1S NHOf 0

1S MOTIIM 0

1S ONMIIA 0
MOAvIN 34DV 00T 0
1ST1IMOT40M 0

1S NOIONIHSYM 0
15 153M 440

ANVISI 1VIHD 0
ad NIQYON NVA 0

1S Tv3ad 440

Y3 JIYANILNI 440
1S INNTYM 0

IAV HINIANS 440
adHDvdL 0

1S NIVINL 18VT

15 153M 440

ad $394N1s 0
1S 31dVIN O
15 AaNog 440

MOQAVIN HOYIE O
1SSITVHD 0

1SNIVIN O

1S3A0UD 0

1SNOINN O

MOQAVIN IDNIAIAIT O
MOAvIN 34DV 00T 0
440 - IAV NIRIVM O
ANVTSI LVIED 0
SS34ppPY

0'9££0-0000-0'910
0'8500-0000-0°'S¥0
0v010-0000-0'800

0'9€£0-0000-0°£20
0'6800-0000-0'6€0
0v¥10-0000-0'8€0
0°S120-0000-0°£10
0°S710-0000-0°'7S0

0°S000-0000-0'1€0
0°£600-0000-0'7S0
0°7900-0000-0°'€20
0°€000-0000-0'1S0
01200-0000-0°€€0
0°€v£0-0000-0°'L20
0°0100-0000-0°£10
0°€000-0000-0'0v0
0'8v£0-0000-0'910
0°7520-0000-0°'720
0°0¥00-0000-0'S70

00110-0000-0v€0
0'8¥00-0000-0°€€0
0'62¢0-0000-0'120
00£00-0000-0°€20
0°7200-0000-0'050
0°0100-0000-0°'€20
0'9010-0000-0'950
0°1800-0000-0'800

0'9%00-0000-0°'250
07000-0000-0°€10
01000-0000-0'920
0°£800-0000-0'120
0°0100-0000-0'6¥0
0'8000-0000-0'1€0

0'6200-0000-0°£10
01v00-0000-0'S70

01200-0000-0'050
0°£600-0000-0°'6€0

0'9600-0000-0'950
0'8020-0000-0'970
0'6000-0000-0'€00
0°7800-0000-0'800
0v700-0000-0°'€20
0°9800-0000-0'950
0°£3100-0000-0v10

0°€110-0000-0'v00
0°7110-0000-0'910
0°7500-0000-0'920

0°S500-0000-0°€€0
0v610-0000-0'870
00210-0000-0'720
0°S€20-0000-0'970
0°S£00-0000-0°'720
0'6200-0000-0'050
0'8€00-0000-0°€v0
0°7£20-0000-0'110
0°£000-0000-0'6¥0

92691
85-S¥
v01-8

9g€-1T

68-6¢
i8¢
SIT-LY
SZ17S

S1€
16778
9€C

€18
1zge

£ve-LT
0141
£0v
8re-91
A Ia44
ov-sZ

011-ve
8r-€¢
144424
0/L-€T
7z0s
01-€7
901-95
188

9b-LS
1€1
19T
81T
01-6v
81¢

6741
-sT

1z-08
166€

96-9S
807-97

88
V€T
98-9S
JAR 2%

€11y
1191
7592

SS€€
V6187
0z1-7e
S€T-97

SL7T

6708

8EEY
(424521

L6V

@} [2Jed 510559s5Y || LOT dVIN

09££0000009109%C
08500000005¥09%C
0v010000008009%C

09€££000000£209%C
06800000006£09%C
0vP10000008£09%C
0S12000000£109%C
0SZ10000002509%C

05000000001 £09%C
0£60000000ZS09%C
0790000000£209%C
0£000000001S09%C
01Z0000000£ €097 T
0€PE000000£209%C
0010000000£109%C
0£000000000¥09%C
087£0000009109%C
07520000002209%C
00700000005209%C

00110000007 £09%C
0870000000££09%C
06270000001 2097
00£0000000£209%C
07200000000S09%C
0010000000£209%C
09010000009509%C
01800000008009%C

09%0000000£509%C
0700000000£109%C
07000000009209%C
04800000001 209%C
00100000006¥09%C
08000000001 £09%C

0620000000£109%C
0I¥00000005209%C

01Z00000000S09%C
0£600000006£09%C

09600000009509%C
08020000009209%C
0600000000£009%C
07800000008009%C
0vZ0000000£209%C
09800000009509%C
0£10000000¥109%C

0€110000007009%C
0Z110000009109%C
07500000009209%C

05S0000000£ €097 T
0v610000008209%C
00210000002209%C
0S£20000009209%C
0S£00000002209%C
06200000000S09%C
08£0000000£¥09¥T
07420000001 109%C
0£000000006¥09%C

al {924ed SID



V6

snonBpuo) BuisSoJ0 Yy Jedu 2OUIS
192415 MOJjIM 0} §59008 %on4] Y8noy
12 JUOILIDAL 1§ SPUBJIOM BUIOS

MO J0 510§ JuRdelpe £

UORBAJISUC) MOAVIW IDNIQIAIG|TT'0T 001°SS 001°SS 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA]  0€6 ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| MOAVIN IDNIAIAID O 0'9000-0000-0'050 90§ 09000000000509V T
UORBAIISUC) ad|08'0t 00022 00022 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA|  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL ad NdINg1od 0 0'8€10-0000-0'8€0 BEI-8E 08€10000008€09V T
NYNF102 40 N3 8ET/8E
UORBAIISUC) puelIT Il 001111 001111 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA|  0€6 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL 15 T1IM01 0 0'1500-0000-0'920 1597 01500000009209VC
uBBIO 7§ SOUILIOS ‘JajjRIN
810 00v'652 00v'652 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 '1d30 100HIS ONIAv3d 40 NMOL ad ANVDIVO O 0'£¥00-0000-0'€€0 JAm 3 0/0000000£€09V T
S00 00§ 00§ 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0£6 NOD NOILVAYISNOD ONIAv3d 40 NMOL JAV HINIANS 0 0'0210-0000-0'800 071-8 00Z10000008009VC
9Z°0 009011 009011 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAVIY 40 NMOL SAY 1SIAYVH 8 IOVdL O 0'9€00-0000-0'€20 9€-€T 09€0000000£209V T
1 Aioyany ‘(Buppied|ssze  |oov'9rs 00£°8%9 00229 0 dONIN ‘aAddINI 16 ONIAv3d 40 NMOL THHYIAVH A0S I O 0'9500-0000-0'1¥0 95 1v 0950000000109V
eudJy 20| Buipeay pieyeq) euase 1sed
10} 1ip ‘BURIY 90| JuBgIng
Jo 1ied ‘pieid Aepa SpuowiAS
LS50 004S 004S 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA]  0€6 TO0HDS ONIAV3Y 40 NMOL 15 31dINIL 440 0'€7£0-0000-0'910 £VE-91 0£V£0000009109VT
9.0 0092 0092 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA]  0€6 dILYM ONIAV3Y 40 NMOL 15 113IMO1 440 0'7£00-0000-0'1£0 ve-1e 0v£00000001 €05V T
80 001204 006°81€ 00z°88¢ [0 TdONIN INVOVA]  0€6 BLEREIGAYY ONIAV3Y 40 NMOL 1S NdNgNy 0 0'79£0-0000-0°'220 79827 079£000000/209VT
700 00Z 00Z 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA  0€6 ONIAV3Y 40 NMOL 1SNOINN O 0'£/00-0000-0'720 JI544 0200000002209V
"pue; doid unsny Jo saie g "1daq o1eMm Y 18 19948 {060 006'7ST TdINIAENYOVA 13T IV ONIGYIY 40 NMOL IS0V G 0'6200-0000-0:920 bZ-9¢ '8¢-9¢|ovrT '08700000009209¥7T

107 [o010% 00101 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA[  0E6 100HDS ONIQVIY 30 NMOL 1S HOIH 440 0'7000-0000-0°'720 1-1z]  0I000000001Z09YZ
507 |009°01 00901 0 0 TdONW INVOVA| 0€6 1430 ¥3LVM ONIOVIY 30 NMOL| MOAvaW 34DV 00 0 0°8000-0000-0°6v0 8-6v| 08000000006¥097Z
w1 [o0z'v 00771 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA[  0E6 1430 ¥IIVM ONIQVIY 30 NMOL ANVTSI 1VIHD 0 0°9000-0000-0°6v0 9-6v[  09000000006¥03vZ
857 |008'ST 008'51 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA[  0E6 1430 ¥ILVM ONIOVIY 40 NMOL 1S IAO¥D 440 0°7000-0000-0°6v0 T-6v]  01000000006v¥09vZ
€97 00595y 00595Y 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA[  0E6 MILVM ONIQVIY 30 NMOL QY AT4IAIE 440 0°€£00-0000-0°T€0 £6-7€]  O££0000000TE09VT
07 00023 00021 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA[  0E6 1430 ¥3LVM ONIOVIY 40 NMOL 1S IAO¥D 440 0'6200-0000-0°€¥0 62-€9| _ 0620000000£%09%Z
87 00979 001'8LE 00578__[0 TdDNIN INVOVA[  0E6 S100HDS ONIQVIY JONMOL|  IAV 140WNVE 440 0'Zv€0-0000-0°220 Zve/z]  0ZVE000000/Z09VT
887 |000TvE 000°TVE 0 0 TdONW INVOVA| 0€6 00HS ONIOVIY 40 NMOL 1SONDI 0 0'6500-0000-0°020 6v-0z| _ 06v00000000209%Z
007 o000z 00007 0 0 1IN INVOVA] ™ 0€6 D3/ 100HIS ONIAVTY 40 NMOL Y IDNIAIAID 440 0°8100-0000-0°050 81-05| _ 08100000000509vZ
170 00675C 006757, 0 0 TdONW INVOVA _ 0€6 T00HDS ONIOVIY 40 NMOL Q4 ONVDIVO 0 0'90v0-0000-0720 __ 90v-/Z___090¥000000/Z09%Z
[ | [svz  Joos1z Joos1z 0 Jo | TdDNIN INVOVA]  0€6] T00HDS] — ONIAVIY 40 NMOL] 1S 3TdNIL 340] 0'vPE0-0000-09T0]  vvE-9T[  OPYED000009109¥Z]
¥10__ 0009SC 000957 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA _ 0E6 "1d30 100H2S ONIOVIY 40 NMOL Q4 ONVDIVO 0 0'0200-0000-0°€€0 0Z-€€___ 00Z000D000EEQIVT
[ I [6zz  Jooszz Jooszz 0 Jo | TdDNIN INVOVA]  0€6] 1430 ¥IIVM]  ONIOVIY S0 NMOL]  MOAVIIN 3HDV 001 O] 0'1700-0000-0'€ 0] Tr-ev]  0TY0O000000EVOIVZ]
[ | | A | 0 Jo | TdONIN INVOVA] 06| 1430 ¥3VM] ONIaVIY S0 NMOL[  MOOVAIN 3DV 001 0] 0'Z%00-0000-0° €40 ] Zv-€p|  0Zv0000000£V0SYZ|
€20  O00£7 00£7 0 0 TONW INVDVA  0€6 ONIOVIY 40 NMOL ¥ NVINYON 0 0'8500-0000-0°€20 8v-€C  08v000D000EZOIVT
800 009207 009207 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA  0E6 AVM 40 LHON ONIOVIY JONMOL M40 18 ISINTIVS O 0'9520-0000-0720 _ 952-ZZ___09520000002209Z
[ | Jesz  Joos've JoosBre 0 Jo | TdDNIN INVOVA]  0€6] T00HDS]  DNIGYRY 40 NMOL] QY ONVDIVO 440] 0'TPE0-0000-0°220]  TveE-LZ[  OTYEOOD000LZOIVT]
7T0  00r¢ 0027 0 0 TONW INVDVA  0€6 ONIOVIY 40 NMOL 1S SIEND 0 0'6200-0000-0°%00 62  0620000000v009%C
600 O00'ELY 00041 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA  0E6 ONDRIVA ONIQVIY 40 NMOL 1SNIANIT 0 0°S8£0-0000-0°970 S8€-91  0SBE0000009TONT
[ | sz Joos'sz Joos'sz 0 Jo | TdDNIN INVOVA]  0€6] ¥ILVM]  ONIGVIY 30 NMOL] 1STIIMOT 340] 0'S£00-0000-0'T£0] Se-TE[  0S£00000001£09vZ]
[ | o6z Joogvt Joo8vT 0 Jo | TdDNIN INVOVA]  0€6] 1430 ¥3iVM[  ONIOVIY J0NMOL]  MOAVIIN 38DV 001 Of 0'6£00-0000-0'€0 6£-6v]  06£0000000£v09VZ]
070 0007 000 0 0 TdONW INVOVA _ 0€6 ONIOVIY 40 NMOL 04 MOTI3IONOT 0 0v820-0000-0/70 __ ¥8Z-/Z___0vBL00D000/ZO9YT
90¢  JoosEse 008'€SE 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA] 086 TO0HDS ONIQVIY 30 NMOL 1S 3dINIL 340 0'6€£0-00000970]  6€€-91]  06EE0000009109T
05€ _ |000'SE 000°SE 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA[  0E6 00HS ONIOVIY 40 NMOL 4 ONVIIVO 430 0'9000-0000-0°€€0 v-€€|  0v00D000DOEE09T
8y |ooz'sv 008'LY 00vT___ [0 TdDNIN INVOVA[  0E6 1430 UILVM ONIQVIY 30 NMOL 15 IACYD 440 0'8700-0000-0°€90 87-¢v]  08Z0D0DDOOEVOIYT
667 |0061S 006'6Y 0007__|0 TdDNIN INVOVA[  0E6 1430 ¥3LVM ONIOVIY 40 NMOL IAV INO¥1S 0 0°0£00-0000-0°€¥0 0€-€p|  00E0000000E¥09%T
ipuey 142 100425 SHINY[25's  [oos'B2E 006'82E 0 0 TdONN INVOVA[  0E6 1430 TO0HDS ONIQVIY 40 NMOL TYONVDIVO 0 0°6700-0000-0'££0 61-€€]  06T0000000££09YZ
jes 03 uejd uswipajes "adojs ©8pa; W0y $S0.108 PROY pUeRpRO
JO 9PIS JSBD U0 pue} JUBdBA
65 [00€°0S 00£08 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA[  0E6 MILVM ONIQVIY 30 NMOL 15 IACYD 440 0'/800-0000-0°Z€0 /8-7¢]  0/80000000ZE09YZ
605 |0064S 00625 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA[  0E6 1430 ¥ILVM ONIOVIY 40 NMOL 1SINQY9 40N O 0'2000-0000-0°6v0 7-6v| 07000000006v09vZ
165 |00165 00765 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA[  0E6 1430 ¥ILVM ONIQVIY 30 NMOL 15 IACYD WVAN 0 0'0500-0000-0°€¥0 Ov-¢v]  0OPODODDOOEVOSYE
876 |008T6 00876 0 0 TdONW INVOVA| 0€6 MILVM ONIOVIY 40 NMOL 1S IAO¥D 440 0'9800-0000-0°Z€0 98-7€| _ 0980000000Z€09vZ
9v'6__|0067SY 00675y 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA[  0E6 1430 ¥IIVM ONIQVIY 30 NMOL 15 IACYD 440 0'£00-0000-0°EY0 ve-ev]  OVEODODDOOEVOIYT
8507 |008'S01 008501 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA[  0E6 1430 UILVM ONIOVIY 40 NMOL 1S T13MOT 440 0'6900-0000-0'7€0 69-T€| _ 06900000001€09vZ
7071 |00/07T 004021 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA[  0E6 1430 ¥IIVM ONIQVIY 30 NMOL|  MOQVIN 4DV 001 0 0'6000-0000-0°6v0 66v[  06000000006¥03v7
87yl |001'50S 001508 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA[  0E6 1430 ¥ILVM ONIQVIY 40 NMOL 1S IA0UD 0 0°5£00-0000-0°E90 Se-€7|  0SE0000000EV0IVT
0981 |0056ET 0056€T 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA|  0E6 1430 ¥ILVM ONIQVIY 30 NMOL IS TN O 0'7010-0000-0°950 101-95| _ 01070000009509vC
660 007'®ST 00vpST 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA  0E6 1430 ¥3LVM ONIVIY 40 NMOL 1SIA0¥D 440 0'T€00-0000-0°€90 TEEY  OTE0000000EVOIVT
vS0  00v'S oov's 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA  0E6 ‘1d3a ONIQVIY 40 NMOL Q¥ AVMISNVD 440 0'6500-0000-0°520 6567 065000000052097C
1HOITTVAIDINNIN
S2ON P sputensuo) (Buissessy jo/pue uejd uondnsag ased SO0  JOPUBLIND jeApue; dInjeapseA f 4 uondiIsSp osn puej SpPod /umo T4UMO SS9IPPY @i [92.4ed 510559s5Y || LOT dVIN al j9v4ed SID

uoneadY P Neds
uadp Jad) jonuod

asn
puej



g6

ZEOD  OOE'66E 00€'66€ 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA  0E6 ONIQVIY JONMOL 0¥ ONISSODMIN 0 0'9€70-0000-0°710 9€1-71  09£100000071097T
UORBAIBSUOD Qifzo0  [006'62 00667 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA]  0E6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL a4 ACOMTIONI O 0'/810-0000-0'110 78111 0/8100000011097
QJOOMTIONY 440 £83/11
dS0 Jod uopeaia]  UBILIBACD [BI2URD 107 1334ISSNIOH[€e9'0  [00L'66Z 00£'667 0 0 TdONN INVOVA]  0E6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL TSSNR0OH 09Y| 0'7900-0000-0'800 19-8]  01900000008009%Z
= asodind Asewid ng ‘pueidn
sjosed 1daq Jerem 1430 YALYM/AVATY 000%6 TN ENVOVA SNIavad o NMoL YO NCINTS 0 0'8900-0000-01E0 08900000001£09YT
flom >m>mm ucmum.:um YUM pauiquiod
Ji puedn Jo sasor 5'7 01 dn
uopensuo)|  dINVMS ¥YAID HINOS[z60  [o08'zz 008°ZL 0 0 TdDONIA INVOVA] — 0E6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL 1S TIHYIAVH 0 0°5030-0000-0'S€0 501-5€|  0901000000S£057T
UORBAIBSUOD ISINTTVS 440 €TT/€z|z6'0 00279 00£'29 0 0 TdONIAINVOVA| — 0E6 ONIQVIY 30 NMOL 1SINITVS 0 0'€130-0000-0°€20 €11-€7|  OETT000000£209vZ
ajqedopprapun|  guswiuienog feieuR| YA ATVYING 440 61/6[0v'T  [009°96 00996 0 0 TdONA INVOVA|  0E6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL Q¥ ALNNOD 440 0'6100-0000-0'600 61-6]  06100000006009vZ
€6 210y anoqe adojs davls
L€0 000199 00099 0 0 TdONIA INVOVA  OE6 NOD NOILVAYISNOD ONIQVIY 40 NMOL 1S1SAM 0 0'Z700-0000-0'S20 7757 0Zv00000005209vT
ST0  0087IT 008717 0 0 TdONIA INVOVA  0E6 ONDRIVA ONIQVIY 40 NMOL ISNIVIA O 0°9000-0000-0'720 977 0900000000220977
| uopenasuo)| MOQVIW Rdvafort oozt Jooszz 0 Jo TdONIN INVOVA] 06| | ONIavId 30 NMOL] MOOVIN ¥v3d 0] 0'2500-0000-0°250] 75-£5]  0250000000£509%2]
120  001T 001 0 0 TdONIA INVOVA — 0E6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL QY NYNE10D 0 0'5¥10-0000-0°8€0 Sy18€__ 0SyLO000D0BENSYT
UOREI0RY B S¥ied]  MuVd TVIHOWIW INNH[68T  J00£'T6 00£'76 0 0 TdONIAINVOVA] — 0E6 ONIQVIY 30 NMOL 1SNOLVI 0 0°£500-0000-0°720 £5-7Z]  0£S0000000ZZ09YT
'SPOOM|  ¢audwiLian0g feiduRD|  NVIHOYNM SLNAY L9/Sy[T€T  |00T'ET 001'€Z 0 0 TdONA INVOVA|  0E6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL ISNIVN 40 M 0 0°2900-0000-0'S50 £5-5y[  0250000000570577
uBRjoIny SIge wﬁmv_uc__ucm‘_
UOHBAIBSU0) 04 AOOMONOT440[397  [001'8T 00157 0 0 TdDNIN INVDOVA|  0E6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL IAVY VIAVDEY 440 0°0700-0000-0°020 0z-0z[  00Z0D00000DZOSYT
YIAIN YNORIEY 07/07
uopensuod| Y S3DUNLS44091T/p[S9T  [oos9z 00592 0 0 TdDONIA INVOVA] — 0E6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL QY 539ANLS 0 0°9130-0000-0°700 911-v]  0977000000v009vZ
600 008891 008891 0 0 TdONIAINVOVA  0E6 ONDRIVd ONIQVIY 30 NMOL 1D IANVYE 0 0°€S£0-0000-0°9T0 €S£97 _ 0£SE0000009305vC
UOHRARSU0) LaNv1[98z  [oozsoT 00£'501 0 0 TdONA INVOVA]  0E6 ONIAQVIY 40 NMOL IHL 1S TVAd 440 0'Z000-0000-0°9%0 Z-9v]  0Z00000000IV0OIVT
NOILLYAY3ISNOD,, paweuun _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _
90  00I8IL 001811 0 0 TdONIA INVOVA  OE6 NOD NOILVAYISNOD ONIQVIY 40 NMOL ISNIVIA 0 0'7100-0000-0'950 1195  01100000009505%7
or0  O00E'6LT 00£'6L2 0 0 TdONIA INVOVA  OE6 T1AAIN ¥IINVA 'S M ONIQVIY 40 NMOL 1S T1dIN3L O 0'8€£0-0000-0°910 8€€-91  0BEE0000009109YT
0z0 00229 00729 0 0 TdONIA INVOVA  0E6 1430 ¥ILVM ONIQVIY 40 NMOL 1S MOTIM O 0'0£00-0000-0°9520 0£-97  00£00000009Z0977
900 O0E0T 00£'01 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA  0E6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL QY OVHL O 0'6100-0000-0°810 6187 06100000008105vZ
uoperasuoD[ 133415 IAOYD 440 SET/TE[T6T  [00L'2T 00L2T 0 0 TdONA INVOVA]  0E6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL 1SIAOUD 440 0'SE10-0000-0°7€0 SET-ZE[  0SETO00000ZE09VT
UOHRARSU0) LaNv1[zo'e  Jooz’BoE 00,89 0 0 TdONA INVOVA|  0E6 ONIAQVIY 40 NMOL IHL 1S TVAd 440 0'1€10-0000-0°070 TET-0P[  OTET0000000¥09vZ
NOILLYAY3ISNOD,, paweuun
£00 ___ 00L 00 0 0 TdONIAINVOVA _ 0E6 30 LHOIM TVADINAIA ONIQVIY 30 NMOL 1ST1IMO1 340 0'8500-0000-0'520 8567 08500000005209%Z
UOBAIRSUO) Sq00M 39a315[61€  J00SBYL 0058YL 0 0 TdDONIA INVOVA] — 0€6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL QY TINLSVd 0 0'7500-0000-0'550 75-5p]  07S00000005505vZ
uogeni@suod|  INVIMININOA J0ANI[I9€  [009°E 009 0 0 TdDNIN INVDOVA|  0E6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL ISNIVIA 440 0'9900-0000-0'S50 99-69|  09900000005709%Z
600 00701 00701 0 0 TdDNIN INVOVA _ 0E6 ONIQVIY 30 NMOL IHL 1500 0°8700-0000-0'620 87-67 __ 08700000006Z097C
uopensuod] QY ISIAUVH 440 95/€¢]69°€  [00Z'6 0026 0 0 TdONIAINVOVA] — 0E6 ONIQVIY 30 NMOL] Id LLIMOdVNNYND 0 0°9500-0000-0°€20 95-€7]  0950000000£Z09¥7T
"peXDOIpUE] SpuRiam Apaa|  auswuanoD [RiauRD JAMadooua|ose  [005T8 00578 0 0 TdONA INVOVA|  0E6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL 1S NHOF40S/M 0 0'TET0-0000-0°ZT0 TET-ZI[  OTET0000007109vZ
“Asadoid puD jeuocneN 03 3uadelpy| SYINTYM 440 TET/ZT
70 006772C 006122 0 0 TdONIA INVOVA — 0E6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL ISNIVIA O 0'1800-0000-0'150 1815 01800000003505vZ
UORBAIBSUOD ¥Q INAH 440 8YT/vE[6z Y [00V'6SE 007 65€ 0 0 TdONIAINVOVA] — 0E6 ONIQVIY 30 NMOL [REYE 0'8v10-0000-0 7€0 8yT-vE]  08YI00000OVEOIVT
WRWAOPARP|  (JUBLILIGACD [RI2UDD au umol ppyRNeM[62y  [000'0LE 000°0LE 0 0 TdONA INVOVA|  0E6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL ISHSY O 0°0800-0000-0°710 08-ZT[  008000000OZIOIVT
apnjoaid o3 Ay xoeqIRs U0 133415 HSV 440 08/21
UORBAIBSUOD LaNvifogy  [oovzo 00v'9 0 0 TdONA INVOVA|  0E6 ONIAQVIY 40 NMOL IHL IS TIHYIAVH 440 0'7510-0000-0°050 7S10v|  0ZSI0000000%05%Z
NOLLYAYISNOD,, paweuun
UORBAIRSUO) VIV NOILVAYISNOD[0T'S  [006°St 006'SY 0 0 TdONA INVOVA|  0E6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL a4 ACOMONGT 0 0°9100-0000-0°710 91-vI[  0970000000v109vZ
QJOOMONOT
700 00,8y 00L8Y 0 TdONIAINVOVA  0E6 AVM 40 LHOI ONIQVIY 40 NMOL ISNIVIA O 0°8000-0000-0°720 877 080000000022097C
UORBAIBSUOD puel[8y'S _ccwem _ccmem _o TdONIA E<u<>_ omm_ ONIQVIY 40 NMOL 1S MOTIM 0 c.cmcc‘cccc‘c.ﬁc_ cm‘ﬁ_ 00500000009Z09Y7
uBBIO 1 SPUWILLOS BN
70 00v'9TT 007817 0 TdONA INVOVA  0E6 VIV ONDRIVA ONIQVIY 40 NMOL ISNIVIA O 0°€000-0000-0'720 €77  0£000000007Z097T
S0 008'S9T 008'597 0 TdONIA INVOVA  0E6 ONIAVIY 40 NMOL 15 SNDIAOH 0 0'1£20-0000-0'£00 1€2°Z  01£Z0000002005vZ
| uopenasuo)| 1S 301440 Lp/€Z[08'S  JOOv'6T Joov'sz Jo TdONIN INVOVA] 06| | ONIQvI¥ 30 NMOL] ld LLIMOdYNNYND O] 0'2%00-0000-0°€20] £v-£2[0240000000£20572 |
| uopeniasuo)| sqoom 39a315[2s9  [00/76 Joosz6 Jo TdDNIN INVOVA]  0€6] | oniavay 40 NmoL| [ESZ| 0'0500-0000-0'50 | 05-6v]  00S00000005709vZ]
070  0067LC 0067LT 0 TdONA INVOVA  0E6  1d30 AYILEND ONIQVIY 40 NMOL 1SSIMVHD 0 0°€900-0000-07€0 €97€  0£900000007E0SVT
610 009097 009092 0 TdONIA INVOVA  OE6 30 LHOM TVAIDINAIA ONIQVIY 40 NMOL QY AYMISNYD 0 0'7000-0000-0'1€0 vI€  OV0000D000TE0SHT
600 000'€1 000°€L1 0 TdONIAINVOVA  0E6 AVM 40 1HON ONIQVIY 40 NMOL 1S NIAVH O 0'98£0-0000-0°910 98€-91  09BED00000STOSHT
UOBAIRSUO) SA0OM NYIHOWMI[88'9  J00889 008'89 0 TdDONIA INVOVA] — 0€6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL 1S NIVIN 430 0'5010-0000-0'S50 SO1Sb[  0S010000005705vZ
UORBAIBSUOD uopensuod[¥9'8 [00v°98 00798 0 TdDNIN INVDOVA|  0E6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL ST O 0'1000-0000-0°090 1-03]  0100000000090977
- SAOOM NOVIN
ST0  00L'9ST 002957 0 0 TdONA INVOVA  0€6 T00HDS ONIQVIY 40 NMOL ¥ ANVDIVO 0 0'££€0-0000-0°£20 L€6-/7  OLEED00000LZOSWT
800 008 008 0 0 TdONIA INVOVA  0E6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL ISNIMINVYS 0 0'9500-0000-0°250 971-z§  09210000007S09YT
S2ON P sputensuo) (Buissessy jo/pue uejd uondnsag ased SO0  JOPUBLIND H } snjeapaed uondISOp Isn puej SpPod /umo T4UMO SS9IPPY @i [92.4ed 510559s5Y || LOT dVIN al j9v4ed SID
uoneadY P Neds asn
uadp Jad) jonuod puej



96

"8 19 Jardey) Jopun ampD|  anid 0D jooigmopea 10298 309 919508 QODRUSHZ L%SPUE[IM ¥Z-¥¥|0¥Z0000000¢¥09% T
padejueape xel "aBpaj/siiy 2W0S| 4109 OOYE MOAVIN 40 UOiIORS UIRYHON -
{paidacoeun) Aepp ydasog 13 peoy
WBgi O S52008 Yaim puejdn
padojpnapun Jo s240. G/ Xoiddy|
D%
pueq a3eAid
1LASIQ UO1IR]04d JaYinby ECERESTIT {opis 159m) anuany SNUBAY INOAS O 8¢-£7[0820000000€ 7097
{pendie aq pinOD BRJR PAGINSIP 1045 Yo ease ayd %0015
1018} L0010 JRJinDY| 1daq J21eMm SRUSAYINONCHIT) S 0S£0000000ER09FT

{{pendie ag pin0d BRJR PAGIMISIP
yBnoyy) 1exqey sapads aiey

o -.

EppELp ‘0PE0000000EPOIVT

/0870000000EYO9YPC

00S Q Q

8 08000000007 €09%C

"j0ied QINY U0 Sauj (uy pue Aemasnedfso'o oo TdONN INVOVA]  0E6 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL QU AVAAISNIVD O 0°£000-0000-0'T€0
Jomod peaYIanD "SPUBHOM UMOLY usamlag) peoy Aemasne) -1¢ yBnoayy ‘02000000001 £09%Z
0u 3G ‘2d0js AWOS 's2.108 £'E (810} 0 510} daiq upsny pue v-I€|  ‘0900000000TE09YT
‘QTINY Um0} pauquIo) ‘0500000000T€09YZ
‘0¥00000000TENIVT
530} j{elis PO{ND qog 19Ye KHoeq pIppy
| uopenasuo)| 1S INTTVS 440 £6/€Z[850  JOOET9 JoogTo Jo Jo TdONIN INVOVA] 06| | ONIavId 30 NMOL] 15 INITVS O] 0'£600-0000-0°€20] £6€7]  0/60000000£209%2]
€20 0087 0087 0 0 TdONIA INVOVA  OE6 NOD NOILVAYISNOD ONIQVIY JONMOL  TIHYIAVH A0 15V3 0 0'SE70-0000-0°S€0 SET-GE  0SET000000SENSVT
000 001 001 0 0 TdONIN INVOVA 06 ONIQVIY 40 NMOL 15 NOISONIN 0 0'2%70-0000-0'120 %112 0L¥T0000003209%Z
19015 Jepad|  ¢iuswiusenoD feseuRD| 10} joMm0) Jalem [iiH 1eag[z9'0  [00066C 000667 0 0 TdONN INVOVA]  0€6 ONIAQVIY 40 NMOL TIIH ¥v38 0 0'8500-0000-0°800 85-8]  08S00000008009YZ
Jo uopoas pardacoeun yBnoayl|
ag 0} sieadde §5200y @SN U|
SD]ON P spujenysuo) {Buissassy so/pue ueid uondinsag paied SO0  JORUBLIND jeApUE; dnjeapsel [eApiing  UORdLOSOP Ish puej 9pPod FZENY) T4UMO SS9IPPY Q1 [924e4 51055355Y || LOT dVIN al 924k SID
uoneadY P Neds asn
uadp Jad) jonuod puej



16

“A119d0Jd 211 XY {RIUDPISDI B 5} 09-1E
*{BuisSaSSY YUM SIUI Uiu0D) (924ed BjBUIS B U0 PISSasSe St anjea Byl ‘sj@aJed ajdiynw ueds s8uipjing swos
‘0492 Uy} 4912918 anjea BUIPIING Y1M 5{921Bd PBUMO-UMO) ||B BPN{IUI PAISY 582Jed

1S310N
uofun }pai QI oo qINY TVIMESNANI anI| sviogloe 006'2L7'TS  [00L'96¥S [S 002'186% TdJINNINY - €06 1d30 1HOIN TVAIDINNIN ONIAv3Y 40 NMOL| 1S HSV 817 0'T100-0000-0°'210 LT 0110000000£109VC
umo] {asnoy 0] pasn 0] Juaoelpe sduiping
10} sasnoy Buppiing
UQ Zpazifiniapun
uoneIsans qINY| ISNOHIYVM 07S] OPBE|Y'S 00£'€70'TS  [00Z'S68S [S 001°811$ ALIHINY TN 126 1d30 1HOI TVdIDINNIA ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| ad AVMISNYD 0 0'£500-0000-0°'520 15T 0500000005209V
PIZHIN|  {JUBLIUIBA0D eaje 98ei0)s DNV ANI| ¥£81vC|6'9 00EIPS'9S  |00£'6965 0s 009'7£5'SS TdJINNN| - €06 ONIAVIY JONMOL| TH DNISSOHIMAN &7 0'6800-0000-0°Z0 6871 Q6800000002108 C
-iopun sreadde ease esoUAD Joopno ‘Bupjred
28ei03$ J00pINC ‘eBesed mda
Jo 2o T 210N
{0040S pu3l POOM| INNISYNINAD 075] Z66611]9'6 00z°7£€1$ [00£°889°€S [0S 006'789'65 dONIN ‘OAYdINI]  T€6 TOOHDS ANI AOOM PHDS/ONIAYIY 40 NMOL NTYD0d 1ISNNS S8 0'6100-0000-0'050 6105 06100000000509V T
{00YoS uojeg TO0HDS SIS| 0/19€|€L 00v'691'SS  [000'9v2S [S 00V E2V'vS dONIN ‘aAYdINI| T€6 TO0HDS NO1VI VNHSO! ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| AV HININNS S9E 0'7200-0000-0'110 vZ1t 0200000001109V T
{00403 23pi00) TO0HDS s1S| 9s9s6]60T  |009%£6'11S [001'2T0TS oS 005'226'01S dDNIN ‘GAYdINI] - TE6[IH ¥F 3DAIT00D "M dNHLNY ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| 30 MOAVIIN HOYIF 68 0'1600-0000-0°€€0 16€€ 0160000000££09V T
9IS Ui 908 ' AION Appwad ofese3| UVOUIVATY SIS| 9vsI|v0 00£'ST1S 00v'1Z8 0s 00763 TdONW INVOVA| Q€6 TUHTIINVT-AYILINID ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| 1S ONVIHDIH 440 Q'€€Z0-0000-0°'1Z0| €€C-1C QE€€Z000000T 208V C
AiR)2Wad JURLIND
UOE)S 3l BRACELIE] 0bv| 06£51]90 005'855'1S  [00s'7v2S 00/6$ 001'T0£'TS AHVS'AAYINI] - SE6 Advd ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| 1S NIVIN 252 0'6520-0000-0720] 6527C 06520000002209v T
Aseiqr] Advaal SIS| 06vZE|9T 008'v60'SS  [005'0665 03 00£'701'vS dONIN ‘aAYdINI| T€6 Advaal ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| AV X3S31AAIN 9 0'0800-0000-0'1Z0 08-1Z 00800000001 209V T
J23UR) 1§ Juesedd AN1D-ALID obv] 0ZEP|SO 000795 006'152S 00/£°9$ 00%'SOES AHVS'AAYINI] - SE6 YILNID YOINIS ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| 1S INVSVIld 6V 0'0200-0000-0°'720 07-7¢ 00Z00000002209v T
auwioy HONWY 07Zs| 9sotr|zo 008°86£S 000°€£Z$ 005$ 00£'S21$ TdJINNINY - €06 dOLOIMOD XL ONIAv3Y 40 NMOL| 1S Tvad 641 0°0%00-0000-0v€0 09-v¢ 00%0000000v €09V T
Aywey 218uis ap xe1
Ui 99| NI 0vS| €6£ZE|SY 00S'vIv'ZS  [00Z'pS8S 002015 00967515 dONIN ‘OAYdINI]  T€6 VNIV 301 ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| AVM SONOWAS 1S 0'7S00-0000-0'170 vS-1v 0750000000109V T
{{eH UMoL 9019 1A0D SIS| 88I9I|L0 00181075 [000'Z62S 009°€$ 00572215 dONIN ‘aAYdINI| T€6 TIVH NMOL ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| 15 11IMOT 9T 0'Z2100-0000-0'7Z0 [4%44 0100000002209V
{00Yds TO0HDS SIS| 0066V|6L 009°9T1'95  [00€'8Z¥T$ [00£'51S 009'2£9'%5 NADAT'AAYAINI]  ¥E6 [WANINITT MOAVIAN HOUIE ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| 40 Q401 8 dNHIYY LT 0'0800-0000-0°€€0 08-€€ 0080000000££09V T
MOPEDI Yoiig
SHNY TO0HDS S1S| 906£ST|0Y 00S'€697€S [00£'61T'TS [00180S 00£'SZSEES dONIN ‘AAYdINI]  TE6F HOIH TVINOIWIIN ONIAYIY ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| ad ANVDIVO O 0'S0v0-0000-0'220]  SOP-LT 050v000000£209V T
D34 APIS ISOM BRACELIE] SIS| 0€6/|€0 00%°078% 006'%97$ 03 005'SySS TdONIN INVOVA]  0€6 1430 3414 ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| 1S NYNFGOM 287 0'6810-0000-0°'S10| 681-S1 06810000005109V T
{0040 a3 TO0HDS SIS| 2281v1|1'8 001'vZ6'72$ |00£0685 008'S$ 009'220'725 dONIN ‘GAYdINI]  TE6POHDS HOIH ¥f HINHVd S M ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| 15 31dINAL SY 0'Z70£0-0000-0°'S10|  Z0E-ST 0Z0£000000ST09V T
UOiIB)S 20fj0d 9019 1A0D 0bv| Z0/5T|v0 006'966'25  [00£'81I¥S [S 009°8£5°Z5 TdONIN INVOVA]  0€6 NI LYYdIA 31104 ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| 1S NOINN ST 0'6/00-0000-0'720 677 0600000002209V
{00405 Weln) TO0HDS 07S| 99¥8S|eL 00£7£5'SS  [00€'TTIvS [S 00%'121°SS dININ ‘QAYdINI  TE6POHDS AVINIINTIT INVTIIN ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| 15 SATIVHD £€€ 0'6100-0000-0'1¥0 6117 0610000000109V T
uige) erRnen HONYY 07s 666|180 006'€T£S 00£°852S [S 00Z'S5S AYSNDINVOVA| Z€6 NOILYAYISNOD ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| 1S NIVIAL 18VT 0'8600-0000-0'950 86-9S 08600000009509V T
032 ‘suapied ‘ease|  1daQ 1EM US| WVIRESNANI ozs| 18sc1f8/1 |o08'8TLS 00£°99€5 008713 00£°0S€S dONIN ‘AAddNI|  T€6 REEIRER/0 ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| JAV INOHIS O Q’€€00-0000-0°EVQ EE-EP QE£€0000000£¥087C
opuoid ‘9eyqey ‘sppRy INVId INJNLVIYL
Buiheid Jo4 3s2.03u) YILVM YINYOS
40 0sfy "PIISI
1011221044 Jajinby
{00YIS smotieg TO0HDS 07S] 991439)LL 002'28€'65  [00£'1851$ [0S 005'S08'2S dDNIN ‘AAYdINI] - TE6 DS AUVINIINITI SMOYYEVE ONIAVIY 40 NMOL| AV INOWIDAT 9T 0'vSZ0-0000-0°'S10|  ¥ST-S1 07SZ000000S109V T
20140 qTNY 321440 aNI| 8SS/S|ET 00£°085'65  [00Z'€6¥S 00£'STS 00%'120'65 ALIHINY TN 126 1d30 LHOIN TVdIDINNIA ONIYIY 1S HSV 0€7 0'9210-0000-0°Z10| 971-71 0910000002109V
SPION  (Suissassy  uondudsag |adied 1253p Sp|q 00BUIUOZ Paysiuly S9HDE  J0NUILIN eApue| [eAp. [eApjIng :0ndLDSap asn puej apod ZHUMO TJUMO SS3IPPY G [921Bd 5J0553SSY 10T VAL @1 [92184 §i9
20 SJURIISUOD  20/puE ueld asn
uopesnsy puej
3 adeds uadp

Jad) josuo)

“H Wit Ag pappe yy ‘Z ‘A SUWNI0D 335 “MIJARS JAYLINY JueLiem 01 (H wint Ag) paSpnf{ asoyy a.e anjg ut paayBiysiy sanuadolg

£107/9/¢
aseqeiep Buissasse Ajeuiwijaid 8107 Woiy aie eleq

0497 uey | 4912349 anjeA Suipling Yim 5[9aied PIUMQO-UMOL




Memorandum

To: Select Board

From: Parking, Traffic, Transportation, Task Force (PTTTF)
Date: January 27, 2022

Re: PTTTF Recommendation on Overnight Winter Parking Ban

It is the recommendation of PTTTF, the staff level internal working group, that the
overnight parking ban should continue, as currently regulated. Allowing overnight on-
street parking during plowing operations would greatly inhibit the ability of the
Department of Public Works to adequately clear snow and ice from Town roads.

However, in light of recent requests for overnight parking, PTTTF has reviewed options
(also discussed at PARC) for providing alternatives that would meet the need for
overnight parking, at least in the short-term. As a temporary overnight parking solution,
PTTTF recommends instituting, on a trial basis, a pilot program for the remainder of
this winter season. The pilot program could be designed to allow residents with a
Community Access parking sticker the ability to park their vehicle in the southernmost
Town owned off street parking lot off Lincoln Street adjacent to the train station. The
lot contains about 35 parking spaces.

Vehicles must be removed from this parking lot promptly at 6:00am to allow Public
Works crews to plow the remainder of the lot. This parking allowance is only for this
one parking lot. Any of the on-street parking abutting this lot as well as any parking in
the northern Town owned parking lot adjacent to the train station will still be prohibited
during the parking ban. This pilot program shall be revisited at the conclusion of the
winter season.

If the Board is interested in this approach, then we will advertise a Public Hearing for
your February 15" meeting with specific changes in the form of a traffic amendment.

98



Select Board — Open Session
January 18, 2022 7:00 pm via Zoom

Members Present: Chair Karen Herrick, Vice Chair Anne Landry, Secretary Mark Dockser,
Carlo Bacci, Christopher Haley

Others Present: Bob LeLacheur, Jean Delios, Ade Solarin, Richard Lopez, Mary Giuliana,
Ivria Fried, Erin Schaeffer, Ed Ross, Fidel Maltez, Cathy Zeek, Tom Connery, Liz Whitelam,
Josh Latham, Simone Payment, Celeste Kracke, Joe Carnahan, Jane Kinsella, Susan,
Marianne Downing, Jack Devir

Documents Used:

2022-01-18 SB Agenda

2022-01-18 SB Packet

COVID Update - Select Board 1-18-22 - final

Holidays - Add Juneteenth

Select Board Economic Development Update 1.18.2022
Economic Development Update for 1.18.2022

Sen Lewis--budget earmark worksheet

Town_Select Board 20220118

2021-12-01 Finance Committee Packet

This meeting was held remotely via Zoom.

Chair Karen Herrick called the meeting to order at 7:02 pm and provided an overview of the
meeting agenda.

SB Liaison & Town Manager Reports:
Carlo Bacci joined the Recreation Committee meeting last week. Girls Softball Little League

will be donating a state-of-the-art scoreboard to Sturges Field, which will be installed in
spring, weather permitting. The Recreation Committee is also adopting the Birch Meadow
plan updates put forth by the Select Board.

Mark Dockser stated that the Reading Center for Active Living Committee (ReCalc) met last
week and will meet again next week. The Committee has made progress in discussion for
needs for a Senior Center/Community Center and is inviting public input into that process.
The Committee is working with Assistant Town Manager Jean Delios to hire a consultant to
help with a community needs assessment. Members are comparing facilities and best
practices from other communities. Mr. Dockser also attended the Commissioners of Trust
Funds meeting and noted that the transportation program is working well.

Anne Landry stated that she is hoping that the ad hoc Town Manager Screening Committee
can meet next Monday to approve outstanding meeting minutes and thank the Screening
Committee, as it should be the final meeting.

Karen Herrick attended the Board of Health meeting and thanked the Board for instituting a
mask mandate.

Town Manager Bob LeLacheur mentioned that the Pleasant Street Center is closed for the
rest of the week due to COVID. The opening of the center will be reevaluated as soon as
possible. Next week there is a special election for the vocational school building project

from 11:00 am to 6:00 pm at the High School Field House. JRM, the Town’s rubbish and
recycling contractor, continues to have difficulty staffing with health issues due to COVID.

99



Residents are encouraged to leave trash and recycling curbside until it is picked up, unless
there is a storm or the Town indicates otherwise.

Public Comment:
There was no comment from the public.

Board of Health COVID update:

Board of Health Chair Richard Lopez, Health Director Ade Solarin, and School Director of
Nursing Mary Giuliana presented an update on current COVID activity and the recent mask
mandate passed by the BOH on January 6th. Dr. Lopez noted there are 350 active cases in
Reading with clusters in daycares and at Artis Senior Living. RNA in wastewater has
dropped significantly, hopefully a sign that the current surge is turning the corner. The
Board of Health issued a mask mandate for the Pleasant Street Center on December 27th,
then scheduled a subsequent meeting to gather public input, then passed a mask mandate
for indoor public spaces on January 6th. The BOH will review data at each meeting and
rescind the mandate when it appears that activity is reasonable.

Mr. Solarin reviewed vaccination efforts, which have been ramped up over the last three
weeks. Over five vaccination clinics held so far, 146 residents and 46 Town employees have
been vaccinated. The goal is to see the number of people vaccinated in Reading increase,
and the next clinic is schedule for January 24th at the Coolidge Middle School. The Health
Department invested $8,500 to purchase two cases of rapid test kits (288 kits totaling 576
individual tests). The Finance Committee last week approved an $80,000 transfer for the
purchase of a pallet of rapid antigen tests, a total of 15,120 individual tests.

Ms. Giuliana stated that the schools are close to 800 cases. It was 250 cases prior to
December vacation, but there was a big jump following the holidays and it is growing harder
to track and keep the numbers accurate. Test and stay allows students to be tested daily
when they are identified as a close contact to someone who has tested positive. Pool
testing is occurring at every school once a week. There have been 1400 pool tests with 33
individuals testing positive as a result of that testing.

Dr. Lopez emphasized that it is not up to individuals to challenge someone not wearing a
mask, as they may have a medical condition. It is the job of the Health Department to take
complaints and follow up on issues. He also noted that cases may be getting
underreported, as tests conducted at pharmacies and testing centers are reported to the
state, but positive home tests are likely not.

Executive Session:

Mark Dockser moved to enter into executive session under Purpose 1 to review
and respond to Open Meeting Law Complaints filed by Walter Tuvell against the
Reading Select Board on July 21, July 23, August 16, August 22, October 21,
October 27, November 18, 2021 and January 9 and January 11, 2022, otherwise
known as Tuvell Complaints 5 through 14, to invite Bob LeLacheur, Jackie
LaVerde, and Ivria Fried to attend the meeting, and to return to open session for
purposes of continuing on with the meeting as posted in the agenda. Motion
seconded by Karen Herrick and approved 4-1 by roll call vote:

Mark Dockser-Yes, Carlo Bacci-Yes, Anne Landry-Yes, Chris Haley-No, Karen
Herrick-Yes.

The Board entered Executive Session at 7:45 pm and reconvened in Open Session at 8:00
pm.

100



Consent Agenda:

Vote to add the Juneteenth Holiday under Section 9.12 Holidays to the Personnel
Policies:

Ms. Landry stated that she supports this motion and looks forward to the Board issuing a
Proclamation in advance of, and closer to, the holiday.

Mark Dockser moved to add the Juneteenth holiday to Section 9.12 of the
Personnel Policies. Motion seconded by Anne Landry and approved 5-0 by
unanimous roll call vote.

Economic Development update:

Economic Development Director Erin Schaeffer provided an overview of the division’s
function to provide professional technical work to advance the Town’s Economic
Development goals, which include: planning studies to identify the need to diversify and
increase the tax base; and adding to the Town’s tax base through managed development.
She highlighted development projects downtown and their effect on the tax base, events,
projects, and programs that the division is working on, and introduced the Business
Improvement District (BID) Steering Committee.

Liz Whitelam, downtown business owner and member of the BID Steering Committee,
explained what a Business Improvement District is and what it does. The BID is an
organization of the property owners within the district that can pool resources for
programming and events, and help advocate for businesses in the area. Reading does not
yet have a BID, but the BID Steering Committee is working on collecting signatures from
property owners in the district in order to move forward with creating the BID. Information
can be found at downtownreadingma.com.

The Board thanked Ms. Schaffer and Ms. Whitelam for their contributions and offered their
support. Mr. Haley stated that because he owns a business downtown he is precluded from
any discussion of the BID process, but expressed his appreciation for their efforts.

Discuss status of Common District Meeting House at Postmark Square:

Attorney Josh Latham was present on behalf of the Colangelos, owners of The Common
District Meeting House restaurant, to provide a status update. The Board approved a liquor
license for the establishment on May 4%, 2021, which was approved by the Alcoholic
Beverage Control Commission (ABCC) in early July. The Colangelos proceeded to apply for
building permits, which took longer than expected. The building permit was finally issued
on January 10%™. All materials have been purchased and stocked in the unit. Construction
begins next week and the target open date is mid-May.

Discuss/Announce Earmark Request Submission to Legislators:

Ms. Herrick and Ms. Landry explained that the state delegation will be ready to work on
budgets by March. The House of Representatives will take up the budget in April, and the
Senate in May. Now is the appropriate time to be looking at projects from staff, and boards
and committees. The Town can ask for what it wants, and Reading’s representatives will
advocate for as much as the state can afford. A good use of earmarks would be to ask for
one-time funding requests.

The Town was awarded $150,000 for the purchase of the Meadow Brook lot.
Ms. Herrick later noted that there were other earmark awards received. Assistant Town
Manager Jean Delios stated that there were two earmarks for $50,000 each: one for the

upgrades to the CVS parking lot, the other for pedestrian improvements to the eastern
gateway. Both projects are underway with consulting contracts for design services.

101



Discuss Community Garden:

Cathy Zeek, Simone Payment And Celeste Kracke presented the plan to institute a
community garden at the Matera Cabin. The Climate Advisory Committee sustainability
plan includes a community garden. A request for $10,000 was approved and a small
exploratory group collaborated with staff in Planning, Conservation, and DPW. After
considering features needed and other possible sites, Matera Cabin was the top site.

Phase 1 will consist of 17 garden plots available later this year, with the possibility of adding
another 30 plots in the future. In year one, Reading residents will be invited to apply, and
once all plots are allocated, additional applicants will be added to a wait list. In subsequent
years, gardeners will be able to renew their plots for up to three years, then reapply if plots
are still available. The fee for each plot will be $50 per year, but will be reevaluated based
on expenses. Additional funding could come through grants, volunteers, and donations
from local organizations. Each year gardeners must sign an agreement and adhere to the
guidelines for use.

Parking is scarce at the cabin, and it is a very active place. Each visit should be fairly
concise, as the amount of space in each plot should be easy to manage. It is suggested
that visitors use the drop off space for their materials, then park elsewhere and walk,
rideshare, or carpool to minimize parking issues or overcrowding.

The next step is to go before the Conservation Commission, as the cabin is under their care
and control.

The group is also hoping to collaborate with the Library, as the Library is excited to do some
educational programming around gardening, and hope to host a site on their grounds.

Ms. Herrick asked DPW to contact MassDOT to add a crosswalk with press button lights, as
Main Street is a state highway with a sidewalk only on the opposite side of the street from
Matera Cabin. Ms. Zeek also mentioned if having a conversation with MassDOT about a
crosswalk, perhaps asking about adding a left turn, on-demand light for cars turning out of
the Matera Cabin parking lot.

Discuss /Vote to Appoint two members to FINCOM ARPA /Free Cash subcommittee:
Ms. Herrick reviewed the origins of a proposed ARPA committee stemming from a discussion
at a Financial Forum in the fall. The Finance Committee proposed a subcommittee to advise
the use of ARPA funds based on community priorities consisting of members from the
Finance Committee, members of the School Committee, and members of the Select Board,
with staff members acting in an advisory role.

Mr. LeLacheur noted that Town Accountant Sharon Angstrom will be at the next meeting,
and will ask the Select Board to transfer $80,000 from the ARPA funds to replenish the
Finance Committee Reserve Funds approved for the purchase of COVID tests. Board
members agreed that they would be comfortable with that request.

Concerns from Board members included: Finance Committee being the lead on the
subcommittee when the Select Board decides how ARPA funds are spent; timing to
implement a subcommittee needs to be quick in order to present the proposal to Town
Meeting in April, solicit community feedback, and decide how to spend the funds.

Board members were divided on whether to vote now on the subcommittee proposed by the
Finance Committee, or restructure the subcommittee. Following a lengthy discussion, Karen

102



Herrick stated that she would draft a charge and a structure for an ad hoc committee under
the Select Board.

Discuss Future Agendas:
Mr. Dockser requested adding a Proclamation for Juneteenth on the May 17% agenda.

Mr. Haley noted that the last PARC meeting had a significant attendance to discuss the
overnight parking ban and requested adding it to the next agenda.

Ms. Landry suggested getting Mr. LeLacheur’s thoughts about the upcoming transition for
the new Town Manager at the next meeting.

Ms. Fried encouraged the Board to reconsider the Town Manager evaluation process. Ms.
Landry suggested adding that to the agenda once the new Town Manager is officially here.

Mr. Dockser asked for a placeholder for feedback from the discussion from the Lot 5 access
to Town Forest.

Approve Meeting Minutes:
The Board reviewed suggested edits to draft meeting minutes.

Mark Dockser moved to accept the meeting minutes of July 12, 2021, December
22, 2021, December 29, 2021, and January 4, 2022 as amended. Motion seconded
by Carlo Bacci and approved 5-0 by unanimous roll call vote.

Executive Session:

Mark Dockser moved to enter into Executive Session under Purpose 7 to review
and approve meeting minutes for December 21, 2021 and December 29, 2021, to
invite Bob LeLacheur, and Jackie LaVerde to attend the meeting, and to not return
to open session. Motion seconded by Karen Herrick and approved 5-0 by
unanimous roll call vote.

103



